

### Justification

# KNGF Guideline on Low Back Pain and Lumbosacral Radicular Syndrome

Edited by: Dr N.M. Swart; Dr A.T. Apeldoorn; D. Conijn, MSc; G.A. Meerhoff, MSc; Prof. R.W.J.G. Ostelo



Royal Dutch Society for Physical Therapy



Amersfoort, October 2021

All sections of the guideline, including the summary, are available at kngf.nl/kennisplatform





**The KNGF Guideline on Low Back Pain and Lumbosacral Radicular Syndrome** is a publication of the Royal Dutch Society for Physical Therapy (Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie – KNGF) and the Association of Cesar and Mensendieck Exercise Therapists (Vereniging van Oefentherapeuten Cesar en Mensendieck – VvOCM).

Please site this guideline as follows: KNGF Guideline on Low Back Pain and Lumbosacral Radicular Syndrome. Amersfoort/Utrecht: KNGF/VvoCM; 2021.

### Table of contents

Α	General in	formation	
	Note A.1	Introduction	4
	Note A.2.1	Epidemiology, pathophysiology and co-morbidity	10
	Note A.2.2	Societal impact	12
	Note A.2.3	Clinical presentation and course	12
	Note A.2.4	Etiological and prognostic factors	14
	Note A.3	Organisation of healthcare	17
В	Diagnostic	process	
	Note B.1.1	Medical history taking	21
	Note B.1.2	Physical examination	22
	Note B.1.3	Red flags	23
	Note B.2	Indications and treatment profiles	25
	Note B.2.1	Classification systems	29
	Note B.3	Measurement instruments	40
C	Therapeuti	ic process	
	Note C.1	Information and advice and (pain) education	48
	Note C.2.1	Exercise therapy	49
	Note C.2.2	Type, frequency, intensity and time span of exercise therapy	62
	Note C.3	Behaviour-oriented treatment	71
	Note C.4.1	Mobilisations and manipulations	82
	Note C.4.2	Massage	102
	Note C.4.3	Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS)	
		and interference	109
	Note C.5	Completion of the treatment	121

#### Note A.1 Introduction

#### Application of the KNGF guideline methodology

This guideline was developed in accordance with the 2019 KNGF Guideline Methodology (KNGF 2019). This methodology is based on the AGREE II instrument and the AQUA guideline (Brouwers 2010; Healthcare Institute of the Netherlands 2021). GRADE is used within the KNGF guideline methodology for assessing the evidentiary value and for the evidence-to-decision process (Alonso-Coello 2016a,b; Andrews 2013; Atkins 2004). The experts involved (Dr A. Apeldoorn, Prof. R. Ostelo and the KNGF) evaluate on a yearly basis whether substantive and/or policy developments necessitate a (modular) revision of the guideline.

#### **Preparation phase**

As a first step, a guideline panel and a review panel were set up containing representation from the relevant stakeholders. The core group members and all guideline panel and review panel members signed a declaration of interests at the start and at the completion of the project (see appendix A.1–1 and A.1–2 for an overview of the interests).

For the purposes of identifying the barriers, two focus groups were organised in which 18 physical therapists and exercise therapists took part, and five patients completed the questionnaires with this goal. These barriers were presented to the members of the guideline panel and review panel during their separate meetings, during which the barriers of the members themselves were also identified. All of these barriers were then prioritised and converted into clinical questions by the core group in collaboration with the guideline panel.

#### **Development phase**

As a basis for the guideline, the guidelines for low back pain and sciatica that are of high methodological quality were used as much as possible, and the British (multidisciplinary) guideline 'Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management' was selected, a guideline that is published by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) and focuses on low back pain with or without sciatica (De Campos 2017).

In addition to this, a systematic search was carried out for systematic reviews on patients with low back pain and for evidence-based guidelines for patients with low back pain that were published after the publication of this NICE guideline. The search was carried out on 14 April 2020 by an information specialist (J.W. Schoones, Leiden University Medical Centre) in PubMed, MEDLINE, Embase, Emcare, Web of Science and the Cochrane Library (see appendix A.1–3 for the search rationale). This search produced 2,439 unique hits. The results were supplemented by the findings from the Dutch-language evidence-based guidelines on treating patients with low back pain that were not included in the above databases (Luites 2021; Dutch Orthopaedic Association [Nederlandse Orthopaedische Vereniging] 2017; Dutch Neurosurgical Society [Nederlandse Vereniging voor Neurochirurgie] 2018; Netherlands Society for Neurology [Nederlandse Vereniging voor Neurologie] 2020; NHG Guideline Panel for the Standard on Non-specific Low Back Pain [NHG-Werkgroep Standaard Aspecifieke lagerugpijn] 2017; Perez 2017; Schaafstra 2015; Van Tulder 2010). For each clinical question, an assessment was done to see whether there were systematic reviews among these unique hits with which the clinical question could be answered, whether the studies met the inclusion criteria and whether the studies were sufficiently current and whether the studies were of sufficient methodological quality.

If such systematic reviews were lacking, and if the clinical question was eligible for this, the core group carried out a systematic review itself. PICOs were compiled to this end, and a new search was carried out by the same information specialist in the above-mentioned databases. By means of pre-established inclusion and exclusion criteria, the encountered studies were selected based on – successively – title and abstract and then on the complete text. The subject-matter expert scientist (AA) involved in the guideline or the KNGF guideline advisor (NS) then extracted the data, analysed the data and assessed the evidentiary value according to the GRADE method (Higgins 2021). With regard to the clinical question about TENS and interference, support was offered by Jesús Diaz Merino (Hanze University of Applied Sciences Groningen) and for the clinical question about mobilisations and manipulations by Dr Sidney Rubinstein (Department of Health Sciences, Faculty of Science, VU Amsterdam).

As a last step, conclusions were drawn based on the literature aligned with the scope of the effect and the evidentiary value. For each outcome measure, the evidentiary value was assessed for the following using GRADE:

- limitations in the study design and implementation: for example, due to randomisation errors or a lack of follow-up;
- inconsistency: when the results of the various studies vary in magnitude and/or direction of the effect and this heterogeneity cannot be explained; the confidence intervals do not overlap or barely overlap;
- indirectness: if the found evidence does not (entirely) align with one or more PICO elements, for example if intermediate or surrogate outcome measures (0) are used or if no direct comparison of the experimental and standard intervention is available (I-C);
- inaccuracy of the estimated effect due to a small study group and/or few events, resulting in wide confidence intervals;
- publication bias: for example, if it is plausible that studies with negative results were not submitted for publication.

The GRADE system has four levels of evidentiary value: 'high', 'moderate', 'low' or 'very low'.

High	The actual effect is close to the estimation of the effect.
Moderate	The actual effect is likely close to the estimation of the effect, but it is possible for the actual effect to substantially deviate from the estimation of the effect.
Low	The actual effect may differ substantially from the estimation of the effect.
Very low	The actual effect likely differs substantially from the estimation of the effect.

Interpretation of the evidentiary value

The following format was used to interpret the scope of the effect as an indication and in consultation with the guideline panel:

#### Interpretation of the scope of the effect

	Small effect	Moderate effect*	Large effect	
Standardized mean difference (SMD)	< 0.3	0.3 to 0.5	> 0,5	
VAS/NPRS (0-100) MD	< 10	10 to 20	> 20	
RMDQ (0-24) MD	< 2	2 to 5	> 5	
ODI/QBPDS (0-100) MD	< 10	10 to 20	> 20	
Quality of life (SF-12, PCS 0-100)	< 10	10 to 20	> 20	
Quality of life (SF-12, MCS 0-100)	< 10	10 to 20	> 20	

These values are commensurate with the guideline of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (De Campos 2017) and the KNGF Guideline on Rheumatoid Arthritis (KNGF 2018).

MD = mean difference; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; ODI = Oswestry Disability Index; QBPDS = Quebec Back Pain Disability Scale; RMDQ = 'Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire; SF-36; 36-items Short Form Health Survey; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

\* The lower limit of a moderate effect is also considered to be clinically relevant.

After the evidentiary value and magnitude of the effect were determined, sub-groups of guideline panel and review panel members formulated the remaining considerations, which were then discussed in eight meetings with the guideline panel and six meetings with the review panel based on the GRADE evidence-to-decision process (Alonso-Coello 2016a,b) until consensus was achieved. Based on the scientific evidence and the other considerations, the direction and strength of the recommendation were then determined. Finally, based on this, the recommendation should preferably be formulated as follows:

Type of recommendation	Formulation
Strongly positive	'Apply' / 'Implement' / 'Offer'
Weak/conditionally positive	'Preferably apply' (condition)' / 'Take into consideration' / 'Consider'
Weak/conditionally negative	'Preferably do not apply' (condition)' / 'Take into consideration' / 'Consider' / 'Be cautious in'
Strongly negative	'Do not apply' / 'Do not implement' / 'Do not offer'

#### Example of the formulation of the recommendation

The complete search strategy, the results of the systematic review and – if applicable – the completed evidence-to-decision form was included in the respective clinical question. The concept guideline is compiled through all recommendations, including the system of notes (the Explanation) and this Justification.

#### External review and authorisation phase

The concept guideline was sent to a number of selected physical therapists and exercise therapists (as well as to the Scientific College of Physical Therapy [Wetenschappelijk College Fysiotherapie – WCF]) and involved associations of professional content (APCs) and to other professional groups and other stakeholders who are involved in caring for patients with low back pain. The collected comments were summarised in a comments table, which was presented to the guideline panel. The guideline panel determined which changes and/or additions were required or desired to be made to the concept guideline. The review panel advised on this as well. After being adopted by the guideline panel and the review panel, the guideline was presented to all involved stakeholders for authorisation.

#### Dissemination and implementation phase

Implementation of the guideline entails development of the following products:

- patient information;
- lecture;
- workshop
- e-learning;
- knowledge gaps;
- articles in magazines (both within and outside the fields of physical therapy and exercise therapy both nationally and internationally);
- lectures at congresses and symposia.

Implementation activities are aimed in particular at the following five core topics:

- 1. prognostic factors and treatment profiles;
- 2. lumbosacral radicular syndrome, diagnostics and treatment;
- 3. Information and advice and pain education, contents of the information and advice;
- 4. exercise therapy interventions;
- 5. behaviour-oriented treatment.

#### **Involvement of stakeholders**

#### Therapists

The primary users of the guideline are physical therapists and exercise therapist C/M. They made an important contribution to the guideline in all phases of its development. For example, therapists indicated barriers in the preparation phase, sat on the guideline panel and review panel in the development phase, provided comments on the concept guideline in the external review phase and provided feedback on the implementation products during the implementation phase.

#### Patients

In order to guarantee the patient perspective to the greatest extent possible, patients were involved in the guideline development as early as during the preparation phase. Patients indicated barriers by means of a questionnaire. These barriers, along with the barriers flagged by the therapists and the guideline panel and review panel, served as the basis for the clinical questions. A representative of the Dutch Association of Back Patients 'the Spine' (Nederlandse Vereniging van Rugpatiënten de Wervelkolom) took part in the development process, as part of the guideline panel and during the external review phase. This patient association was also involved in the development of the patient information.

#### Other stakeholders

A number of other stakeholders sat on the guideline panel or review panel and/or were involved in the guideline during the external review phase and contributed to the creation of the guideline in this way.

#### References

- Alonso-Coello P, Oxman AD, Moberg J, Brignardello-Petersen R, Akl EA, Davoli M, Treweek S, Mustafa RA, Vandvik PO, Meerpohl J, Guyatt GH, Schunemann HJ, Group GW. GRADE Evidence to Decision (EtD) frameworks: a systematic and transparent approach to making well informed healthcare choices. 2: Clinical practice guidelines. BMJ. 2016a;353:i2089.
- Alonso-Coello P, Schunemann HJ, Moberg J, Brignardello-Petersen R, Akl EA, Davoli M, Treweek S, Mustafa RA, Rada G, Rosenbaum S, Morelli A, Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Group GW. GRADE Evidence to Decision (EtD) frameworks: a systematic and transparent approach to making well informed healthcare choices. 1: Introduction. BMJ. 2016b;353:i2016.
- Andrews JC, Schunemann HJ, Oxman AD, Pottie K, Meerpohl JJ, Coello PA, Rind D, Montori VM,
  Brito JP, Norris S, Elbarbary M, Post P, Nasser M, Shukla V, Jaeschke R, Brozek J, Djulbegovic B,
  Guyatt G. GRADE guidelines: 15. Going from evidence to recommendation-determinants of a recommendation's direction and strength. J Clin Epidemiol. 2013;66(7):726-35.
- Atkins D, Best D, Briss PA, Eccles M, Falck-Ytter Y, Flottorp S, Guyatt GH, Harbour RT, Haugh MC, Henry D, Hill S, Jaeschke R, Leng G, Liberati A, Magrini N, Mason J, Middleton P, Mrukowicz J, O'Connell D, Oxman AD, Phillips B, Schunemann HJ, Edejer T, Varonen H, Vist GE, Williams JW, Jr., Zaza S, Group GW. Grading quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. BMJ. 2004;328(7454):1490.
- Brinjikji W, Luetmer PH, Comstock B, Bresnahan BW, Chen LE, Deyo RA, Halabi S, Turner JA, Avins AL, James K, Wald JT, Kallmes DF, Jarvik JG. Systematic literature review of imaging features of spinal degeneration in asymptomatic populations. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2015;36(4):811–6.
- Brouwers MC, Kho ME, Browman GP, Burgers JS, Cluzeau F, Feder G, Fervers B, Graham ID, Grimshaw J, Hanna SE, Littlejohns P, Makarski J, Zitzelsberger L, Consortium ANS. AGREE II: advancing guideline development, reporting, and evaluation in health care. Prev Med. 2010;51(5):421–4.
- de Campos TF. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management NICE Guideline [NG59]. J Physiother. 2017;63(2):120.

Ecorys. Substitutie van zorg. Fysio- en oefentherapie op de juiste plek. Rotterdam: Ecorys; 2020. Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA. Cochrane Handbook for

Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.2 (updated February 2021). Cochrane; 2021. Beschikbaar via: www.training.cochrane.org/handbook. Accessed 18 January 2021.

Kasch R, Truthmann J, Hancock MJ, Maher CG, Otto M, Nell C, Reichwein N, Bulow R, Chenot JF, Hofer A, Wassilew G, Schmidt CO. Association of lumbar MRI findings with current and future back pain in a population–based cohort study. Spine. 18 aug 2021. doi: 10.1097/brs.00000000004198

Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn Zwangerschapsgerelateerde bekkenpijn. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2009. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/ kennisplatform/richtlijnen/zwangerschapsgerelateerde-bekkenpijn. Accessed 18 January 2021.

- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijnenmethodiek 2019. Ontwikkeling en implementatie van KNGF-richtlijnen. Versie 2. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2019. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/binaries/content/assets/kennisplatform/onbeveiligd/ klinimetrie/kngf-richtlijnenmethodiek-2019. Accessed 18 January 2021.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn Reumatoide artritis. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2018. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/ reumatoide-artritis. Accessed 18 January 2021.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn Lage rugpijn. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2013. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/lagerugpijn. Accessed 18 January 2021.
- Luites JWH, Kuijer PPFM, Hulshof CTJ, Kok R, Langendam M, Oosterhuis T, Hoving JL. Richtlijn Lage Rugpijn en Lumbosacraal Radiculair Syndroom. Utrecht: Nederlandse Vereniging voor Arbeids- en Bedrijfsgeneeskunde (NVAB); 2021. Available at: https://nvab-online.nl/richtlijnen/ richtlijnen-NVAB. Accessed 18 January 2021.
- Nederlandse Orthopaedische Vereniging. Geïnstrumenteerde wervelkolomchirurgie 2017. Available at: https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/richtlijn/geinstrumenteerde\_spinaalchirurgie/startpagina\_ spinaalchirurgie.html#algemeen. Accessed 18 January 2021.
- Nederlandse Vereniging voor Neurochirurgie. Ongeïnstrumenteerde wervelkolomchirurgie 2018. Available at: https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/richtlijn/ongeinstrumenteerde\_ wervelkolomchirurgie/startpagina.html. Accessed 18 January 2021.
- Nederlandse Vereniging voor Neurologie. Lumbosacraal radiculair syndroom (LRS) 2020. Available at: https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/richtlijn/lumbosacraal\_radiculair\_syndroom\_lrs/ startpagina\_-\_lrs.html. Accessed 18 January 2021.
- NHG-Werkgroep Standaard Aspecifieke lagerugpijn. NHG-standaard aspecifieke lagerugpijn (tweede herziening). Huisarts Wet. 2017;60(2):78–84.
- Perez RSGM, Dalen-Kok AH, van Giesberts MG, Hout JHC, van den Keizer D, Köke AJA, Nitert L, Schiere S, Smeets RJEM, Thomassen-Hilgersom IL. Zorgstandaard Chronische Pijn. Leiden: Vereniging Samenwerkingsverband Pijnpatiënten naar één stem; 2017. Available at: https://www.zorginzicht.nl/binaries/content/assets/zorginzicht/kwaliteitsinstrumenten/ Zorgstandaard+Chronische+Pijn.pdf.
- Schaafstra A, Spinnewijn W, Bons S, Borg M, Koes B, Ostelo R, Spijker-Huiges A, Burgers J, Bouma M, Verburg A. NHG-standaard lumbosacraal radiculair syndroom (tweede herziening). Huisarts Wet. 2015;58(6):308–20.
- van Tulder MW, Custer JWH, de Bie R, Hammelburg R, Hulshof CTJ, Kolnaar BGM, Kuijpers T, Ostelo RJWG, van Royen BJ, Sluiter A. Ketenzorgrichtlijn Aspecifieke Lage rugklachten. 2010. Available at: https://www.nhg.org/sites/default/files/content/nhg\_org/uploads/ketenzorgrichtlijn-aspecifieke-lage-rugklachten.pdf.
- Van Wambeke P, Desomer A, Ailliet L, Berquin A, Demoulin C, Depreitere B, Dewachter J, Dolphens M, Forget P, Fraselle V, Hans G, Hoste D, Mahieu G, Michielsen J, Nielens H, Orban T, Parlevliet T, Simons E, Tobbackx Y, Van Schaeybroeck P, Van Zundert J, Vanderstraeten J, Vlaeyen J, Jonckheer P. Low back pain and radicular pain: assessment and management. Brussel: Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre (KCE); 2017. Available at: https://biblio.ugent.be/publication/8520932/file/8520933. Accessed 18 January 2021.
- Zorginstituut Nederland (ZiN). AQUA–Leidraad. Diemen: ZiN; 2021a. Available at: https://www. zorginzicht.nl/ontwikkeltools/ontwikkelen/aqua–leidraad. Accessed 18 January 2021.

- Zorginstituut Nederland (ZiN). Systeemadvies fysiotherapie en oefentherapie. Diemen: ZiN; 2016. Available at: https://www.zorginstituutnederland.nl/publicaties/adviezen/2016/12/20/ systeemadvies-fysiotherapie-en-oefentherapie. Accessed 18 January 2021.
- Zorginstituut Nederland (ZiN). Toetsingskader kwaliteitsstandaarden en meetinstrumenten. Diemen: ZiN; 2021b. Available at: zorginzicht.nl/binaries/content/assets/zorginzicht/algemeenondersteuning/toetsingskader-kwaliteitsstandaarden-en-meetinstrumenten-versie-3.0.pdf.

#### Note A.2.1 Epidemiology, pathophysiology and co-morbidity

- Beales DJ, Smith AJ, O'Sullivan PB, Straker LM. Low back pain and comorbidity clusters at 17 years of age: a cross-sectional examination of health-related quality of life and specific low back pain impacts. J Adolesc Health. 2012;50(5):509–16.
- Brinjikji W, Luetmer PH, Comstock B, Bresnahan BW, Chen LE, Deyo RA, Halabi S, Turner JA, Avins AL, James K, Wald JT, Kallmes DF, Jarvik JG. Systematic literature review of imaging features of spinal degeneration in asymptomatic populations. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2015;36(4):811–6.
- Calvo-Munoz I, Gomez-Conesa A, Sanchez-Meca J. Prevalence of low back pain in children and adolescents: a meta-analysis. BMC Pediatr. 2013;13:14.
- Chou YC, Shih CC, Lin JG, Chen TL, Liao CC. Low back pain associated with sociodemographic factors, lifestyle and osteoporosis: a population-based study. J Rehabil Med. 2013;45(1):76–80.
- Collaborators GDallaP. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet (London, England). 2018;392(10159):1789–858.
- de Campos TF. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management NICE Guideline [NG59]. J Physiother. 2017;63(2):120.
- de Luca KE, Parkinson L, Haldeman S, Byles JE, Blyth F. The Relationship Between Spinal Pain and Comorbidity: A Cross-sectional Analysis of 579 Community–Dwelling, Older Australian Women. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2017;40(7):459–66.
- Fatoye F, Gebrye T, Odeyemi I. Real-world incidence and prevalence of low back pain using routinely collected data. Rheumatol Int. 2019;39(4):619–26.
- Ferreira PH, Beckenkamp P, Maher CG, Hopper JL, Ferreira ML. Nature or nurture in low back pain? Results of a systematic review of studies based on twin samples. Eur J Pain. 2013;17(7):957–71.
- Gore M, Sadosky A, Stacey BR, Tai KS, Leslie D. The burden of chronic low back pain: clinical comorbidities, treatment patterns, and health care costs in usual care settings. Spine. 2012;37(11):E668–77.
- Hartvigsen J, Hancock MJ, Kongsted A, Louw Q, Ferreira ML, Genevay S, Hoy D, Karppinen J, Pransky G, Sieper J, Smeets RJ, Underwood M, Lancet Low Back Pain Series Working G. What low back pain is and why we need to pay attention. Lancet (London, England). 2018;391(10137):2356–67.
- Henschke N, Maher CG, Refshauge KM, Herbert RD, Cumming RG, Bleasel J, York J, Das A, McAuley JH. Prevalence of and screening for serious spinal pathology in patients presenting to primary care settings with acute low back pain. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;60(10):3072–80.
- Hestbaek L, Leboeuf-Yde C, Manniche C. Low back pain: what is the long-term course? A review of studies of general patient populations. Eur Spine J. 2003;12(2):149-65.
- Hoy D, Bain C, Williams G, March L, Brooks P, Blyth F, Woolf A, Vos T, Buchbinder R. A systematic review of the global prevalence of low back pain. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(6):2028–37.

- Kasch R, Truthmann J, Hancock MJ, Maher CG, Otto M, Nell C, Reichwein N, Bulow R, Chenot JF, Hofer A, Wassilew G, Schmidt CO. Association of lumbar MRI findings with current and future back pain in a population–based cohort study. Spine. 18 aug 2021. doi: 10.1097/brs.000000000004198
- Kent PM, Keating JL. Can we predict poor recovery from recent-onset nonspecific low back pain? A systematic review. Man Ther. 2008;13(1):12–28.
- Nederlandse Vereniging voor Neurologie. Lumbosacraal Radiculair Syndroom (LRS) 2020. Available at: https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/richtlijn/lumbosacraal\_radiculair\_syndroom\_lrs/ startpagina\_-\_lrs.html. Accessed 22 May 2019.
- Nijs J, Apeldoorn A, Hallegraeff H, Clark J, Smeets R, Malfliet A, Girbes EL, de Kooning M, Ickmans K. Low back pain: guidelines for the clinical classification of predominant neuropathic, nociceptive, or central sensitization pain. Pain Physician. 2015;18(3):E333–46.
- Nijs J, Clark J, Malfliet A, Ickmans K, Voogt L, Don S, den Bandt H, Goubert D, Kregel J, Coppieters I, Dankaerts W. In the spine or in the brain? Recent advances in pain neuroscience applied in the intervention for low back pain. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2017;35 Suppl 107(5):108–15.
- Nijs J, George SZ, Clauw DJ, Fernández-de-las-Peñas C, Kosek E, Ickmans K, Fernández-Carnero J, Polli A, Kapreli E, Huysmans E, Cuesta-Vargas AI, Mani R, Lundberg M, Leysen L, Rice D, Sterling M, Curatolo M. Central sensitisation in chronic pain conditions: latest discoveries and their potential for precision medicine. Lancet Rheumatol. 2021;3:e383-92.
- O'Sullivan P. A classification-based cognitive functional approach for the management of back pain. JOSPT. 2012;42(10):17–21.
- Premkumar A, Godfrey W, Gottschalk MB, Boden SD. Red flags for low back pain are not always really red: a prospective evaluation of the clinical utility of commonly used screening questions for low back pain. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2018;100(5):368–74.
- Rubin DI. Epidemiology and risk factors for spine pain. Neurol Clin. 2007;25(2):353-71.
- Schneider S, Mohnen SM, Schiltenwolf M, Rau C. Comorbidity of low back pain: representative outcomes of a national health study in the Federal Republic of Germany. Eur J Pain. 2007;11(4):387–97.
- Spijker-Huiges A, Groenhof F, Winters JC, van Wijhe M, Groenier KH, van der Meer K. Radiating low back pain in general practice: incidence, prevalence, diagnosis, and long-term clinical course of illness. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2015;33(1):27–32.
- van den Dool J, Meijer WM. Nivel Zorgregistraties Eerste Lijn Zorg door de fysiotherapeut; jaarcijfers 2019 en trendcijfers 2016–2019. Utrecht: Nivel; 2021.
- Vlaeyen JWS, Maher CG, Wiech K, van Zundert J, Meloto CB, Diatchenko L, Battie MC, Goossens M, Koes B, Linton SJ. Low back pain. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2018;4(1);52.
- Volksgezondheidenzorg. Nek- en rugklachten. Available at: https://www.volksgezondheidenzorg. info/onderwerp/nek-en-rugklachten/cijfers-context/huidige-situatie. Accessed 22 May 2019.
- von Korff M, Crane P, Lane M, Miglioretti DL, Simon G, Saunders K, Stang P, Brandenburg N, Kessler R. Chronic spinal pain and physical-mental comorbidity in the United States: results from the national comorbidity survey replication. Pain. 2005;113(3):331–9.
- Welk B, Baverstock R. Is there a link between back pain and urinary symptoms? Neurourol Urodyn. 2020;39(2):523–32.

А

#### Note A.2.2 Societal impact

#### References

- GBD 2017 Disease Injury Incidence Prevalence Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet (London, England). 2018;392(10159):1789–858.
- Hartvigsen J, Hancock MJ, Kongsted A, Louw Q, Ferreira ML, Genevay S, Hoy D, Karppinen J, Pransky G, Sieper J, Smeets RJ, Underwood M, Lancet Low Back Pain Series Working G. What low back pain is and why we need to pay attention. Lancet (London, England). 2018;391(10137):2356–67.
- Hoy D, Bain C, Williams G, March L, Brooks P, Blyth F, Woolf A, Vos T, Buchbinder R. A systematic review of the global prevalence of low back pain. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(6):2028–37.
- Hoy D, March L, Brooks P, Woolf A, Blyth F, Vos T, Buchbinder R. Measuring the global burden of low back pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2010;24(2):155–65.

Lambeek LC, van Tulder MW, Swinkels IC, Koppes LL, Anema JR, van Mechelen W. The trend in total cost of back pain in The Netherlands in the period 2002 to 2007. Spine. 2011;36(13):1050–8.

Volksgezondheideninfo.nl. Nek- en rugklachten, kosten, zorguitgaven. Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu (RIVM). Available at: https://www.volksgezondheidenzorg.info/ onderwerp/nek-en-rugklachten/kosten/zorguitgaven#. Accessed 3 October 2019.

#### Note A.2.3 Clinical presentation and course

See appendix A.2.3-1 for a literature overview regarding the course of low back pain in adults.

- Abbott JH, Mercer S. The natural history of acute low back pain. New Zealand Journal of Physiotherapy. 2002;30(3):9.
- Andersson GB. Epidemiological features of chronic low-back pain. Lancet (London, England). 1999;354(9178):581–5.
- Axén I, Leboeuf–Yde C. Trajectories of low back pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2013;27(5):601– 12.
- Chou R, Shekelle P. Will this patient develop persistent disabling low back pain? JAMA. 2010;303(13):1295–302.
- da Silva T, Mills K, Brown BT, Herbert RD, Maher CG, Hancock MJ. Risk of recurrence of low back pain: a systematic review. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2017;47(5):305–13.
- do Carmo Silva Parreira P, Maher CG, Latimer J, Steffens D, Blyth F, Li Q, Ferreira ML. Can patients identify what triggers their back pain? Secondary analysis of a case-crossover study. Pain. 2015;156(10):1913-9.
- Dunn KM, Croft PR. Epidemiology and natural history of low back pain. Eura Medicophys. 2004;40(1):9–13.
- Flinterman L, Schers H, Schermer T. Behandeling van klachten vanuit de lage rug in de eerste lijn. Utrecht: Nederlands Instituut voor Onderzoek van de Gezondheidszorg; 2019. Available at: https://nivel.nl/sites/default/files/bestanden/1003586.pdf.
- Hartvigsen J, Hancock MJ, Kongsted A, Louw Q, Ferreira ML, Genevay S, Hoy D, Karppinen J, Pransky G, Sieper J, Smeets RJ, Underwood M, Lancet Low Back Pain Series Working G. What low back pain is and why we need to pay attention. Lancet (London, England). 2018;391(10137):2356–67.

- Hartvigsen L, Hestbaek L, Lebouef-Yde C, Vach W, Kongsted A. Leg pain location and neurological signs relate to outcomes in primary care patients with low back pain. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2017;18(1):133.
- Haugen AJ, Brox JI, Grovle L, Keller A, Natvig B, Soldal D, Grotle M. Prognostic factors for nonsuccess in patients with sciatica and disc herniation. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2012;13:183.
- Henschke N, Maher CG, Refshauge KM, Herbert RD, Cumming RG, Bleasel J, York J, Das A, McAuley JH. Prevalence of and screening for serious spinal pathology in patients presenting to primary care settings with acute low back pain. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;60(10):3072–80.
- Hestbaek L, Leboeuf-Yde C, Manniche C. Low back pain: what is the long-term course? A review of studies of general patient populations. Eur Spine J. 2003;12(2):149-65.
- Hill JC, Konstantinou K, Egbewale BE, Dunn KM, Lewis M, van der Windt D. Clinical outcomes among low back pain consulters with referred leg pain in primary care. Spine. 2011;36(25):2168–75.

Itz CJ, Geurts JW, van Kleef M, Nelemans P. Clinical course of non-specific low back pain: a systematic review of prospective cohort studies set in primary care. Eur J Pain. 2013;17(1):5–15.

Iversen T, Solberg TK, Wilsgaard T, Waterloo K, Brox JI, Ingebrigtsen T. Outcome prediction in chronic unilateral lumbar radiculopathy: prospective cohort study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2015;16:17.

Kaaria SM, Malkia EA, Luukkonen RA, Leino-Arjas PI. Pain and clinical findings in the low back: a study of industrial employees with 5-, 10-, and 28-year follow-ups. Eur J Pain. 2010;14(7):759-63.

Konstantinou K, Dunn KM, Ogollah R, Lewis M, van der Windt D, Hay EM. Prognosis of sciatica and back-related leg pain in primary care: the ATLAS cohort. Spine J. 2018;18(6):1030–40.

- Lemeunier N, Leboeuf-Yde C, Gagey O. The natural course of low back pain: a systematic critical literature review. Chiropr Man Therap. 2012;20(1):33.
- Macfarlane GJ, Thomas E, Croft PR, Papageorgiou AC, Jayson MI, Silman AJ. Predictors of early improvement in low back pain amongst consulters to general practice: the influence of pre-morbid and episode-related factors. Pain. 1999;80(1-2):113-9.
- Menezes Costa LDC, Maher CG, Hancock MJ, McAuley JH, Herbert RD, Costa LO. The prognosis of acute and persistent low-back pain: a meta-analysis. CMAJ. 2012;184(11):E613–24.
- Nederlandse Vereniging voor Neurologie. Lumbosacraal radiculair syndroom (LRS) 2020. Available at: https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/richtlijn/lumbosacraal\_radiculair\_syndroom\_lrs/ startpagina\_-\_lrs.html. Accessed 25 June 2020.
- Pengel LH, Herbert RD, Maher CG, Refshauge KM. Acute low back pain: systematic review of its prognosis. Bmj. 2003;327(7410):323.
- Schaafstra A, Spinnewijn W, Bons S, Borg M, Koes B, Ostelo R, Spijker-Huiges A, Burgers J, Bouma M, Verburg A. NHG-standaard lumbosacraal radiculair syndroom (tweede herziening). Huisarts Wet. 2015;58(6):308–20.
- Scheele J, Luijsterburg PA, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Koes BW. Course of back complaints in older adults: a systematic literature review. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2012;48(3):379–86.
- Stanton TR, Henschke N, Maher CG, Refshauge KM, Latimer J, McAuley JH. After an episode of acute low back pain, recurrence is unpredictable and not as common as previously thought. Spine. 2008;33(26):2923–8.
- Steffens D, Ferreira ML, Latimer J, Ferreira PH, Koes BW, Blyth F, Li Q, Maher CG. What triggers an episode of acute low back pain? A case-crossover study. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2015;67(3):403-10.
- Tubach F, Beauté J, Leclerc A. Natural history and prognostic indicators of sciatica. J Clin Epidemiol. 2004;57(2):174–9.

13

- Verkerk K, Luijsterburg PA, Heymans MW, Ronchetti I, Pool–Goudzwaard AL, Miedema HS, Koes BW. Prognosis and course of disability in patients with chronic nonspecific low back pain: a 5– and 12–month follow–up cohort study. Phys Ther. 2013;93(12):1603–14.
- Verkerk K, Luijsterburg PA, Heymans MW, Ronchetti I, Pool–Goudzwaard AL, Miedema HS, Koes BW. Prognosis and course of pain in patients with chronic non–specific low back pain: A 1–year follow–up cohort study. Eur J Pain. 2015a;19(8):1101–10.
- Verkerk K, Luijsterburg PA, Pool-Goudzwaard A, Heymans MW, Ronchetti I, Miedema HS, Koes BW. Prognosis and course of work-participation in patients with chronic non-specific low back pain: a 12-month follow-up cohort study. J Rehabil Med. 2015b;47(9):854-9.

#### Note A.2.4 Etiological and prognostic factors

#### Literature

#### Search

In order to answer the clinical question, a systematic search was conducted for existing systematic reviews, possibly as part of an evidence-based guideline (see A1 'Introduction'), and three sources were selected that describe etiological and prognostic factors: the KNGF Guideline on Low Back Pain from 2013 (KNGF 2013), the NHG Standard on Non-specific Low Back Pain (NHG Guideline Panel for the Standard on Non-specific Low Back Pain 2017) and part 1 of the Lancet series (Hartvigsen 2018). Because no systematic search was conducted for the NHG Standard on Non-specific Low Back Pain (NHG Guideline Panel for the Standard on Non-specific Low Back Pain 2017) and part 1 of the Lancet series (Hartvigsen 2018), the core group conducted an additional systematic search in PubMed on 23 July 2019 for systematic reviews about etiological and/or prognostic factors for persistent low back pain that were published after the 2013 KNGF Guideline on Low Back Pain (see appendix A.2.4–1 for the search rationale).

The search yielded 1,126 hits; 1,060 articles were excluded based on title and abstract. Of the remaining 66 articles, the entire text was assessed. Ultimately, eight articles were included; etiological factors were studied in three of these articles (Da Silva 2017; Janwantanakul 2012; Pinheiro 2016), prognostic factors in four articles (Hallegraeff 2012; Oliveira 2019; Steenstra 2017; Verkerk 2012) and etiological and prognostic factors in one article (Campbell 2013). The table below lists the selection criteria of the search.

Type of studies	Systematic review published in English or Dutch starting in 2012. Exclusion: literature review of primarily cross-sectional studies and literature review with a very limited scope (e.g. searches aimed at only one or two journals or with a focus on MRI findings).
Type of patients	Patients with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (see <u>A.1 'Introduction'</u> ) <b>Exclusion:</b> systematic reviews that focus on specific populations, such as nurses, or on populations that fell outside of the inclusion criteria (e.g. postlumbar hernia patients and musculoskeletal pain).

Selection criteria for the search for literature on etiological and prognostic factors for low back pain

 $<sup>\</sup>checkmark$ 

<b>Type of patients</b> (continuation)	Etiological factors: Participants have no complaints at inclusion. Prognostic factors: Participants have complaints at inclusion.
Type of intervention	Not applicable
Type of comparison	Not applicable
Type of outcome	Etiological factors: Onset of low back pain (an initial episode or a relapse). Prognostic factors: persistent symptoms; pain or limitations in physical functioning or limitations in resuming work that last longer then three months.
Type of timeline	Follow-up of ≥3 months

#### Selection process for etiological and prognostic factors

The results were descriptively incorporated based on a narrative synthesis. The etiological and prognostic factors to be included in the guideline were selected based on consensus, with the following components having been assessed:

- The number of studies included in the systematic review that were relevant for the risk factor. The unequivocal nature of the burden of proof: Do the systematic reviews yield the same results or are the results conflicting?
- The association: Are the results statistically significant and/or clinically relevant? And
- The applicability: Does the factor constitute a treatable trait for the treatment of the physical therapist or exercise therapist and can the factor be properly assessed?

#### Considerations

#### **Etiological factors**

See the table in appendix A.2.4-2 for the etiological factors that were assessed and the results of the selection process.

The following risk factors of the onset of first-time back pain or recurring back pain were selected by the guideline panel to be included in the guideline based on consensus: 'previous episodes of low back pain' (Da Silva 2017; Hestbaek 2003; Janwantanakul 2012; Taylor 2014), 'overweight and obesity' (Ferreira 2013; Shiri 2010a; Zhang 2018), 'smoking' (Ferreira 2013; Shiri 2016, 2010b), 'comorbidity' (Ferreira 2013), 'depression' (Pinheiro 2016), 'a high degree of physical load at work' (Heneweer 2011; Janwantanakul 2012; Lang 2012), 'a high degree of mental load at work' (Lang 2012), 'little social support at work' (Campbell 2013; Lang 2012), 'few options to independently fulfil work tasks' (Lang 2012), 'little job security' (Lang 2012) and 'very monotonous work' (Lang 2012).

#### Prognostic factors for persistent complaints

See the table in appendix A.2.4–2 for the prognostic factors that were assessed and the results of the selection process. The following prognostic factors were selected by the guideline panel for inclusion in the guideline: 'previous episodes of low back pain' (Chou 2010; Kent 2008), 'a high degree of limitations in activities' (Chou 2010; Hayden 2009, 2010; Kent 2008; Steenstra 2017), 'pain in the leg or sciatica' (Chou 2010; Hayden 2009, 2010; Kent 2008; Steenstra 2017), 'pain in the leg or sciatica' (Chou 2010; Kent 2008; Steenstra 2017; Verkerk 2012), 'high intensity of pain' (Chou 2010; Kent 2008; Steenstra 2017; Verkerk 2012), 'bad general health status or quality of life' (Chou 2010; Hayden 2009, 2010; Kent 2008; Ramond 2011; Steenstra 2017),

15

А

'psychological and psychosocial stress' (Hayden 2009, 2010; Kent 2008; Ramond 2011), 'pain-related fear of movement' (Chou 2010; Kent 2008; Ramond 2011;

Verkerk 2012; Wertli 2014b), 'feelings/symptoms of depression' (Hayden 2009; Hayden 2010; Kent 2008; Pinheiro 2016; Ramond 2011; Steenstra 2017; Verkerk 2012), 'passive coping' (Kent 2008; Ramond 2011), 'patient's negative expectations about recovery' (Hallegraeff 2012; Hayden 2009, 2010; Ramond 2011; Steenstra 2017) or 'catastrophisation' (Wertli 2014a), 'a high degree of physical load at work' (Chou 2010; Hayden 2009, 2010; Kent 2008; Steenstra 2017; Verkerk 2012), 'bad relationships with colleagues' (Hayden 2009, 2010) and 'diminished job satisfaction' (Chou 2010; Kent 2008; Ramond 2011; Steenstra 2017).

- Campbell P, Wynne–Jones G, Muller S, Dunn KM. The influence of employment social support for risk and prognosis in nonspecific back pain: a systematic review and critical synthesis. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2013;86(2):119–37.
- Chou R, Shekelle P. Will this patient develop persistent disabling low back pain? JAMA. 2010;303(13):1295–302.
- da Silva T, Mills K, Brown BT, Herbert RD, Maher CG, Hancock MJ. Risk of Recurrence of Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2017;47(5):305–13.
- Ferreira PH, Beckenkamp P, Maher CG, Hopper JL, Ferreira ML. Nature or nurture in low back pain? Results of a systematic review of studies based on twin samples. Eur J Pain. 2013;17(7):957–71.
- Hallegraeff JM, Krijnen WP, van der Schans CP, de Greef MH. Expectations about recovery from acute non-specific low back pain predict absence from usual work due to chronic low back pain: a systematic review. J Physiother. 2012;58(3):165–72.
- Hayden JA, Chou R, Hogg–Johnson S, Bombardier C. Systematic reviews of low back pain prognosis had variable methods and results: guidance for future prognosis reviews. J Clin Epidemiol. 2009;62(8):781–96 e1.
- Hayden JA, Dunn KM, van der Windt DA, Shaw WS. What is the prognosis of back pain? Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2010;24(2):167–79.
- Hendrick P, Milosavljevic S, Hale L, Hurley DA, McDonough S, Ryan B, Baxter GD. The relationship between physical activity and low back pain outcomes: a systematic review of observational studies. Eur Spine J. 2011;20(3):464–74.
- Heneweer H, Staes F, Aufdemkampe G, van Rijn M, Vanhees L. Physical activity and low back pain: a systematic review of recent literature. Eur Spine J. 2011;20(6):826–45.
- Hestbaek L, Leboeuf-Yde C, Manniche C. Low back pain: what is the long-term course? A review of studies of general patient populations. Eur Spine J. 2003;12(2):149-65.
- Janwantanakul P, Sitthipornvorakul E, Paksaichol A. Risk factors for the onset of nonspecific low back pain in office workers: a systematic review of prospective cohort studies. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2012;35(7):568–77.
- Kent PM, Keating JL. Can we predict poor recovery from recent-onset nonspecific low back pain? A systematic review. Man Ther. 2008;13(1):12–28.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn Lage rugpijn. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2013. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/lagerugpijn. Accessed 22 October 2019.
- Lang J, Ochsmann E, Kraus T, Lang JW. Psychosocial work stressors as antecedents of musculoskeletal problems: a systematic review and meta-analysis of stability-adjusted longitudinal studies. Soc Sci Med. 2012;75(7):1163-74.

Mansell G, Corp N, Wynne–Jones G, Hill J, Stynes S, van der Windt D. Self–reported prognostic factors in adults reporting neck or low back pain: An umbrella review. Eur J Pain. 2021.

- Oliveira CB, Pinheiro MB, Teixeira RJ, Franco MR, Silva FG, Hisamatsu TM, Ferreira PH, Pinto RZ. Physical activity as a prognostic factor of pain intensity and disability in patients with low back pain: A systematic review. Eur J Pain. 2019;23(7):1251–63.
- Pinheiro MB, Ferreira ML, Refshauge K, Maher CG, Ordonana JR, Andrade TB, Tsathas A, Ferreira PH. Symptoms of depression as a prognostic factor for low back pain: a systematic review. Spine J. 2016;16(1):105–16.
- Ramond A, Bouton C, Richard I, Roquelaure Y, Baufreton C, Legrand E, Huez JF. Psychosocial risk factors for chronic low back pain in primary care a systematic review. Fam Pract. 2011;28(1):12–21.
- Shiri R, Falah-Hassani K. The effect of smoking on the risk of sciatica: a meta-analysis. Am J Med. 2016;129(1):64-73 e20.
- Shiri R, Karppinen J, Leino-Arjas P, Solovieva S, Viikari-Juntura E. The association between obesity and low back pain: a meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol. 2010a;171(2):135–54.
- Shiri R, Karppinen J, Leino-Arjas P, Solovieva S, Viikari-Juntura E. The association between smoking and low back pain: a meta-analysis. Am J Med. 2010b;123(1):87 e7–35.
- Steenstra IA, Munhall C, Irvin E, Oranye N, Passmore S, van Eerd D, Mahood Q, Hogg–Johnson S. Systematic Review of Prognostic Factors for Return to Work in Workers with Sub Acute and Chronic Low Back Pain. J Occup Rehabil. 2017;27(3):369–81.
- Taylor JB, Goode AP, George SZ, Cook CE. Incidence and risk factors for first-time incident low back pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Spine J. 2014;14(10):2299–319.
- Verkerk K, Luijsterburg PA, Miedema HS, Pool-Goudzwaard A, Koes BW. Prognostic factors for recovery in chronic nonspecific low back pain: a systematic review. Phys Ther. 2012;92(9): 1093–108.
- Wertli MM, Eugster R, Held U, Steurer J, Kofmehl R, Weiser S. Catastrophizing–a prognostic factor for outcome in patients with low back pain: a systematic review. Spine J. 2014a;14(11):2639–57.
- Wertli MM, Rasmussen–Barr E, Weiser S, Bachmann LM, Brunner F. The role of fear avoidance beliefs as a prognostic factor for outcome in patients with nonspecific low back pain: a systematic review. Spine J. 2014b;14(5):816–36 e4.
- Zhang TT, Liu Z, Liu YL, Zhao JJ, Liu DW, Tian QB. Obesity as a risk factor for low back pain: a metaanalysis. Clin Spine Surg. 2018;31(1):22–7.

#### Note A.3 Organisation of healthcare

#### Literature

#### Multidisciplinary collaboration

Disciplines that may be involved in the treatment include the following, for example: the physical therapist or exercise therapist, manual therapist, general practice-based nurse specialist for mental healthcare, primary care psychologist, occupational therapist, social worker, lifestyle coach and, in case of work-related problems, the company physician or insurance company physician. It appears that the quality of the healthcare and the organisational level of multidisciplinary collaboration in the primary care setting vary greatly, and in many cases there is room for improvement (Van Tulder 2010; Healthcare Institute of the Netherlands 2018). For example, Huijnen notes a lack of a mutual, uniform vision of pain, a large variation in content and duration

А

of care programmes, flawed communication among professional caregivers and fragmented healthcare financing. In addition, there are also various promising initiatives and developments in multidisciplinary healthcare whereby (para)medical professionals in the primary, secondary and tertiary care settings work closely together and new reimbursement structures are developed (Huijnen 2019).

The Sequenced Healthcare Guideline on Non-specific Low Back Pain (Van Tulder 2010), as well as the NHG Standard on Non-specific Low Back Pain (NHG Guideline Panel for the Standard on Nonspecific Low Back Pain 2017) and the Chronic Pain Healthcare Standard (Perez 2017) argue for the organisation of a network and provide recommendations for cooperation and communication in multidisciplinary collaboration. Suggestions are also offered for local (institutional) or regional protocols and/or transmural healthcare agreements. In such a network, a back team coordinator will be hired to coordinate the multidisciplinary collaboration within the network and also be the point of contact for patients and involved healthcare providers. Who will fulfil the role of coordinator regarding the care of patients with chronic low back pain will be decided at the local or regional level. Decisive for this is the availability of a healthcare provider who has the required expertise for this. This healthcare provider then acts as an intermediary between patients and healthcare providers. The composition and working method of the network depends on the availability and expertise of the various healthcare providers in the respective field. Within the network the recommendations of the sequenced healthcare guideline are translated into agreements about diagnostics and treatment, work resumption and about collaboration and communication (so about referrals and back referrals, mutual information exchange, and about guidance and information and advice for patients).

The rehabilitation physician has final responsibility for specialised medical rehabilitation. In addition to the rehabilitation physician, a BIG-registered psychologist and/or social worker and a number of paramedical professionals who are specialised in helping patients with chronic pain should ideally also be involved (Köke 2005). The composition of a rehabilitation team can differ somewhat per patient and per treatment location. Specialised medical rehabilitation is aimed at influenceable pain-sustaining factors. There is emphasis on pain education and coping with pain and stress. The patient's (physical and mental) load pattern is typically treated with graded activity, relaxation exercises and time management. In addition to cognitive behavioural therapy, Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) is being increasingly applied as psychological treatment intervention. For work-related problems, customised reintegration and guidance is offered or organisations are referred to that deal specifically with this, such as occupational health and safety agencies and reintegration companies (Central Supervisory Body [Centraal BegeleidingsOrgaan] 2014).

Two recent systematic reviews concluded that multidisciplinary treatment that is based on the biopsychosocial model is more effective for pain alleviation, functionality improvement and work resumption compared to monodisciplinary treatment (Kamper 2014; Salathe 2018). Multidisciplinary treatment was defined in these reviews as treatment involving multiple disciplines and with the treatment not only focusing on physical aspects but also on psychological and/or social aspects. However, the effects were not significant, and multidisciplinary treatment is expensive as well. Referring a patient to a multidisciplinary treatment team should therefore be carefully considered.

- Beroepsvereniging voor Leefstijlcoaches Nederland (BLCN). Het profiel van de hbo leefstijlcoach. Amersfoort: BLCN; 2016. Available at: https://blcn.nl/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Het-profielvan-de-hbo-leefstijlcoach-versie-1.0.pdf.
- Centraal BegeleidingsOrgaan (CBO). Zorgmodule Arbeid 1.0. Utrecht: CBO; 2014. Beschikbaar via: https://werkenchronischziek.nl/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Zorgmodule-Arbeid.pdf.
- de Jong L, Janssen P, Keizer D, Köke A, Schiere S, van Bommel M, van Coevorden R, van de Vusse A, van den Donk M, van Es A, Veldhoven C, Verduijn M. NHG-standaard Pijn. Utrecht: Nederlands Huisartsen Genootschap (NHG); 2018.
- Expertgroep Functie- en competentieprofiel POH-GGZ. Functie- & competentieprofiel Praktijkondersteuner huisarts GGZ. Harderwijk: Landelijke vereniging POH-GGZ; 2020. Available at: https://www.lhv.nl/sites/default/files/content/lhv\_nl/uploads/dossiers/20200304\_functie-\_ en\_competentieprofiel\_poh\_ggz\_2020.pdf.
- Huijnen IPJ, Keizer D, van Gestel CM. Transmurale zorgmodellen: eerste verkenningen. In: Verbunt JA, Swaan JL, Schiphorst Preuper HR, Schreurs KMG. Handboek pijnrevalidatie. Houten: Bohn Stafleu van Loghum; 2019. Pag. 245–57.
- Kamper SJ, Apeldoorn AT, Chiarotto A, Smeets RJ, Ostelo RW, Guzman J, van Tulder MW. Multidisciplinary biopsychosocial rehabilitation for chronic low back pain. Cochrane Dat Syst Rev. 2014(9):CD000963.
- Köke A, Brouwers M, Heuts P, Schiphorst Preuper R, Swaan L, Smeets R, Vlaeyen J, Patijn J. Consensus Rapport Pijnrevalidatie Nederland. Een beschrijvend overzicht van pijnrevalidatie programma's in Nederland met betrekking tot doelen en inhoud. Maastricht: Kennis Centrum Maastricht; 2005.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF) / Nederlandse Vereniging voor Fysiotherapie in de Geriatrie (NVFG). Beroepsprofiel Geriatriefysiotherapeut. Amersfoort: KNGF/ NVFG; 2015. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/vakgebied/vakinhoud/beroepsprofielen.html. Accessed 14 January 2021.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF) / Nederlandse Vereniging voor Bedrijfs- en Arbeidsfysiotherapeuten (NVBF). Beroepscompetentieprofiel Bedrijfsfysiotherapie. Amersfoort:KNGF/NVBF; 2009. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/vakgebied/vakinhoud/ beroepsprofielen.html. Accessed 14 January 2021.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF) / Nederlandse Vereniging voor Fysiotherapie volgens de Psychosomatiek (NFP). Beroepscompetentieprofiel psychosomatisch fysiotherapeut. Amsersfoort: KNGF/NFP; 2009. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/vakgebied/ vakinhoud/beroepsprofielen.html. Accessed 14 January 2021.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF) / Nederlandse Vereniging voor Manuele Therapie (NVMT). Beroepscompetentieprofiel manueeltherapeut. Amersfoort: KNGF/ NVMT; 2014.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF) / Nederlandse Vereniging voor Bekkenfysiotherapie (NVFB). Beroepsprofiel bekkenfysiotherapeut. Amersfoort: KNGF/NVFB; 2014. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/vakgebied/vakinhoud/beroepsprofielen.html. Accessed 14 January 2021.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF) / Vereniging voor Fysiotherapie in de Sportgezondheidszorg (NVFS). Beroepsprofiel Sportfysiotherapeut. Amersfoort: KNGF/NVFS; 2018.
   Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/vakgebied/vakinhoud/beroepsprofielen.html. Accessed 14 January 2021.

- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). Beroepsprofiel Fysiotherapeut. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2014.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). Beroepsprofiel fysiotherapeut. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2021.
- Luites JWH, Kuijer PPFM, Hulshof CTJ, Kok R, Langendam M, Oosterhuis T, Hoving JL. Richtlijn lage rugpijn en lumbosacraal radiculair syndroom. Utrecht: Nederlandse Vereniging voor Arbeids- en Bedrijfsgeneeskunde (NVAB); 2020. Available at: https://nvab-online.nl/richtlijnen/richtlijnen-NVAB. Accessed 31 March 2021.
- Nederlandse Orthopaedische Vereniging. Geïnstrumenteerde wervelkolomchirurgie 2017. Available at: https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/richtlijn/geinstrumenteerde\_spinaalchirurgie/startpagina\_ spinaalchirurgie.html#algemeen. Accessed 14 January 2021.
- Nederlandse Vereniging voor Arbeids- en Bedrijfsgeneeskunde (NVAB). Beroepsprofiel van de bedrijfsarts 2004. Available at: https://nvab-online.nl/sites/default/files/bestanden-webpaginas/Beroepsprofiel%20Bedrijfsarts.pdf.
- Nederlandse Vereniging voor Gezondheidszorgpsychologie (NVGzP). De GZ–psycholoog, Beroepsprofiel. Utrecht: NVGzP; 2017. Available at: https://www.lvmp.nl/wp-content/uploads/ Beroepsprofiel-GZ–psycholoog.pdf.
- Nederlandse Vereniging voor Gezondheidszorgpsychologie en het Nederlands Instituut van Psychologen. De klinisch psycholoog. Beroepsprofiel. Utrecht: Landelijke Vereniging Medische Psychologie; 2015. Available at: https://www.lvmp.nl/wp-content/uploads/Webversie-Brochure-Klinisch-psycholoog-.pdf.
- Nederlandse Vereniging voor Neurochirurgie (NvVN). Ongeïnstrumenteerde wervelkolomchirurgie 2018. Available at: https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/richtlijn/ongeinstrumenteerde\_ wervelkolomchirurgie/startpagina.html. Accessed 14 January 2021.
- Nederlandse Vereniging voor Neurologie (NVN). Lumbosacraal radiculair syndroom (LRS) 2020. Available at: https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/richtlijn/lumbosacraal\_radiculair\_syndroom\_lrs/ startpagina\_-\_lrs.html. Accessed 14 January 2021.
- Nederlandse Vereniging voor Psychotherapie (NVP). Beroepsprofiel psychotherapeut. Utrecht: NVP; 2007. Available at: https://assets.psychotherapie.nl/p/229378/files/Beroepsprofiel.pdf.
- NHG-Werkgroep Standaard Aspecifieke lagerugpijn. NHG-standaard aspecifieke lagerugpijn (tweede herziening). Huisarts Wet. 2017;60(2):78–84.
- Obradovic M. Zorggebruik van patienten met klachten vanuit de lage rug in de tweede lijn. Diemen: Zorginstituut Nederland; 2020. Available at: https://www.zorginstituutnederland.nl/ binaries/zinl/documenten/rapport/2020/04/01/zorggebruik-lage-rug-tweede-lijn/Zorggebruik+v an+pati%C3%ABnten+met+klachten+vanuit+de+lage+rug+in+de+tweede+lijn.pdf.
- Perez RSGM, Dalen-Kok AH, van Giesberts MG, Hout JHC, van den Keizer D, Köke AJA, Nitert L, Schiere S, Smeets RJEM, Thomassen-Hilgersom IL. Zorgstandaard chronische pijn. Leiden: Vereniging Samenwerkingsverband Pijnpatiënten naar één stem; 2017. Available at: https://www.zorginzicht.nl/binaries/content/assets/zorginzicht/kwaliteitsinstrumenten/ Zorgstandaard+Chronische+Pijn.pdf.
- Salathe CR, Melloh M, Crawford R, Scherrer S, Boos N, Elfering A. Treatment efficacy, clinical utility, and cost–effectiveness of multidisciplinary biopsychosocial rehabilitation treatments for persistent low back pain: a systematic review. Global Spine J. 2018;8(8):872–86.
- Schaafstra A, Spinnewijn W, Bons S, Borg M, Koes B, Ostelo R, Spijker-Huiges A, Burgers J, Bouma M, Verburg A. NHG-standaard lumbosacraal radiculair syndroom (tweede herziening). Huisarts Wet. 2015;58(6):308–20.

- van de Vijver P, van der Post K, Rosmalen K, Eyck M, Maiburg B, Kist J, van der Woude G, de Jong P. Competentieprofiel van de huisarts. Utrecht: Huisartsopleiding Nederland; 2016. Available at: https://www.huisartsopleiding.nl/images/opleiding/Competentieprofiel\_van\_de\_huisarts\_2016.pdf.
- van Hartingsveldt M, Logister–Proost I, Kinébanian A. Beroepsprofiel ergotherapeut. Den Haag/ Utrecht: Boom Lemma/Ergotherapie Nederland; 2010. Available at: https://info.ergotherapie.nl/ Beroepsprofielergotherapeut. Accessed 14 January 2021.
- van Tulder MW, Custer JWH, de Bie R, Hammelburg R, Hulshof CTJ, Kolnaar BGM, Kuijpers T, Ostelo RJWG, van Royen BJ, Sluiter A. Ketenzorgrichtlijn Aspecifieke Lage rugklachten. 2010. Available at: https://www.nhg.org/sites/default/files/content/nhg\_org/uploads/ketenzorgrichtlijn-aspecifieke-lage-rugklachten.pdf.
- Vereniging van Oefentherapeuten Cesar en Mensendieck (VvOCM). Beroepsprofiel Psychosomatisch oefentherapeut. Utrecht: VvOCM; 2018. Available at: https://www.kwaliteitsregisterparamedici.nl/ SiteAssets/Lists/Infoltem/AllItems/VvOCM%20Beroepsprofiel%20PSOT%202018.pdf.
- Vereniging van Oefentherapeuten Cesar en Mensendieck (VvOCM). Beroepsprofiel bekkenoefentherapeut. Utrecht: VvOCM; 2019a. Available at: https://www. kwaliteitsregisterparamedici.nl/SiteAssets/Lists/InfoItem/AllItems/VvOCM%20Beroepsprofiel%20 bekkenoefentherapeut%202019.pdf.
- Vereniging van Oefentherapeuten Cesar en Mensendieck (VvOCM). Beroepsprofiel Oefentherapeut. Utrecht:VvOCM; 2019b. Available at: https://vvocm.nl/Oefentherapeut/Beroep/Beroepscode-Beroepsprofiel. Accessed 14 January 2021.
- Werkgroep Pijnrevalidatie Nederland (WPN). Medisch specialistische revalidatie bij chronische pijn aan het houdings- en bewegingsapparaat. Position paper. Utrecht: WPN; 2017.
- Zorginstituut Nederland (ZiN). Zinnige zorg rapport screeningsfase Ziekten van het zenuwstelsel. Diemen: ZiN; 2018.
- Zorginstituut Nederland (ZiN). Zinnige zorg verbetersignalement klachten vanuit de lage rug. Diemen: ZiN; 2021. Available at: https://www.zorginstituutnederland.nl/werkagenda/publicaties/ rapport/2021/04/13/zinnige-zorg-verbetersignalement-klachten-vanuit-de-lage-rug. Accessed 13 March 2021.

#### Note B.1.1 Medical history taking

- Cieza A, Stucki G, Weigl M, Disler P, Jackel W, van der Linden S, Kostanjsek N, de Bie R. ICF Core Sets for low back pain. J Rehabil Med. 2004(44 Suppl):69–74.
- Hanemaaijer–Slottje R, Moossdorff–Steinhauser H. Een gemiste bron van lage rugpijn. FysioPraxis. 2019;28(2):22–4.
- Heerkens YF, Hirs WM, de Kleijn-de Vrankrijker M, van Ravenberg CD, Ten Napel H. Nederlandse vertaling van de 'International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health'. Bilthoven: Nederlands WHO-FIC Collaborating Centre. Rijksinstituut voor Volkgsgezondheid en Milieu (RIVM); 2002. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/42407/903133913X-dut.pdf;jsessionid=1946BBFC2DoCD5BD97CF56117669BooC?sequence=117. Accessed 15 December 2019.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn Lage rugpijn. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2013. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/lagerugpijn. Accessed 15 December 2019.

#### Note B.1.2 Physical examination

- Al Nezari NH, Schneiders AG, Hendrick PA. Neurological examination of the peripheral nervous system to diagnose lumbar spinal disc herniation with suspected radiculopathy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Spine. 2013;13(6):657–74.
- Alqarni AM, Schneiders AG, Hendrick PA. Clinical tests to diagnose lumbar segmental instability: a systematic review. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2011;41(3):130–40.
- Cieza A, Stucki G, Weigl M, Disler P, Jackel W, van der Linden S, Kostanjsek N, de Bie R. ICF Core Sets for low back pain. J Rehabil Med. 2004(44 Suppl):69–74.
- Cook C, Hegedus E. Diagnostic utility of clinical tests for spinal dysfunction. Man Ther. 2011;16(1):21-5.
- De Baets S, Calders P, Schalley N, Vermeulen K, Vertriest S, Van Peteghem L, Coussens M, Malfait F, Vanderstraeten G, Van Hove G, van de Velde D. Updating the evidence on functional capacity evaluation methods: a systematic review. J Occup Rehabil. 2018;28(3):418–28.
- Delitto A, George SZ, van Dillen L, Whitman JM, Sowa G, Shekelle P, Denninger TR, Godges JJ, Orthopaedic Section of the American Physical Therapy A. Low back pain. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2012;42(4):A1–57.
- Denteneer L, Stassijns G, De Hertogh W, Truijen S, Van Daele U. Inter– and intrarater reliability of clinical tests associated with functional lumbar segmental instability and motor control impairment in patients with low back pain: a systematic review. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2017;98(1):151–64 e6.
- Hartvigsen L, Kongsted A, Hestbaek L. Clinical examination findings as prognostic factors in low back pain: a systematic review of the literature. Chiropr Man Therap. 2015;23:13.
- Heerkens YF, Hirs WM, de Kleijn-de Vrankrijker M, van Ravenberg CD, Ten Napel H. Nederlandse vertaling van de 'International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health'. Bilthoven: Nederlands WHO-FIC Collaborating Centre. Rijksinstituut voor Volkgsgezondheid en Milieu (RIVM); 2002. Beschikbaar via: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/42407/903133913X-dut.pdf; jsessionid=1946BBFC2DoCD5BD97CF56117669BooC?sequence=117. Geraadpleegd op 13 januari 2020.
- Hegmann KT, Travis R, Belcourt RM, Donelson R, Eskay–Auerbach M, Galper J, Haldeman S, Hooper PD, Lessenger JE, Mayer T, Mueller KL, Murphy DR, Tellin WG, Thiese MS, Weiss MS. Diagnostic tests for low back disorders. J Occup Environ Med. 2019;61(4):e155–e68.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn lage rugpijn. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2013. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/lagerugpijn. Accessed 13 January 2020.
- Luites JWH, Kuijer PPFM, Hulshof CTJ, Kok R, Langendam M, Oosterhuis T, Hoving JL. Richtlijn lage rugpijn en lumbosacraal radiculair syndroom (concept). Utrecht: Nederlandse Vereniging voor Arbeids- en Bedrijfsgeneeskunde (NVAB); 2020. Available at: https://nvab-online.nl/richtlijnen/ richtlijnen-NVAB. Accessed 13 January 2020.
- Murphy DR, Hurwitz EL, Gerrard JK, Clary R. Pain patterns and descriptions in patients with radicular pain: does the pain necessarily follow a specific dermatome? Chiropr Osteopat. 2009;17:9.
- Nijs J, Apeldoorn A, Hallegraeff H, Clark J, Smeets R, Malfliet A, Girbes EL, De Kooning M, Ickmans K. Low back pain: guidelines for the clinical classification of predominant neuropathic, nociceptive, or central sensitization pin. Pain Physician. 2015;18(3):E333–46.
- Reneman MF. Functionele Capaciteiten Evaluatie; belastbaarheid voor werk meten. Fysiopraxis. 2018;17(3):12-3.

- Scaia V, Baxter D, Cook C. The pain provocation-based straight leg raise test for diagnosis of lumbar disc herniation, lumbar radiculopathy, and/or sciatica: a systematic review of clinical utility. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil. 2012;25(4):215–23.
- van der Windt DA, Simons E, Riphagen, II, Ammendolia C, Verhagen AP, Laslett M, Deville W, Deyo RA, Bouter LM, de Vet HC, Aertgeerts B. Physical examination for lumbar radiculopathy due to disc herniation in patients with low-back pain. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2010(2):CD007431.
- Vroomen PC, de Krom MC, Wilmink JT, Kester AD, Knottnerus JA. Diagnostic value of history and physical examination in patients suspected of lumbosacral nerve root compression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2002;72(5):630–4.

#### Note B.1.3 Red flags

#### Literature

In the primary care setting, the prevalence of warning signs in patients with low back pain is high, but the prevalence of serious specific conditions (red flag) is low. In an Australian study, 1,172 patients with acute low back pain (<2 weeks) were followed for one year in the primary care setting (Henschke 2009). Most patients (80.4%) had at least one warning sign, while the prevalence of a serious pathology was low (0.9%; fracture n = 8, infection n = 2, cauda equina syndrome n = 1). In the secondary and tertiary care setting, the prevalence of specific conditions is higher, but here too the diagnostic value of most warning signs was limited. In an American study, a retrospective analysis was conducted on the data of 9,940 patients with low back pain (with or without leg pain) who were treated in a specialised multidisciplinary spine clinic (Premkumar 2018). Most patients (92.6%) had at least one warning sign. In total, 8.3% of the patients were diagnosed with a serious pathology (fracture 5.6%, malignancy 1.6%, infection 1.2% and cauda equina syndrome o.4%). The authors concluded that the absence of warning signs in general did not decrease the possible presence of a serious pathology. Most patients with a spinal malignancy (64%) did not have any warning signs, such as a history of cancer, inexplicable weight loss, night-time pain or over 50 or 70 years of age.

In a retrospective study, Tsjang (2019) investigated in a tertiary care setting (n = 500) the diagnostic value of warning signs for being able to prove fractures, malignancy, infections and cauda equina syndrome. The sensitivity and specificity turned out to be low for nearly all warning signs. The warning sign with the highest accuracy for the malignancy diagnosis was a history of cancer (sensitivity 0.75 [95% Cl 0.53 to 0.90], specificity 0.79 [95% Cl 0.75 to 0.82]). A fracture was best predicted by the presence of at least one of the following warning signs: osteoporosis, use of steroids and trauma (sensitivity 0.59 [95% CI 0.44 to 0.72], specificity 0.65 [95% CI 0.60 to 0.69]). Finucane (2020) recently published a framework whereby a synthesis was made of existing evidence and international expert consensus. The framework focuses on cauda equina syndrome, fractures, malignancy and infections and offers clinicians examination and treatment tools. An overview of the incidence and point prevalence of the four conditions mentions the following data. The point prevalence for cauda equina syndrome as a cause of low back pain is estimated to be 0.04% in the primary care setting and 0.4% in the tertiary care setting. The syndrome occurs as a complication in about 2% of patients with a lumbar disc herniation. The incidence after a lumbar operation is estimated to be between 0.08 and 0.2%. The point prevalence of osteoporotic fractures as a cause of low back pain varies from 0.7% to 4.5% in the primary care setting to 6.5% in the emergency room. Just like metastases, osteoporotic fractures primarily occur in the

23

thoracic spine (70%) and to a lesser degree in the lumbar (20%) and cervical spine (10%). The point prevalence of a traumatic fracture as a cause of low back pain is estimated at <1% in the primary care setting. The point prevalence of malignancies as a cause of low back pain varies from 0.0 to 0.7% in the primary care setting, is 0.1% in the emergency room and is 1.6% in the tertiary care setting. The point prevalence of infections as a cause of low back pain is estimated to be 0.01% in the primary care setting and 1.2% in the tertiary care setting.

#### International guidelines

There is no consensus in international guidelines about the minimum warning signs based on which patients with low back pain should be screened, or about the question of which combinations of symptoms justify specialised examination. Verhagen (2016) found 46 different warning signs in 16 guidelines that could indicate a malignancy, fracture, cauda equina syndrome or infection. Parreira (2019) found 12 different warning signs in 78 guidelines for the possible presence of fractures. Both research groups concluded that there was hardly consensus and that most recommendations were not based on scientific evidence, nor were they supported by clinically relevant data.

#### Considerations

The guideline panel believes it is important to screen patients with low back pain for warning signs and red flags in order to decrease the chance of missing serious pathology. When assessing the relevancy of warning signs, the therapist always includes information from the medical history taking and the physical examination.

The guideline panel concludes that the presence of a single warning sign does not necessarily need to point to a specific cause, and that there are indications that specific combinations of various warning signs increase the probability of a specific condition.

- Cook CE, George SZ, Reiman MP. Red flag screening for low back pain: nothing to see here, move along: a narrative review. Br J Sports Med. 2018;52(8):493–6.
- de Campos TF. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management NICE Guideline [NG59]. J Physiother. 2017;63(2):120.
- Downie A, Williams CM, Henschke N, Hancock MJ, Ostelo RW, de Vet HC, Macaskill P, Irwig L, van Tulder MW, Koes BW, Maher CG. Red flags to screen for malignancy and fracture in patients with low back pain. Br J Sports Med. 2014;48(20):1518.Enthoven WT, Geuze J, Scheele J, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Bueving HJ, Bohnen AM, Peul WC, van Tulder MW, Berger MY, Koes BW, Luijsterburg PA. Prevalence and 'Red Flags' Regarding Specified Causes of Back Pain in Older Adults Presenting in General Practice. Phys Ther. 2016;96(3):305–12.
- Finucane LM, Downie A, Mercer C, Greenhalgh SM, Boissonnault WG, Pool–Goudzwaard AL, Beneciuk JM, Leech RL, Selfe J. International Framework for Red Flags for Potential Serious Spinal Pathologies. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2020;50(7):350–72.
- Galliker G, Scherer DE, Trippolini MA, Rasmussen–Barr E, LoMartire R, Wertli MM. Low back pain in the emergency department: prevalence of serious spinal pathologies and diagnostic accuracy of red flags. Am J Med. 2020;133(1):60–72 e14.
- Grunau GL, Darlow B, Flynn T, O'Sullivan K, O'Sullivan PB, Forster BB. Red flags or red herrings? Redefining the role of red flags in low back pain to reduce overimaging. Br J Sports Med. 2018;52(8):488–9.

- Henschke N, Maher CG, Refshauge KM, Herbert RD, Cumming RG, Bleasel J, York J, Das A, McAuley JH. Prevalence of and screening for serious spinal pathology in patients presenting to primary care settings with acute low back pain. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;60(10):3072–80.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijnenmethodiek 2019. Ontwikkeling en implementatie van KNGF-richtlijnen. Versie 2. Amersfoort: Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF); 2019. Available at: https:// www.kngf.nl/binaries/content/assets/kennisplatform/onbeveiligd/klinimetrie/kngfrichtlijnenmethodiek-2019. Accessed 13 January 2020.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn Lage rugpijn. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2013. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/lagerugpijn. Accessed 13 January 2020.
- Parreira PCS, Maher CG, Traeger AC, Hancock MJ, Downie A, Koes BW, Ferreira ML. Evaluation of guideline–endorsed red flags to screen for fracture in patients presenting with low back pain. Br J Sports Med. 2019;53(10):648–54.
- Premkumar A, Godfrey W, Gottschalk MB, Boden SD. Red flags for low back pain are not always really red: a prospective evaluation of the clinical utility of commonly used screening questions for low back pain. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2018;100(5):368–74.
- Tsiang JT, Kinzy TG, Thompson N, Tanenbaum JE, Thakore NL, Khalaf T, Katzan IL. Sensitivity and specificity of patient-entered red flags for lower back pain. Spine. 2019;19(2):293–300. Underwood M, Buchbinder R. Red flags for back pain. BMJ. 2013;347:f7432.
- Underwood M. Diagnosing acute perspecific low back pains time to lower the rec
- Underwood M. Diagnosing acute nonspecific low back pain: time to lower the red flags? Arthritis Rheum. 2009;60(10):2855–7.
- Van Wambeke P, Desomer A, Ailliet L, Berquin A, Demoulin C, Depreitere B, Dewachter J, Dolphens M, Forget P, Fraselle V, Hans G, Hoste D, Mahieu G, Michielsen J, Nielens H, Orban T, Parlevliet T, Simons E, Tobbackx Y, Van Schaeybroeck P, Van Zundert J, Vanderstraeten J, Vlaeyen J, Jonckheer P. Low back pain and radicular pain: assessment and management. Brussel: Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre (KCE); 2017. Available at: https://biblio.ugent.be/publication/8520932/file/8520933. Accessed 13 January 2020.
- Verhagen AP, Downie A, Popal N, Maher C, Koes BW. Red flags presented in current low back pain guidelines: a review. Eur Spine J. 2016;25(9):2788–802.

#### Note **B.2** Indications and treatment profiles

#### Literature

A recent literature review of the most important recommendations in guidelines for primary care describes two ways of giving direction to the treatment: 'stepped-care' and 'stratified care' (Almeida 2018). Linton (2018) adds a third way – 'matched care' – and provides an overview of the assumptions that underlie the three models and their advantages and limitations.

A brief description of the three models follows.

With the stepped-care approach, one begins with the simplest and least intensive treatment and then switches to more complex and intensive treatment options when the simple treatments are not successful. The most important assumptions are that low back pain is not impacted by existing psychosocial factors and that a wait-and-see policy is cost effective. The main limitations that are mentioned are that the stepped-care model ignores the complexity  $\sim$ 

of the complaints and may cause a delay in assigning the correct treatment to patients with an increased risk of persistent complaints. The stepped-care approach assumes a favourable natural course of the back pain, whereby patients with short-term complaints (acute low back pain; <6 weeks) would recover faster than patients with longer-lasting complaints (subacute low back pain; 6-12 weeks or chronic low back pain; >12 weeks).

With the stratified-care approach, patients are grouped based on established risk factors, with a congruent intensity of the intervention. The stratified-care approach is intended to offer more intensive treatment to patients who need it, while patients with a low risk generally recover with minimal guidance. The most important assumption is that risk factors can be identified, that risk factors are relatively stable and that a larger number of risk factors are accompanied by an increased risk of persistent complaints. The most important limitation of stratified care is that the treatment based on risk stratification is not always congruent with the patient's individual risk profile.

With the matched-care approach, the treatment is also based on risk factors, but different from a stratified approach, whereby the treatment modules are more or less uniform, the treatment is adapted to the individual patient's risk profile. The assumptions for matched care largely correspond to those of stratified care, with the addition that there are specific treatments for risk factors and that targeted treatment increases the efficiency of the treatment. The most important limitation of matched care is that the identification of risks for forming profiles is still in development. In addition, the matched care model is more complex to implement than the other two models.

There is as yet nothing known about the (cost) effectiveness based on which the one model should be chosen over the other.

The guideline of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) and the KCE guidelines employ a stratified-care approach, and the NHG Standard on Non-specific Low Back Pain employs a stepped-care approach (NHG Guideline Panel for the Standard on Non-specific Low Back Pain 2017).

#### Considerations

The guideline panel recognises the need for a classification into treatment profiles in order to offer practicing physical therapists and exercise therapists tools for guiding the therapy and facilitating the clinical decision-making process. The guideline panel believes that the risk of persistent low back pain can play an important role here. Someone with short-term complaints may have an increased risk of persistent complaints, for which more intensive treatment is immediately indicated. Evaluation of the risk of persistent low back pain can offer valuable information for the timely initiation of the correct treatment strategy. The guideline panel is aware that there is still a lot of uncertainty about the extent to which prognostic factors can predict the risk of persistent low back pain and what the value is for the individual patient. However, the guideline panel assumes that if a factor is dominant, or if there is a combination of factors, this impedes the chance of recovery. The guideline panel also believes that patients with low back pain can best be assigned to treatment profiles based on an evaluation of the risk of persistent complaints using the most important prognostic factors for persistent low back pain.

The guideline panel finds it important to assess the patient's individual risk profile because the clinical decision-making process can be adjusted based on this.

The guideline panel considers that there is a low risk of persistent complaints if there are no dominant prognostic factors for delayed recovery, a moderate risk of persistent low back pain if

there are some non-dominant prognostic factors for delayed recovery and a high risk of persistent low back pain if there are dominant prognostic factors for delayed recovery.

Psychosocial prognostic factors play an important role in the classification into treatment profiles. If psychosocial prognostic factors are dominant in the therapist's estimation and have a sustained and negative impact on movement-related functioning, the patient is assigned to treatment profile 3. In such cases, behaviour-oriented treatment is considered (see <u>C.3 'Behaviour-oriented</u> treatment').

The guideline panel believes that the classification into treatment profiles, which in its current form is based on the individual evaluation by the physical therapist and exercise therapist, requires further development. The differentiation between the treatment profiles in its current form should be operationalised more explicitly in order to minimise individual variation in classification between therapists. In order to shape this, the guideline panel has formulated knowledge gaps on which scientific research can focus. These knowledge gaps will be published with the guideline.

#### Course and duration of low back pain

Within this guideline, a decision was made to have the risk of persistent complaints of low back pain be decisive for the classification into treatment profiles. The course of the low back pain therefore no longer plays a role in deciding the treatment profile at the start of the treatment. Determining the treatment profile based on the course has its limitations, because you can only determine whether there is an abnormal course after some time has passed, meaning that a waitand-see policy would have to be pursued in the beginning phase after the onset of complaints. There is also some evidence that there are no clinically relevant differences in the extent of recovery on pain, physical functioning, quality of life, anxiety and depression for patients with low back pain with a different duration of complaints at baseline (Jess 2018).

We speak of an abnormal course and delayed recovery when there has been no significant increase in activities and decrease in participation problems for three weeks (KNGF 2013). The wait-and-see policy runs counter to the theoretical construct of the current guideline, where the emphasis is on identifying risk factors for delayed recovery. A wait-and-see policy can cause a delay in initiating the correct treatment for those with an increased risk of persistent complaints. In contrast, the guideline panel recognises that an abnormal course of the back pain is a sign to reconsider the classification into the treatment profile and the associated treatment during the treatment course. An abnormal course of the complaints is therefore designated within the current guideline as an indication for re-evaluating the risk of persistent complaints. The treatment strategy can be modified based on the re-evaluation.

Another classification that is often used is classification based on the duration of the complaints: acute low back pain (<6 weeks), subacute low back pain (6–12 weeks) and chronic low back pain (>12 weeks). Determining the treatment profile based on the duration of the complaints also has its limitations, because this classification does not take into account the large variation in symptoms and pain courses that are reported by people with low back pain and does not properly discriminate between chronic pain and relapsing low back pain. The traditional classification based on the duration of the complaints was therefore contested by the determination that low back pain is often a long-lasting condition with a variable course (Dunn 2013; Hartvigsen 2018; Kongsted 2016); some patients recover and some patients have persistent, severe low back pain (Kongsted 2016). The duration of the complaints has not been designated as an important prognostic factor within this guideline. There is conflicting evidence for the duration of the complaints as a prognostic factor for persistent complaints of low back pain (see <u>A.2.4</u> 'Etiological and prognostic factors'). A longer duration of the back pain is associated with a worse outcome in one of the two systematic reviews (Hayden 2009). This finding does not mean, however, that complaints lasting more than 12 weeks is the same as 'short-term low back pain that lasts longer'. Compared to short-term low back pain, with chronic pain there is a bigger chance that the experienced pain is the result of a complex interplay of physical, psychological and social factors. Chronic pain can cause permanent changes in the pain system, for example, including maladaptive neuroplastic changes in the somatosensory system (e.g. hyperactivity of the nociceptive system) and the pain memory (pain persists even though the cause has disappeared) (Jonckheer 2017). The guideline panel believes that the duration of the complaints is an important patient characteristic that should be assessed during the medical history taking.

- Almeida M, Saragiotto B, Richards B, Maher CG. Primary care management of non-specific low back pain: key messages from recent clinical guidelines. Med J Aust. 2018;208(6):272–5.
- de Campos TF. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management NICE Guideline [NG59]. J Physiother. 2017;63(2):120.
- Dunn KM, Hestbaek L, Cassidy JD. Low back pain across the life course. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2013;27(5):591–600.
- Hartvigsen J, Hancock MJ, Kongsted A, Louw Q, Ferreira ML, Genevay S, Hoy D, Karppinen J, Pransky G, Sieper J, Smeets RJ, Underwood M, Lancet Low Back Pain Series Working G. What low back pain is and why we need to pay attention. Lancet (London, England). 2018;391(10137):2356–67.
- Hayden JA, Chou R, Hogg–Johnson S, Bombardier C. Systematic reviews of low back pain prognosis had variable methods and results: guidance for future prognosis reviews. J Clin Epidemiol. 2009;62(8):781–96 e1.
- Jonckheer P, Desomer A, Depreitere B, Berquin A, Bruneau M, Christiaens W, Coeckelberghs E, Demoulin C, Duquenne P, Forget P, Fraselle V, Godderis L, Hans G, Hoste D, Kohn L, Mairiaux P, Munting E, Nielens H, Orban T, Parlevliet T, Pirotte B, van Boxem K, van Lerbeirghe J, van Schaeybroeck P, van Wambeke P, van Zundert J, Vanderstraeten J, Vanhaecht K, Verhulst D. Lage rugpijn en radiculaire pijn: Kernelementen van een zorgpad. Brussel: Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre (KCE); 2017. Available at: https://kce.fgov.be/sites/default/files/atoms/files/ KCE\_295A\_lage\_rugpijn\_en\_radiculaire\_pijn\_zorgpad\_Synthese\_0.pdf.
- Kongsted A, Kent P, Axen I, Downie AS, Dunn KM. What have we learned from ten years of trajectory research in low back pain? BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2016;17:220.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). Beroepsprofiel fysiotherapeut. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2021.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn Lage rugpijn. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2013. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/lagerugpijn. Accessed 27 June 2019.
- Linton SJ, Nicholas M, Shaw W. Why wait to address high-risk cases of acute low back pain? A comparison of stepped, stratified, and matched care. Pain. 2018;159(12):2437-41.
- NHG-Werkgroep Standaard Aspecifieke Lagerugpijn. NHG-standaard aspecifieke lagerugpijn (tweede herziening). Huisarts Wet. 2017;60(2):78-84.
- Schaafstra A, Spinnewijn W, Bons S, Borg M, Koes B, Ostelo R, Spijker-Huiges A, Burgers J, Bouma M, Verburg A. NHG-standaard lumbosacraal radiculair syndroom (Tweede herziening). Huisarts Wet. 2015;58(6):308–20.

- Stochkendahl MJ, Kjaer P, Hartvigsen J, Kongsted A, Aaboe J, Andersen M, Andersen MO, Fournier G, Hojgaard B, Jensen MB, Jensen LD, Karbo T, Kirkeskov L, Melbye M, Morsel-Carlsen L, Nordsteen J, Palsson TS, Rasti Z, Silbye PF, Steiness MZ, Tarp S, Vaagholt M. National clinical guidelines for non-surgical treatment of patients with recent onset low back pain or lumbar radiculopathy. Eur Spine J. 2018;27(1):60–75.
- Van Wambeke P, Desomer A, Ailliet L, Berquin A, Demoulin C, Depreitere B, Dewachter J, Dolphens M, Forget P, Fraselle V, Hans G, Hoste D, Mahieu G, Michielsen J, Nielens H, Orban T, Parlevliet T, Simons E, Tobbackx Y, Van Schaeybroeck P, Van Zundert J, Vanderstraeten J, Vlaeyen J, Jonckheer P. Low back pain and radicular pain: assessment and management. Brussel: Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre (KCE); 2017. Available at: https://biblio.ugent.be/publication/8520932/file/8520933. Accessed 27 June 2019.
- Vereniging van Oefentherapeuten Cesar en Mensendieck (VvOCM). Beroepsprofiel Oefentherapeut. Utrecht: VvOCM; 2019. Available at: https://vvocm.nl/Oefentherapeut/Beroep/Beroepscode– Beroepsprofiel. Accessed 27 June 2019.

#### Note B.2.1 Classification systems

#### Literature

To answer the clinical question, a systematic literature analysis was carried out on the following research questions (PICO):

Treatment-based Classification System (TCS)

- What are the desirable and undesirable effects (0) of the TCS (I) versus no stratified treatment (C) in patients with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (P)?
- Classification Based Cognitive Functional Therapy (CB-CFT)
- 2. What are the desirable and undesirable effects (0) of CB-CFT (I) versus no stratified treatment (C) in patients with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (P)?
- Treatment based on classification by means of the STarT Back Screening Tool (SBST)
- 3. What are the desirable and undesirable effects (0) of treatment according to the SBST (I) versus no stratified treatment (C) in patients with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (P)?

Based on the literature, the guideline panel selected 'quality of life', 'pain', and 'physical functioning' as crucial outcome measures and 'work resumption' as an important outcome measure (Chiarotto 2015; ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain 2017; Verburg 2019). Undesirable effects are all negative effects that may be related to the intervention (e.g. increased pain and/or limitations in physical functioning, or pain and/or limitations in physical functioning of a type other than the kind for which one initially sought help, occurring immediately after the intervention).

#### Search

The literature review was conducted in a hierarchical manner; the search first focused on existing evidence-based guidelines. Using an orientating search for evidence-based guidelines in PubMed on 2 May 2019, the guideline of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) was

identified. This guideline is of high methodological quality and uses a corresponding clinical question (De Campos 2017): 'What is the clinical and cost effectiveness of stratifying management of non-specific low back pain or sciatica according to outcome of a risk assessment tool/ questionnaire?'

To answer this question, the NICE searched in MEDLINE, Embase and the Cochrane Library up to 15 December 2015, based on which six studies were included (Apeldoorn 2012b, Beneciuk 2015; Foster 2014; Fritz 2003; Hill 2011; Vibe Fersum 2013). We reviewed these studies based on the selection criteria that we formulated beforehand within the scope of our three research questions. See the following table.

Type of studies	Randomised controlled study published in English or Dutch
Type of patients	Adults with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (see <u>A.1 'Introduction'</u> )
Type of intervention	Targeted treatment after stratification pursuant to the TCS, CB-CFT or SBST
Type of comparison	The usual healthcare, no stratified treatment
Type of outcome	Desirable: - Crucial: quality of life, pain, physical functioning Important: work-related outcomes Undesirable: all negative effects that might be related to the intervention
Type of timeline	Short (≤4 months) and/or long (>4 months) term. In the event of multiple measurement points, the measurement point that is closest to this time indication is included.

#### Selection criteria for the search on literature about stratified treatment

One study included by the NICE concerned an observational cohort and was therefore excluded (Foster 2014).

On 8 May 2019, an information specialist (J.W. Schoones, Leiden University Medical Centre) conducted a systematic search in PubMed, MEDLINE, Embase, Emcare, Web of Science and the Cochrane Library for updating of the NICE guideline (see appendix B.2.1–6 for the search rationale). This search produced 268 unique hits. After screening of the title and the abstract based on the inclusion criteria, 253 articles were excluded. The complete article was screened for 14 articles; ultimately, the search yielded one additional study (Cherkin 2018). The total number of studies in this literature analysis hence amounts to six (Apeldoorn 2012b; Beneciuk 2015; Cherkin 2018; Fritz 2003; Hill 2011; Vibe Fersum 2013). See appendix B.2.1–1 for the flowchart of the inclusion process. The articles that were excluded based on the complete text and the reason for the exclusion are listed in appendix B.2.1–2 (Balasubramaniam 2016; Barone 2018; Bello 2017, 2018; Beneciuk 2015; Cherkin 2015; Cherkin 2016; Morso 2018; Murphy 2016; Ng 2015; O'Keeffe 2015; Riis 2016; Vibe Fersum 2019; Whitehurst 2015).

#### Characteristics of the included studies

The characteristics of the included studies are provided in appendix B.2.1–3. The six included studies included a total of 2,991 patients with low back pain. The average age of the patients varied between 37 and 50 years, and the percentage of women was 38% to 64%. The duration of

В

the complaints varied from one day to more than five years, and the percentage of patients with sciatica into the legs varied from 18% to 63% (2 studies did not report data about the percentage of patients with sciatica into the legs).

Two studies (Apeldoorn 2012b; Fritz 2003) described the effectiveness of stratified treatment based on the TCS of Hicks and Delitto (1995). In the study by Fritz, the intervention entailed mobilisation, manipulation techniques, active range-of-motion exercises, strength training of the trunk and mechanical traction (treatment period not specified), and in the study by Apeldoorn it entailed lumbar manipulation, stabilisation exercises or direction-specific exercises during at least four weeks. One study (Vibe Fersum 2013) described the effectiveness of stratified treatment based on the CB-CFT by 0'Sullivan (2005). The CB-CFT is based on the biopsychosocial model and has a cognitive component, a component with exercises that are aimed at functional integration of activities in daily life, and a physical activity programme aimed at 'movement classification'. Three studies (Beneciuk 2015; Cherkin 2018; Hill 2011) described the effectiveness of stratified treatment based on the SBST of Hill (2008) in comparison with treatment without risk stratification. The SBST group also received additional treatment: the low-risk group received advice and pain medication, the medium-risk group received regular evidence-based physical therapy and the high-risk group received psychosocial therapy.

#### Individual study quality (RoB)

The design and execution of the individual studies (risk of bias, RoB) was assessed by NS with the help of the Cochrane Risk-of-Bias tool (Higgins 2011a). The opinion of the various items was discussed with the AA and RO, after which consensus was achieved. An overview of the study quality assessment (RoB) per study is provided in appendix B.2.1-4.

#### Effectiveness and evidentiary value of the TCS versus no risk stratification per outcome measure

The effect of the treatment based on the TCS was compared in two studies to treatment without risk stratification (Apeldoorn 2012b, Fritz 2003).

An overview of the results in the short term and long term that could be pooled is depicted in the following tables.

GRADE evidence profile of the studies on treatment with risk stratification according to the TCS versus treatment without risk stratification in the short term ( $\leq 4$  months) (taken from the NICE guideline)

RCT's (n)	Quality asse	ssment (dow	n-grading)		Sumr	nary o	f results	Eviden- tiary value	Type of out- come measure	
	Study design and execution (RoB) <sup>1</sup>	Inconsist– ency	Indirect– ness	Impreci- sion <sup>2</sup>	Publica- tion bias	Patients ( <i>n</i> )				Effect size (95% Cl)
						I	C			
Qualit	y of life (SF-30	5; PCS 0-100)								<u></u>
1	very severe	not severe	not severe	very severe	not deter- mined	37	41	MD 6.2 (-8.74; 21.14)	very Iow	crucial
Qualit	y of life (SF-30	5; PCS 0-100)		1				1		<u> </u>
1	VOTV	not	not	VODV	not dotor-	27	1.1	MD 1 6	WORW	crucial

1very<br/>severenotvery<br/>verynot deter-<br/>mined3741MD 1.6very<br/>verycrucial1severesevereseveremined1(-13.34; 16.54)low

 $\checkmark$ 

31

В

Pain	(NPRS; 0-10)									
1	very severe	not severe	not severe	severe	not deter- mined	74	82	MD -0.49 (-1.34; 0.36)	very low	crucial
Phys	ical function	ing (ODI 0-100	)							
2	very severe	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	111	123	MD -1.16 (-5.13; 2.82)	very low	crucial
Wor	k-related out	comes (numb	er of patients	with work re	estrictions (not	furthe	er opera	ationalised)) <sup>3</sup>		I
1	very severe	not severe	not severe	very severe	not deter- mined	7 / 41	15 / 37	RR 0.42 (0.19; 0.92)	very low	impor- tant
Und	esirable effec	ts <sup>3</sup>	·							
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey.

<sup>1</sup> Downgraded by 1 increment if the majority of the evidence was at high risk of bias and downgraded by 2 increments if the majority of the evidence was at very high risk of bias. <sup>2</sup> Downgraded by 1 increment if the confidence interval crossed one MID or by 2 increments if the confidence interval crossed both MIDs. <sup>3</sup> This outcome measure was not included by NICE, but was added in consultation with the guideline panel.

Note: A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

## GRADE evidence profile of the studies on treatment with risk stratification according to the TCS versus treatment without risk stratification in the long term (> 4 months) (taken from the NICE guideline)

RCT's ( <i>n</i> )	Quality assessment (down-grading)						mary o	f results	Eviden-	Type of
	Study design and	Inconsist– ency	st- Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion <sup>2</sup>	Publica- tion bias	Patio ( <i>n</i> )	ents	Effect size (95% Cl)	tiary value	out- come
	execution (RoB) <sup>1</sup>					I	C			
Qualit	y of life (SF-30	6; PCS 0-100)			-					
2	very severe	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	111	123	MD -0.59 (-3.7; 2.52)	low	crucial
Qualit	y of life (SF-30	6; PCS 0-100)	1	1	1					
2	very severe	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	111	123	MD 0.94 (-2.24; 4.12 higher)	low	crucial
Pain (	DDI 0-10)	1	1	1						
1	very severe	not severe	not severe	severe	not deter- mined	74	82	MD 0.13 (-0.83; 1.09)	very low	crucial
Physic	al functioning	g (NPRS; 0-10	o)		1				<b>I</b>	
2	very severe	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	111	123	MD 0.23 (-4.09; 4.54	low	crucial

 $\sim$ 

higher)

#### $\checkmark$

В

#### Work-related outcomes (number of patients that missed at least 1 day of work due to back pain)<sup>3</sup>

1	very severe	not severe	not severe	very severe	not deter- mined	6 / 35	11 / 32	RR 0.50 higher (-0.21; 1.19)	very low	impor- tant			
Undes	Undesirable effects <sup>3</sup>												
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A				

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey.

<sup>1</sup> Downgraded by 1 increment if the majority of the evidence was at high risk of bias and downgraded by 2 increments if the majority of the evidence was at very high risk of bias. <sup>2</sup> Downgraded by 1 increment if the confidence interval crossed one MID or by 2 increments if the confidence interval crossed both MIDs. <sup>3</sup> This outcome measure was not included by NICE, but was added in consultation with the guideline panel.

**Note:** A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

#### Effectiveness and evidentiary value of the CB-CFT versus treatment without risk stratification

The effect of the CB-CFT compared to treatment without risk stratification is described in one study (Vibe Fersum 2013).

An overview of the results in the short term and long term that could be pooled is depicted in the following tables.

### GRADE evidence profile of the studies on treatment with risk stratification according to the CB-CFT versus treatment without risk stratification in the short term ( $\leq 4$ months) (taken from the NICE guideline)

RCT's ( <i>n</i> )	Quality asse	Quality assessment (down-grading)						f results	Eviden-	Type of
	Study design and	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion <sup>2</sup>	Publica- tion bias	Patients ( <i>n</i> )		Effect size (95% Cl)	tiary value	out- come
	execution (RoB) <sup>1</sup>					I	C			measure
Qualit	y of life; PCS									
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	crucial
Qualit	y of life; MCS									
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	crucial
Pain (\	/AS, 0-10)									
1	very severe	not severe	not severe	severe	not deter- mined	51	43	MD -2.1 (-2.83; -1.37)	very low	crucial
Physic	al functioning	g (ODI 0-100)		1		1				
1	very severe	not severe	not severe	severe	not deter- mined	51	43	MD -10,9 (-13.94; -7.86)	very low	crucial
Work-	related outco	mes³	1	1	1			1		
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Undes	irable effects	3		·	·					
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

 $\sim$ 

#### $\checkmark$

В

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; PCS = Physical Component Score; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RoB = risk of bias; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Downgraded by 1 increment if the majority of the evidence was at high risk of bias and downgraded by 2 increments if the majority of the evidence was at very high risk of bias. <sup>2</sup> Downgraded by 1 increment if the confidence interval crossed one MID or by 2 increments if the confidence interval crossed both MIDs. <sup>3</sup> This outcome measure was not included by NICE, but was added in consultation with the guideline panel.

**Note:** A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

### GRADE evidence profile of the studies on treatment with risk stratification according to the CB-CFT versus treatment without risk stratification in the long term (> 4 months) (taken from the NICE guideline)

RCT's ( <i>n</i> )	Quality asse	ssment (dow	n-grading)			Sumn	nary of	f results	Eviden- Type			
(n)	Study design and	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion <sup>2</sup>	Publica- tion bias	Patients ( <i>n</i> )		Effect size (95% Cl)	tiary value	out- come measure		
	execution (RoB) <sup>1</sup>					I	C			lineusure		
Qualit	y of life; PCS											
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	crucial		
Qualit	y of life; MCS											
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	crucial		
Pain (	VAS, 0-10)	•										
1	very severe	not severe	not severe	severe	not deter- mined	51	43	MD -1.5 (-2.33; -0.67)	very low	crucial		
Physic	al functioning	g (ODI 0-100)	1	1	1			1	1	L		
1	very severe	not severe	not severe	severe	not deter- mined	51	43	MD -9,8 (-14.21; -5.39)	very low	crucial		
Work-	related outco	mes (number	of patients t	hat missed at	least 1 day o	f work	due to	back pain) <sup>3</sup>				
1	very severe	not severe	not severe	severe	not deter- mined	51	43	RR 0.60 (0.37; 0.96)	very low	impor- tant		
Undes	irable effects	3										
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A			

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; PCS = Pain Component Score; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RR = risk ratio; RoB = risk of bias; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Downgraded by 1 increment if the majority of the evidence was at high risk of bias and downgraded by 2 increments if the majority of the evidence was at very high risk of bias. <sup>2</sup> Downgraded by 1 increment if the confidence interval crossed one MID or by 2 increments if the confidence interval crossed both MIDs. <sup>3</sup> This outcome measure was not included by NICE, but was added in consultation with the guideline panel.

**Note:** A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

#### Effectiveness and evidentiary value of the SBST versus treatment without risk stratification

The effect of stratification with SBST compared to usual care (treatment without risk stratification) is described in three studies (Beneciuk 2015; Cherkin 2018; Hill 2011).

An overview of the results in the short term and long term that could be pooled is depicted in the following tables.

#### GRADE evidence profile of the studies on treatment with risk stratification according to the SBST versus treatment without risk stratification in the short term ( $\leq 4$ months)

RCT's (n)	Quality asse	Quality assessment (down-grading)						results	Eviden-	Type of
	Study design and	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion <sup>2</sup>	Publica- tion bias	Patients ( <i>n</i> )		Effect size (95% CI)	tiary value	out- come measure
	execution (RoB)					1	C			

Quality of life (SF-12, PCS 0-100)

1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	568	283	MD 2.30 (0.42; 4.16)	moder- ate	crucial
---	---------------------	---------------	---------------	---------------	---------------------	-----	-----	-------------------------	---------------	---------

#### Quality of life (SF-12, MCS 0-100)

1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not	not	not	not deter-	568	283	MD 0.00	moder-	crucial
		severe	severe	severe	mined			(-1.58; 1.58)	ate	

#### Pain (VAS/NPRS, 0-10)3

3	severe¹	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	1339	1196	MD -0.54 (-0.77; -0.31)	moder- ate	crucial
---	---------	---------------	---------------	---------------	---------------------	------	------	----------------------------	---------------	---------

#### Physical functioning (ODI RMDQ 0-100/0-24)

3	severe <sup>1</sup>	not	not	not	not deter-	1339	1196	SMD -0.15	moder-	crucial
		severe	severe	severe	mined			(-0.23; -0.07)	ate	

#### Work-related outcomes (number of absenteeism hours due to back pain)

1	very severe²	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	350	461	MD 1.37 (-0.13; 2.88)	very low	impor- tant
---	-----------------	---------------	---------------	---------------------	---------------------	-----	-----	--------------------------	-------------	----------------

#### Undesirable effects (single serious morbidity or event)

1	very severe²	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not severe	not deter- mined	568	283	0	very low	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RMDQ = Roland Morris Low Back Pain and Disability Questionnaire; RoB = risk of bias; SF-12 = 12-Item Short Form Health Survey; SMD = standardized mean difference; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 2 levels because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and performance bias. <sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to the varied and imprecise descriptions of the measurement methods. 4 Down-graded by 1 level because the 95% Cl exceeds no effect and a clinically relevant effect (broad confidence interval).

Note: A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

## GRADE evidence profile of the studies on treatment based on SBST versus treatment without risk stratification in the long term (> 4 months)

RCT's ( <i>n</i> )	Quality asse	ssment (dow	n-grading)			Summ	nary o	f results	Type of	
(n)	Study design and	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion <sup>2</sup>	Publica- tion bias	Patients ( <i>n</i> )		Effect size (95% Cl)	tiary value	out- come measure
	execution (RoB)					I	C	-		
Qualit	y of life (SF-12	e, PCS 0-100)								
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	568	283	MD 2.30 (0.73; 3.87)	moder- ate	crucial
Qualit	y of life (SF-12	e, MCS 0-100)								
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	568	283	MD 0.50 (-1.39; 2.39)	moder- ate	crucial
Pain (	VAS/NPRS, 0-1	0)								
2	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	1258	1147	MD -0.02 (-0.28; -0.24)	moder- ate	crucial
Physic	al functioning	g (RMDQ, 0-24	r)							
2	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	1258	1147	MD -0.12 (-0.69; -0.16)	moder- ate	crucial
Physic	al functioning	g (RMDQ, 0-24	r)		- I	•				
1	very severe²	not severe	not severe	severe4	not deter- mined	896	721	MD -7.80 (-12.25; -3.35) (n = 851; number of absenteeism days) MD 1.37 (-0.13; 2.88) (n = 766; number of absenteeism days)	very low	impor- tant

1	very	not	severe <sup>3</sup>	not	not deter-	568	283	0	very	
	severe <sup>2</sup>	severe		severe	mined				low	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RMDQ = Roland Morris Low Back Pain and Disability Questionnaire; RoB = risk of bias; SF-12 = 12-Item Short Form Health Survey; SMD = standardized mean difference; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 2 levels because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and performance bias. <sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to the varied and imprecise descriptions of the measurement methods. <sup>4</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because the 95% CI exceeds no effect and a clinically relevant effect (broad confidence interval).

Note: A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.
## **Considerations**

To answer the clinical question, other considerations were also included in the literature to recommendation process in addition to the literature. Together they determine the direction and strength of the recommendation. The assessment of considerations and the explanation per classification system are provided in appendix B.2.1–5.

#### References

- Alonso-Coello P, Oxman AD, Moberg J, Brignardello-Petersen R, Akl EA, Davoli M, Treweek S, Mustafa RA, Vandvik PO, Meerpohl J, Guyatt GH, Schunemann HJ, Group GW. GRADE Evidence to Decision (EtD) frameworks: a systematic and transparent approach to making well informed healthcare choices. 2: Clinical practice guidelines. BMJ. 2016a;353:i2089.
- Alonso-Coello P, Schunemann HJ, Moberg J, Brignardello-Petersen R, Akl EA, Davoli M, Treweek S, Mustafa RA, Rada G, Rosenbaum S, Morelli A, Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Group GW. GRADE Evidence to Decision (EtD) frameworks: a systematic and transparent approach to making well informed healthcare choices. 1: Introduction. BMJ. 2016b;353:i2016.
- Alrwaily M, Timko M, Schneider M, Stevans J, Bise C, Hariharan K, Delitto A. Treatment-based classification system for low back pain: revision and update. Phys Ther. 2016;96(7):1057–66.
- Apeldoorn AT, Bosmans JE, Ostelo RW, de Vet HC, van Tulder MW. Cost-effectiveness of a classification-based system for sub-acute and chronic low back pain. Eur Spine J. 2012a;21(7):1290-300.
- Apeldoorn AT, Kamper SJ. Commentary: The assessment of the quality of reliabilitystudies. Phys Ther Rev. 2014;19(5).
- Apeldoorn AT, Ostelo RW, van Helvoirt H, Fritz JM, Knol DL, van Tulder MW, de Vet HC. A randomized controlled trial on the effectiveness of a classification–based system for subacute and chronic low back pain. Spine. 2012b;37(16):1347–56.
- Balasubramaniam A, Bharathi M. Effect of motor control exercises on psychological variables in chronic low back pain in computer professionals. Int J Pharma Bio Sci. 2016;7(4):B490–B4.
- Barone GB, Hergenroeder AL, Perdomo SJ, Kowalsky RJ, Delitto A, Jakicic JM. Reducing sedentary behaviour to decrease chronic low back pain: the stand back randomised trial. Occup Environ Med. 2018;75(5):321–7.
- Belache FTC, Souza CP, Fernandez J, Castro J, Ferreira PDS, Rosa ERS, Araujo NCG, Reis FJJ, Almeida RS, Nogueira LAC, Correia LCL, Meziat–Filho N. Trial Protocol: Cognitive functional therapy compared with combined manual therapy and motor control exercise for people with non–specific chronic low back pain: protocol for a randomised, controlled trial. J Physiother. 2018;64(3):192.
- Bello B. Effectiveness of STaRT Approach in Reducing Functional Disability and Pain in Individuals with Chronic Non-specific Low Back Pain. Nigeria: Pan African Clinical Trials Registry; 2017. Available at: https://pactr.samrc.ac.za/TrialDisplay.aspx?TrialID=1976. Accessed 27 June 2019.
- Bello B, Bichi MS. Comparative effects of Stratified Back care approaches in individuals with nonspecific low back pain. Physiotherapy (India). 2018;12(2):63–72.
- Beneciuk JM, Fritz JM, George SZ. The STarT Back Screening Tool for prediction of 6-month clinical outcomes: relevance of change patterns in outpatient physical therapy settings. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2014;44(9):656–64.
- Beneciuk JM, George SZ. Pragmatic Implementation of a Stratified Primary Care Model for Low Back Pain Management in Outpatient Physical Therapy Settings: Two-Phase, Sequential Preliminary Study. Phys Ther. 2015;95(8):1120-34.

- Bier JD, Ostelo R, van Hooff ML, Koes BW, Verhagen AP. Validity and Reproducibility of the STarT Back Tool (Dutch Version) in Patients With Low Back Pain in Primary Care Settings. Phys Ther. 2017;97(5):561–70.
- Bier JD, Sandee-Geurts JJW, Ostelo R, Koes BW, Verhagen AP. Can Primary Care for Back and/or Neck Pain in the Netherlands Benefit From Stratification for Risk Groups According to the STarT Back Tool Classification? Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2018;99(1):65–71.
- Brennan GP, Fritz JM, Hunter SJ, Thackeray A, Delitto A, Erhard RE. Identifying subgroups of patients with acute/subacute 'nonspecific' low back pain: results of a randomized clinical trial. Spine. 2006;31(6):623–31.
- Cherkin D, Balderson B, Brewer G, Cook A, Estlin KT, Evers SC, Foster NE, Hill JC, Hawkes R, Hsu C, Jensen M, LaPorte AM, Levine MD, Piekara D, Rock P, Sherman K, Sowden G, Wellman R, Yeoman J. Evaluation of a risk-stratification strategy to improve primary care for low back pain: the MATCH cluster randomized trial protocol. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2016;17(1):361.
- Cherkin D, Balderson B, Wellman R, Hsu C, Sherman KJ, Evers SC, Hawkes R, Cook A, Levine MD,
   Piekara D, Rock P, Estlin KT, Brewer G, Jensen M, LaPorte AM, Yeoman J, Sowden G, Hill JC, Foster
   NE. Effect of low back pain risk-stratification strategy on patient outcomes and care processes:
   the MATCH randomized trial in primary care. J Gen Intern Med. 2018;33(8):1324–36.
- Chiarotto A, Deyo RA, Terwee CB, Boers M, Buchbinder R, Corbin TP, Costa LO, Foster NE, Grotle M, Koes BW, Kovacs FM, Lin CW, Maher CG, Pearson AM, Peul WC, Schoene ML, Turk DC, van Tulder MW, Ostelo RW. Core outcome domains for clinical trials in non–specific low back pain. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(6):1127–42.
- de Campos TF. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management NICE Guideline [NG59]. J Physiother. 2017;63(2):120.
- Delitto A, Erhard RE, Bowling RW. A treatment-based classification approach to low back syndrome: identifying and staging patients for conservative treatment. Phys Ther. 1995;75(6):470–85; discussion 85–9.
- Engers A, Jellema P, Wensing M, van der Windt DA, Grol R, van Tulder MW. Individual patient education for low back pain. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2008(1):CD004057.
- Fairbank J, Gwilym SE, France JC, Daffner SD, Dettori J, Hermsmeyer J, Andersson G. The role of classification of chronic low back pain. Spine. 2011;36(21 Suppl):S19–42.
- Flavell CA, Gordon S, Marshman L, Watt K. Inter-raterreliability of classification systems in chronic low back painpopulations. Phys Ther Rev. 2014;19(3):204–12.
- Foster NE, Mullis R, Hill JC, Lewis M, Whitehurst DG, Doyle C, Konstantinou K, Main C, Somerville S, Sowden G, Wathall S, Young J, Hay EM, team IMBS. Effect of stratified care for low back pain in family practice (IMPaCT Back): a prospective population–based sequential comparison. Ann Fam Med. 2014;12(2):102–11.
- Fritz JM, Delitto A, Erhard RE. Comparison of classification-based physical therapy with therapy based on clinical practice guidelines for patients with acute low back pain: a randomized clinical trial. Spine. 2003;28(13):1363–71; discussion 72.
- Higgins JPT, Green S. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011a [updated March 2011]. Version 5.1.0. Available at: www.cochrane-handbook.org. Accessed 27 June 2019.
- Higgins JPT, Green S. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available at: www.cochrane-handbook. org 2011b.

- Hill JC, Dunn KM, Lewis M, Mullis R, Main CJ, Foster NE, Hay EM. A primary care back pain screening
  - tool: identifying patient subgroups for initial treatment. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;59(5):632–41.
  - Hill JC, Whitehurst DG, Lewis M, Bryan S, Dunn KM, Foster NE, Konstantinou K, Main CJ, Mason E, Somerville S, Sowden G, Vohora K, Hay EM. Comparison of stratified primary care management for low back pain with current best practice (STarT Back): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet (London, England). 2011;378(9802):1560–71.
  - ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain. The ICHOM standard set for low back pain. Boston, United States of America: International Consortium For Health Outcomes Measurements; 2017 [updated August 24th, 2017]. Version 2.0.3. Available at: https://www. ichom.org/portfolio/low-back-pain/. Accessed 27 June 2019.
  - Kent P, O'Sullivan P, Smith AD, Haines T, Campbell A, McGregor AH, Hartvigsen J, O'Sullivan K, Vickery A, Caneiro JP, Schutze R, Laird RA, Attwell S, Hancock M. RESTORE–Cognitive functional therapy with or without movement sensor biofeedback versus usual care for chronic, disabling low back pain: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open. 2019;9(8):e031133.
  - Morso L, Kongsted A, Hestbaek L, Kent P. The prognostic ability of the STarT Back Tool was affected by episode duration. Eur Spine J. 2016;25(3):936–44.
  - Morso L, Schiottz-Christensen B, Sondergaard J, Andersen NV, Pedersen F, Olsen KR, Jensen MS, Hill J, Christiansen DH. The effectiveness of a stratified care model for non-specific low back pain in Danish primary care compared to current practice: study protocol of a randomised controlled trial. Trials. 2018;19(1):315.
  - Murphy SE, Blake C, Power CK, Fullen BM. Comparison of a stratified group intervention (STarT Back) with usual group care in patients with low back pain: a nonrandomized controlled trial. Spine. 2016;41(8):645–52.
  - Ng L, Caneiro JP, Campbell A, Smith A, Burnett A, O'Sullivan P. Cognitive functional approach to manage low back pain in male adolescent rowers: a randomised controlled trial. Br J Sports Med. 2015;49(17):1125–31.
  - O'Keeffe M, O'Sullivan P, Purtill H, Bargary N, O'Sullivan K. Cognitive functional therapy compared with a group-based exercise and education intervention for chronic low back pain: a multicentre randomised controlled trial (RCT). Br J Sports Med. 2019.
  - O'Keeffe M, Purtill H, Kennedy N, O'Sullivan P, Dankaerts W, Tighe A, Allworthy L, Dolan L, Bargary N, O'Sullivan K. Individualised cognitive functional therapy compared with a combined exercise and pain education class for patients with non-specific chronic low back pain: study protocol for a multicentre randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open. 2015;5(6):e007156.
  - O'Sullivan P. Diagnosis and classification of chronic low back pain disorders: maladaptive movement and motor control impairments as underlying mechanism. Man Ther. 2005;10(4):242–55.
  - O'Sullivan PB, Caneiro JP, O'Keeffe M, Smith A, Dankaerts W, Fersum K, O'Sullivan K. Cognitive functional therapy: an integrated behavioral approach for the targeted management of disabling low back pain. Phys Ther. 2018;98(5):408–23.
  - Ostelo RW, Deyo RA, Stratford P, Waddell G, Croft P, Von Korff M, Bouter LM, de Vet HC. Interpreting change scores for pain and functional status in low back pain: towards international consensus regarding minimal important change. Spine. 2008;33(1):90–4.
  - Riis A, Jensen CE, Bro F, Maindal HT, Petersen KD, Bendtsen MD, Jensen MB. A multifaceted implementation strategy versus passive implementation of low back pain guidelines in general practice: a cluster randomised controlled trial. Implement Sci. 2016;11(1):143.

- Schaafstra A, Spinnewijn W, Bons S, Borg M, Koes B, Ostelo R, Spijker-Huiges A, Burgers J, Bouma M, Verburg A. NHG-standaard lumbosacraal radiculair syndroom (teede herziening). Huisarts Wet. 2015;58(6):308-20.
- Verburg AC, van Dulmen SA, Kiers H, Nijhuis-van der Sanden MWG, van der Wees PJ. Development of a standard set of outcome measures for non-specific low back pain in Dutch primary care physiotherapy practices: a Delphi study. Eur Spine J. 2019.
- Vibe Fersum K, O'Sullivan P, Skouen JS, Smith A, Kvale A. Efficacy of classification-based cognitive functional therapy in patients with non-specific chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. Eur J Pain. 2013;17(6):916–28.
- Vibe Fersum K, Smith A, Kvale A, Skouen JS, O'Sullivan P. Cognitive functional therapy in patients with non-specific chronic low back pain-a randomized controlled trial 3-year follow-up. Eur J Pain. 2019.
- Werneke MW, Edmond S, Young M, Grigsby D, McClenahan B, McGill T. Directional preference and functional outcomes among subjects classified at high psychosocial risk using STarT. Physiother Res Int. 2018;23(3):e1711.
- Whitehurst DG, Bryan S, Lewis M, Hay EM, Mullis R, Foster NE. Implementing stratified primary care management for low back pain: cost-utility analysis alongside a prospective, population-based, sequential comparison study. Spine. 2015;40(6):405-14.
- Whitehurst DG, Bryan S, Lewis M, Hill J, Hay EM. Exploring the cost-utility of stratified primary care management for low back pain compared with current best practice within risk-defined subgroups. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71(11):1796–802.

## Note B.3 Measurement instruments

# Literature

This question was answered by describing the recommended and optional measurement instruments that can be used during the diagnostic process. The Clinimetric Framework for Evidence-based Products was used for this (KNGF 2016).

The framework concerns a step-by-step plan with which measurement instruments can be selected in a goal-oriented manner in eight steps by means of an iterative process.

- Step 1 What do you want to measure?
- Step 2 Why do you want to measure?
- Step 3 What kind of measurement instrument do you want to use to measure?
- Step 4 How can you find a measurement instrument?
- Step 5 What is the practicability?
- **Step 6** What is the clinimetric quality?
- Step 7 Are standard values available?
- Step 8 How do you calculate and interpret the data?

Then a description is provided that justifies the choice of the measurement instruments.

When answering the clinical question, scientific literature was consulted regarding the development of a set of core measurement instruments for patients with low back pain based on three initiatives (Chiarotto 2018a, ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain 2017; Verburg 2019). All three initiatives were based on a literature review and a formal decision-making and

В

consensus process with patients, healthcare providers, researchers, policy-makers and health insurance companies, whereby the initiative by Chiarotto (Chiarotto 2018a) primarily had the goal of standardising the use of measurement instruments in scientific research, and both initiatives were aimed at the use of measurement instruments in practice (ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain 2017; Verburg 2019).

The guideline differentiates between recommended measurement instruments and optional measurement instruments. It is recommended to use the first set in all patients, unless there is a special reason not to use a specific measurement instrument for a patient. Optional measurement instruments are used if there is a special reason to do so for a patient.

## Literature for step 1 – What do you want to measure?

There is consensus between the sets about the measurement domains 'pain intensity' and 'physical functioning'. In two sets, 'health-related quality of life' is designated as a relevant domain (Chiarotto 2015; ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain 2017); the other set is aimed at a more global evaluation of the recovery from complaints experienced by the patient (Verburg 2019). In one of the three sets, the recommendation is to assess the risk of persistent complaints (Verburg 2019). The guideline panel prioritised measuring the domains 'pain', 'physical functioning' and 'activities and participation' as domains on which to focus the recommended measurement instruments.

The following table compares the selected domains and measurement instruments within the various initiatives.

Domain	(Chiarotto 2018a)	(Verburg 2019)	(ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain 2017)
pain	NPRS	NPRS	NPRS
physical functioning	ODI version 2.1a 24-item RMDQ	ODI* QBPDS PSC	ODI
health-related quality of life	SF12 10-item PROMIS Global Health form	not applicable	EQ-5D
experienced recovery	not applicable	GPE-DV	not applicable
risk of persistent symptoms	not applicable	SBST	not applicable

### Core set of measurement instruments of the various initiatives

EQ-5D = EuroQoI-5D; GPE-DV = Global Perceived Effect; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; ODI = Oswestry Disability Index; PROMIS = Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System Global Health short form; PSC = Patient-Specific Complaints; QBPDS = Quebec Back Pain Disability Scale; RMDQ = Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire; SBST = STarT Back Screening Tool; SF-12 = 12-Item Short Form Health Survey.

\* The ODI was added as a pilot to enable comparison of the psychometric characteristics with the QBPDS.

## Literature for step 2 – Why do you want to measure?

The primary goal of the measurements is diagnostics or to evaluate the treatment.

#### Literature for step 3 – What kind of measurement instrument do you want to use to measure?

The guideline panel opted to assess the specified domains using questionnaires, because these are used the most frequently in daily practice and scientific research, and questionnaires are practicable (see step 5). The guideline panel believes that questionnaires should ideally be combined with a performance or function test, but the guideline panel recognises that no solid instruments are available to satisfy this need.

To facilitate implementation of the guidelines, the KNGF Clinimetric Framework recommends assigning only one or a few measurement instruments to a domain in order to reduce the total number of recommended measurement instruments in a guideline (KNGF 2016).

#### Literature for step 4 – How can you find a measurement instrument?

The recommended and optional measurement instruments are freely available at www.meetinstrumentenzorg.nl.

## Literature for step 5 – What is the practicability for the therapist and the patient?

This step has only been elaborated within the scope of this guideline for the recommended measurement instruments.

# Pain

There is consensus among the three initiatives about the NPRS as a measurement instrument for measuring pain. The NPRS is easy to use. It does not take a lot of time to complete, it barely necessitates any additional expertise or experience on the part of the therapist and requires minimal effort by the patient. De NPRS is available for free for healthcare organisations; a licence is not necessary (ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain 2017). The practicability of the NPRS is deemed to be better than that of the VAS.

### Physical functioning

There is no consensus among the initiatives about the question of which measurement instrument are best to measure the domain 'physical functioning', either the Oswestry Disability Index (ODI), the Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire (RMDQ) or the Quebec Back Pain Disability Scale (QBPDS). The ODI consists of 10 items about the severity of pain, self-sufficiency, lifting, walking, sitting, standing, sleeping, sex life, social life and travel/transport, measured using a six-point scale (o = 'no limitations' and 5 = 'the most limitations'). The total score with a range from 0 to 100 is measured by multiplying the total score of the items by a factor of 2 (a higher score corresponds to more limitations). The original version (Fairbank 1980) has been translated into Dutch (Van Hooff 2015). However, there are multiple versions of the ODI in circulation. In a modified version of the questionnaire, the (modified) Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Questionnaire (Oswestry LBPDQ), the item about sex life has been replaced by an item about work/housework. There is no official Dutch translation of the Oswestry LBPDQ, and the psychometric characteristics of this questionnaire are still largely unknown. That is why, within the scope of this guideline, we assumed the original questionnaire (Fairbank 1980). The most recent version of the English questionnaire (which had not yet been translated when this guideline was developed) is 2.1b. However, the differences are not such that the Dutch translation of version 2.1a (Van Hooff 2015) would not be able to be

used until it has been updated to version 2.1b (see https://eprovide.mapi-trust.org/instruments/ oswestry-disability-index#review\_copy).

The RMDQ is a questionnaire with 24 items about physical functioning with a dichotomous scale (yes/ no). The total score is the sum of all positively scored items and varies from 0 to 24 points. A higher score corresponds to more limitations. The original questionnaire and the translation are public. The original version (Roland 1983) was translated into Dutch by Van der Heijden (van der Heijden 1991; was not investigated further). There are different versions of the RMDQ. The recommendation is to use the RMDQ-24 with the addition 'due to my back or leg problems' (Smeets 2011). The QBPDS has a questionnaire with over 20 items on bed rest, sitting and standing, walking, moving, bending and moving heavy objects, measured on a six-point scale (o = 'no effort' and 5 = 'unable'). The total score is the sum of all items and varies from 0 to 100 points (o = 'no limitations' and 100 = 'completely limited'). The original version (Kopec 1995) has been translated into Dutch (Schoppink 1996).

The ODI, RMDQ and QBPDS are easy to use. They take an average of 5 to 10 minutes to complete and there is almost no additional expertise or experience required on the part of the therapist. Completing the questionnaires does require some mental effort on the part of the patient. The ODI and the QBPDS are freely available for clinicians, but downloading the original questionnaires requires a licence (ODI: see https://eprovide.mapi-trust.org/instruments/oswestrydisability-index; QBPDS: https://eprovide.mapi-trust.org/instruments/quebec-back-paindisability-scale). There are licensing costs associated for IT companies, which may present an obstacle to incorporating the questionnaire in the electronic patient records. No permission is needed for using and reproducing the RMDQ, and there are no costs associated with its use (see http://www.rmdq.org/).

The guideline panel estimates that the ODI, RMDQ and QBPDS are very practicable for therapists and patients. The RMDQ may be a bit more practicable than the ODI and the QBPDS, because no permission is required for its use.

## Activities and participation in ADL

For the activities and participation in ADL domain, the guideline panel added the PSC to one of the sets of core measurement instruments (Verburg 2019). The PSC makes it possible to determine the functional status of the individual patient. The patient selects the three to five most important complaints with regard to physical activities. The patient scores the degree of impairment on a Numeric Pain Rating Scale (NPRS) from 0 to 10 (0 = 'no difficulties' and 10 = 'impossible'). The higher the total score, the more problems experienced when carrying out the activity. A list of activities is available for patients with low back pain as an aid at www.meetinstrumentenzorg.nl. The PSC is easy to use. It does not take a lot of time to complete (Stevens 2013), barely necessitates any additional expertise or experience on the part of the therapist and requires minimal effort by the patient. De PSC is available for free for healthcare organisations; a licence is not necessary. This is an originally Dutch measurement instrument (Beurskens 1999).

The Patient–Specific Goal–setting method (PSG) (Stevens 2017a,b, 2018) is the updated version of the PSC. The PSG can be used as a method to set goals together with the patient, which better integrates goal–setting in THE therapeutic methodical approach. However, training is required to learn to properly apply the PSG, and almost no research has been done (yet) on the clinimetric

quality of the PSG. The guideline panel has therefore decided to include the PSC into the guideline as a recommended measurement instrument and to include the PSG as an alternative as one of the optional measurement instruments.

Literature for step 6 – What is the clinimetric quality of the recommended measurement instruments?

## Pain

Despite the frequent use of the VAS and the NPRS, there is no evidence that clearly suggests that one of the two is superior to the other in patients with low back pain. Research of high methodological quality is needed in which the clinimetric quality of both instruments is compared to each other (Chiarotto 2019).

One constraint of the NPRS is that it can only be used to determine one dimension of pain, specifically pain intensity, one of the core sets of the instrument. This is hence the reason why this term is used in the guideline (Chiarotto 2019). For purposes of uniformity with the previous guideline, it was decided to evaluate the average pain intensity over the past 24 hours.

The guideline panel agrees with the recommendation of an international panel of experts to complete the NPRS for average pain over the past 24 hours.

# **Physical functioning**

For the physical functioning domain, there was no consensus among the initiatives about the selected instrument for the set with core measurement instruments. After this follows the assessment of the clinimetric quality of the three selected measurement instruments: the ODI, the RMDQ and the Quebec Back Pain Disability Scale (QBPDS).

A systematic review on the content and construct validity of the measurement instruments for physical functioning in patients with low back pain concludes that there is a low to very low evidentiary value for the content validity of the 16 examined measurement instruments, including the ODI and the QBPDS (Chiarotto 2018b). For the RMDQ-24, evidence of high quality was found for sufficient comprehensibility and for insufficient comprehensiveness, with the evidentiary value of the relevance being assessed as very low (Chiarotto 2018b). It was also determined that the RMDQ-24 does not measure unidimensionally; the results of the ODI and the QBPDS about the unidimensionality are inconsistent (Chiarotto 2018b).

A narrative literature review concludes that the ODI exhibits a high degree of internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha 0.71 to 0.87) and good test-retest reliability (intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) 0.84, 95% CI 0.73 to 0.91). A measurement error of 4 to 6 was found (Smeets 2011). The reproducibility of the QBPDS is assessed in the same narrative literature review as follows: high degree of internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha 0.90); good test-retest reliability (ICC 0.92) and a measurement error ('minimum detectable change') of 0.84 (95% CI 0.73 to 0.91) (Smeets 2011). The reproducibility of the RMDQ is assessed as follows: high degree of internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha 0.84 to 0.96); moderate test-retest reliability (ICC 0.42–0.53) in a mixed population of acute, subacute and chronic low back pain and a measurement error (SEM) of 3.7 to 4.1.

A narrative literature review concludes that the ODI is responsive in detecting change (AUC > 0.76); conflicting results were found for the QBPDS and the RMDQ (Smeets 2011).

В

The guideline panel notes that based on validity, reproducibility and responsiveness, no clear preference can be stated for the ODI, RMDQ or QBPDS.

Based on practicability and the clinimetric properties, it is not possible to choose one of the selected measurement instruments over the other.

Although the ODI and the QBPDS received more votes during the consensus procedure (78% and 62% of the votes respectively), an international multidisciplinary group of experts for scientific research ultimately chose to include the RMDQ (with only 50% of the votes) in the core set, because this measurement instrument is freely available (Chiarotto 2018a).

Out of a group of experts comprised of patients, patient representatives, researchers, physical therapists, policy-makers and health insurance companies, 80% voted to include the QBPDS in the core set and 64% voted to include the ODI (Verburg 2019). They supposed that the ODI is less customary in the Netherlands. The RMDQ was not included in the vote, because it had already been omitted earlier in the consensus process after being discussed within the project group. The project group only presented a limited number of measurement instruments per domain on which to vote. Additionally, alignment with existing guidelines was sought as much as possible.

The guideline panel believes that – keeping in mind the local context and the importance of consistency in the recommendation of measurement instruments – the QBPDS should be included in the guideline for measuring physical functioning as a recommended measurement instrument.

# Activities and participation in ADL

The responsiveness of the PSC was assessed in a randomised, controlled study in a subgroup of 81 patients with low back pain for at least 6 weeks. (Beurskens 1996). In this study, the PSC was found to be sufficiently responsive (AUC 0.82), and it could properly discriminate between recovered and non-recovered patients.

No research was done on the validity of the Dutch version of the PSC in patients with low back pain. The questionnaire is sufficiently valid for patients with ankle complaints: 100% of the hypotheses were confirmed in a comparison with the Ankle Function Score and the Molander Ankle Score (Van der Wees 2012). For patients with Parkinson's disease, the reliability is variable and dependent on the selected activity; Cohen's Kappa varies from 0.39 to 0.83 (Nijkrake 2009). More research was done on the English variant, the Patient–Specific Functional Scale (PSFS). In a literature review, the PSFS appears to be valid, reliable and responsive in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee (Barten 2012).

# Literature for steps 7 and 8 – Are standard values available and how do you calculate and interpret the data?

The calculation method of each instrument was included in the 'practicability' header and is described at www.meetinstrumentenzorg.nl. The calculation of the total score has been included in most electronic patient records.

Interpretation of the total score is about the degree to which importance can be attributed to the (change in) score of the measurement instrument. A measure such as the minimal clinically relevant difference (MCID) or the minimal important change (MIC) can be applied here (KNGF 2016).<sup>1</sup> There are no standard values known for the PSC. The data about the MIC of the other recommended measurement instruments are based on a literature review, an expert panel and a workshop with the goal of developing practical guidelines for oft-used measurement instruments for pain and physical limitations in patients with low back pain (Ostelo 2008). After discussion, consensus was reached in this study about the following MIC values:

There are some indications that, when taking into account the baseline score, a 30% improvement of the NPRS and/or the QBPDS can be viewed as a useful threshold for identifying a clinically relevant improvement in the individual patient (0stelo 2008).

# Considerations

In accordance with the Framework on Clinimetrics for Evidence–based Products (KNGF 2016), it was first determined which domains or parameters need to be assessed. This is primarily based on items that were found to be important in the medical history taking, the physical examination and the indication assessment. Based on this, recommended and optional measurement instruments were selected. See the substantiations of this module (note B.3) for an overview of the parameters. The optional measurement instruments can be selected based on clinical reasoning, to support the diagnostic process or for evaluation purposes, if there is a specific reason for this. For more information about the practicability, clinimetric quality and interpretation of the results of the optional measurement instruments, please refer to www.meetinstrumentenzorg.nl.

#### References

- Beurskens AJ, de Vet HC, Koke AJ, Lindeman E, van der Heijden GJ, Regtop W, Knipschild PG. A patient–specific approach for measuring functional status in low back pain. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 1999;22(3):144–8.
- Beurskens AJ, de Vet HC, Koke AJ. Responsiveness of functional status in low back pain: a comparison of different instruments. Pain. 1996;65(1):71–6.
- Chiarotto A, Boers M, Deyo RA, Buchbinder R, Corbin TP, Costa LOP, Foster NE, Grotle M, Koes BW,
   Kovacs FM, Lin CC, Maher CG, Pearson AM, Peul WC, Schoene ML, Turk DC, van Tulder MW, Terwee
   CB, Ostelo RW. Core outcome measurement instruments for clinical trials in nonspecific low
   back pain. Pain. 2018a;159(3):481–95.
- Chiarotto A, Deyo RA, Terwee CB, Boers M, Buchbinder R, Corbin TP, Costa LO, Foster NE, Grotle M, Koes BW, Kovacs FM, Lin CW, Maher CG, Pearson AM, Peul WC, Schoene ML, Turk DC, van Tulder MW, Ostelo RW. Core outcome domains for clinical trials in non-specific low back pain. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(6):1127–42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Measures for interpretation (such as the MCID and MIC) are often obtained based on data at the group level. When applying this in practice, the usability may therefore be limited, given that a value that has been obtained at the group level has to be translated to the individual level. Nevertheless, the score on the instrument gives an indication of the individual change in health status. When interpreting the score, floor and ceiling effects must also be taken into account, as these influence the possibility for improvement.

- Chiarotto A, Maxwell LJ, Ostelo RW, Boers M, Tugwell P, Terwee CB. Measurement properties of visual analogue scale, numeric rating scale, and pain severity subscale of the brief pain inventory in patients with low back pain: a systematic review. J Pain. 2019;20(3):245–63.
- Chiarotto A, Ostelo RW, Boers M, Terwee CB. A systematic review highlights the need to investigate the content validity of patient-reported outcome measures for physical functioning in patients with low back pain. J Clin Epidemiol. 2018b;95:73–93.
- Fairbank JC, Couper J, Davies JB, O'Brien JP. The Oswestry low back pain disability questionnaire. Physiotherapy. 1980;66(8):271–3.
- ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain. The ICHOM Standard Set for Low Back Pain. Boston, United States of America: International Consortium For Health Outcomes Measurements; 2017 [updated August 24th, 2017]. Version 2.0.3. Available at: https://www. ichom.org/portfolio/low-back-pain/. Accessed 27 June 2019.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). Raamwerk klinimetrie voor evidence based products. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2016. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/binaries/content/ assets/kennisplatform/onbeveiligd/klinimetrie/raamwerk-klinimetrie-november-2016-def.pdf.
- Kopec JA, Esdaile JM, Abrahamowicz M, Abenhaim L, Wood–Dauphinee S, Lamping DL, Williams JI. The Quebec back pain disability scale. Measurement properties. Spine. 1995;20(3):341–52.
- Nijkrake MJ, Keus SH, Quist–Anholts GW, Overeem S, de Roode MH, Lindeboom R, Mulleners W, Bloem BR, Munneke M. Evaluation of a Patient–Specific Index as an outcome measure for physiotherapy in Parkinson's disease. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2009;45(4):507–12.
- Ostelo RW, Deyo RA, Stratford P, Waddell G, Croft P, von Korff M, Bouter LM, de Vet HC. Interpreting change scores for pain and functional status in low back pain: towards international consensus regarding minimal important change. Spine. 2008;33(1):90–4.
- Roland M, Morris R. A study of the natural history of back pain. Part I: development of a reliable and sensitive measure of disability in low-back pain. Spine. 1983;8(2):141–4.
- Schoppink LE, van Tulder MW, Koes BW, Beurskens SA, de Bie RA. Reliability and validity of the Dutch adaptation of the Quebec Back Pain Disability Scale. Phys Ther. 1996;76(3):268–75.
- Smeets R, Koke A, Lin CW, Ferreira M, Demoulin C. Measures of function in low back pain/disorders: Low Back Pain Rating Scale (LBPRS), Oswestry Disability Index (ODI), Progressive Isoinertial Lifting Evaluation (PILE), Quebec Back Pain Disability Scale (QBPDS), and Roland–Morris Disability Questionnaire (RDQ). Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63 Suppl 11:S158–73.
- Stevens A, Beurskens A, Koke A, van der Weijden T. The use of patient-specific measurement instruments in the process of goal-setting: a systematic review of available instruments and their feasibility. Clin Rehabil. 2013;27(11):1005–19.
- Stevens A, Koke A, van der Weijden T, Beurskens A. Ready for goal setting? Process evaluation of a patient-specific goal-setting method in physiotherapy. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017a;17(1):618.
- Stevens A, Koke A, van der Weijden T, Beurskens A. The development of a patient–specific method for physiotherapy goal setting: a user–centered design. Disabil Rehabil. 2018;40(17):2048–55.
- Stevens A, Moser A, Koke A, van der Weijden T, Beurskens A. The use and perceived usefulness of a patient-specific measurement instrument in physiotherapy goal setting. A qualitative study. Musculoskeletal science & practice. 2017b;27:23-31.van der Wees P, Hendriks E, van Beers H, van Rijn R, Dekker J, de Bie R. Validity and responsiveness of the ankle function score after acute ankle injury. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2012;22(2):170-4.
- van Hooff ML, Spruit M, Fairbank JC, van Limbeek J, Jacobs WC. The Oswestry Disability Index (version 2.1a): validation of a Dutch language version. Spine. 2015;40(2):E83–90.

Verburg AC, van Dulmen SA, Kiers H, Nijhuis-van der Sanden MWG, van der Wees PJ. Development of a standard set of outcome measures for non-specific low back pain in Dutch primary care physiotherapy practices: a Delphi study. Eur Spine J. 2019.

# Note C.1 Information and advice and (pain) education

### References

- Almeida M, Saragiotto B, Richards B, Maher CG. Primary care management of non-specific low back pain: key messages from recent clinical guidelines. Med J Aust. 2018;208(6):272–5.
- Hasenbring MI, Pincus T. Effective reassurance in primary care of low back pain: what messages from clinicians are most beneficial at early stages? Clin J Pain. 2015;31(2):133–6.
- Hurley J, O'Keeffe M, O'Sullivan P, Ryan C, McCreesh K, O'Sullivan K. Effect of education on nonspecific neck and low back pain: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Man Ther. 2016;23:e1–2.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn Lage rugpijn. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2013. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/lagerugpijn. Accessed 27 June 2019.
- Lim YZ, Chou L, Au RT, Seneviwickrama KMD, Cicuttini FM, Briggs AM, Sullivan K, Urquhart DM, Wluka AE. People with low back pain want clear, consistent and personalised information on prognosis, treatment options and self-management strategies: a systematic review. J Physiother. 2019;65(3):124-35.
- Lin I, Wiles L, Waller R, Goucke R, Nagree Y, Gibberd M, Straker L, Maher CG, O'Sullivan PPB. What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. Br J Sports Med. 2019.
- Nederlandse Vereniging voor Neurologie. Lumbosacraal Radiculair Syndroom (LRS) 2020. Available at: https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/richtlijn/lumbosacraal\_radiculair\_syndroom\_lrs/ startpagina\_-\_lrs.html. Accessed 23 January 2021.
- NHG-Werkgroep Standaard Aspecifieke lagerugpijn. NHG-standaard aspecifieke lagerugpijn (tweede herziening). Huisarts Wet. 2017;60(2):78-84.
- Oliveira CB, Maher CG, Pinto RZ, Traeger AC, Lin CC, Chenot JF, van Tulder M, Koes BW. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of non-specific low back pain in primary care: an updated overview. Eur Spine J. 2018;27(11):2791–803.
- Perez RSGM, Dalen-Kok AH, van Giesberts MG, Hout JHC, van den Keizer D, Köke AJA, Nitert L, Schiere S, Smeets RJEM, Thomassen-Hilgersom IL. Zorgstandaard chronische pijn. Leiden: Vereniging Samenwerkingsverband Pijnpatiënten naar één stem; 2017. Available at: https://www.zorginzicht.nl/binaries/content/assets/zorginzicht/kwaliteitsinstrumenten/ Zorgstandaard+Chronische+Pijn.pdf.
- Stochkendahl MJ, Kjaer P, Hartvigsen J, Kongsted A, Aaboe J, Andersen M, Andersen MO, Fournier G, Hojgaard B, Jensen MB, Jensen LD, Karbo T, Kirkeskov L, Melbye M, Morsel-Carlsen L, Nordsteen J, Palsson TS, Rasti Z, Silbye PF, Steiness MZ, Tarp S, Vaagholt M. National clinical guidelines for non-surgical treatment of patients with recent onset low back pain or lumbar radiculopathy. Eur Spine J. 2018;27(1):60–75.
- Traeger AC, O'Hagan ET, Cashin A, McAuley JH. Reassurance for patients with non-specific conditions a user's guide. Braz J Phys Ther. 2017;21(1):1–6.

- Van Wambeke P, Desomer A, Ailliet L, Berquin A, Demoulin C, Depreitere B, Dewachter J, Dolphens M, Forget P, Fraselle V, Hans G, Hoste D, Mahieu G, Michielsen J, Nielens H, Orban T, Parlevliet T, Simons E, Tobbackx Y, Van Schaeybroeck P, Van Zundert J, Vanderstraeten J, Vlaeyen J, Jonckheer P. Low back pain and radicular pain: assessment and management. Brussel: Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre (KCE); 2017. Available at: https://biblio.ugent.be/publication/8520932/file/8520933. Accessed 27 June 2019.
- Van Wambeke P, Desomer A, Jonckheer P, Depreitere B. The Belgian national guideline on low back pain and radicular pain: key roles for rehabilitation, assessment of rehabilitation potential and the PRM specialist. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2019;23.

## Note C.2.1 Exercise therapy interventions

### Literature

To answer the clinical question, a systematic literature analysis was carried out for the following research question (PICO):

- What are the desirable and undesirable effects (0) of exercise therapy (I) versus no exercise therapy or another form of exercise therapy (C) in patients with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (P)?

'No exercise therapy' is subdivided into: 1) doing nothing/waiting, 2) placebo/sham, 3) another intervention within the guideline (including information and advice, (pain) education, CGT).

# Search

In order to answer the clinical question about exercise therapy, an overview article of systematic reviews about exercise therapy in patients with chronic low back pain was used (Almeida 2020). The studies in this literature review were checked using our pre-established selection criteria. See the following table.

Type of studies	Systematic review (possibly as a part of a guideline), published in English or Dutch
Type of patients	Adults with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (see <u>A.1 'Introduction'</u> ) <b>Exclusion:</b> Systematic reviews focused on one specific population, such as 'the elderly'
Type of intervention	Exercise therapy, individual or in a group setting, supervised or unsupervised, or exercise therapy as a supplement to information and advice <b>Exclusion:</b> Back school, tai-chi, pilates, yoga, swim or walking therapy, Feldenkrais*, invasive interventions (operations, epidural, facet blockade/injections), pelvic floor exercise therapy, exercise therapy as part of a multidisciplinary programme
Type of comparison	Do nothing/wait, placebo/sham, another intervention according to the guideline (including information and advice, (pain) education, cognitive behavioural therapy; CGT), another type of exercise therapy

Selection criteria for the search on literature about the effect of exercise therapy on chronic low back pain

 $\checkmark$ 

С

 $\checkmark$ 

Type of outcome	<ul> <li>At least one of the following outcome measures:</li> <li>desirable: <ul> <li>crucial: quality of life, pain, physical functioning</li> <li>important: work-related outcomes</li> </ul> </li> <li>undesirable: <ul> <li>all negative effects that might be related to the intervention</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Type of timeline	Short (≤4 months) and/or long (>4 months) term; in the event of multiple measure- ment points, the measurement point that is closest to this time indication applies

\* Pilates and Feldenkrais do not fall within the physical therapy domain. Pilates: Exercise therapy according to the original six pilates principles: breathing, concentration, control, precision, center and flow. Feldenkrais: 'By increasing our awareness of our movements, the Feldenkrais Method brings us closer to realising our full human potential' (Dutch Feldenkrais Association).

Additionally, it was assessed whether the systematic reviews that were excluded by Almeida based on 'not chronic' possibly did meet our inclusion criteria. Finally, we updated Almeida's search (the flowchart of this process has been included in appendix C.2.1–1).

Pain and physical functioning were selected for this clinical question as crucial outcome measures for the decision-making process (Chiarotto 2015; ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain 2017; Verburg 2019). Furthermore, we studied the available literature for a representation of undesirable effects of exercise therapy by assessing all negative effects that may be related to the intervention (e.g. increased pain and/or limitations in physical functioning, or pain and/ or limitations in physical functioning of a type other than the kind for which one initially sought help, occurring immediately after the intervention). The results of the identified systematic reviews were analysed and descriptively summarised.

In order to limit an overlap of results between various systematic reviews, the results of the most recent literature reviews with the highest methodological quality according to the AMSTAR-2 score (Shea 2017) were described for each type of exercise therapy. The AMSTAR-2 score established by Almeida was used. For the additional systematic reviews, the AMSTAR-2 score was determined by NS according to Almeida's criteria (see appendix C.2.1-4).

Data about the evidentiary value and the reported estimated effects were extracted from the included systematic reviews. See <u>A.1 'Introduction'</u> for an indication of the clinical relevance of the difference between the intervention and the control group. These values are commensurate with those in the guideline of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (De Campos 2017) and the KNGF Guideline on Rheumatoid Arthritis (KNGF 2018).

Almeida included 38 systematic reviews, of which 20 met our selection criteria. Of the 29 systematic reviews excluded by Almeida, two did meet our criteria. Based on the updated search, we included 11 recent systematic reviews (see appendix C.2.1–1 for the flowchart of the updated search). The total number of analysed systematic reviews therefore amounts to 33 (general: n = 15; Motor Control Exercise (MCE): n = 12; MDT: n = 6).

# The effectiveness and evidentiary value of exercise therapy

The effectiveness of exercise therapy in general is described in 15 systematic reviews (Chou 2016; Cuenca–Martinez 2018; De Campos 2017; Dvorak 2011; Gordon 2016; Hayden 2005, 2019; Hettinga 2007; Hilde 1998; Kool 2004; Lewis 2005; Liddle 2004; Merepeza 2014; Searle 2015; Slade 2006), of which four are described, after careful selection (Chou 2016; De Campos 2017; Hayden 2005, 2019). The most recent literature review concerns a meta–analysis of individual patient data (Hayden

2019) which was conducted in parallel with an update of a Cochrane review (Hayden 2005). In this review, the effectiveness of exercise therapy was compared to no exercise therapy or other conservative treatment based on individual data from randomised controlled studies with a moderate to low risk of bias in patients with chronic low back pain with or without sciatica (Hayden 2019). The AMSTAR-2 score of this systematic review is 'high' (see appendix C.2.1-5). In addition, two systematic reviews were identified with a 'reasonable' AMSTAR-2 score (Chou 2016; Hayden 2005). The most recent review with a reasonable methodological quality concerns the literature review within the scope of revising the guideline for non-pharmacological therapies for low back pain that was conducted on behalf of the American College of Physicians (APC) and the American Pain Society (APS) (Chou 2016, 2017). For this research, systematic reviews and RCTs up to February 2016 were sought. The results are described based on the literature review within the scope of the previous guideline of the APC/APS (Chou 2007), supplemented by results of a literature review with stricter inclusion criteria (Van Middelkoop 2010) and recent RCTs. The literature review of The Cochrane Collaboration on exercise therapy in patients with non-specific low back pain (Hayden 2005) was also assessed as having 'reasonable methodological quality' according to the AMSTAR-2 score. The study protocols for revising this literature review have been published (Hayden 2012; IJzelenberg 2011). Finally, based on the updated search, a literature review of low methodological quality was identified which was conducted within the scope of a guideline of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) on the non-invasive treatments of low back pain and sciatica (De Campos 2017). The literature review is aimed at patients with low back pain with or without sciatica without the most important warning signs and does not stratify based on chronicity. With this the population is best aligned with the population of our guideline. The meta-analysis of individual patient data is exclusively aimed at chronic low back pain (Hayden 2019), and the studies of reasonable methodological quality stratify the results based on acute, subacute and chronic low back pain (Chou 2016; Hayden 2005). The studies included in the meta-analyses describe a variety of exercise therapies (e.g. strength training, core strengthening, aerobics, Mechanical Diagnosis and Therapy (MDT) according to McKenzie and combined exercise therapy), from individual to group and from personalised exercise therapy to standardised exercise therapy (Hayden 2005, 2019) and strength training, stretching, range-of-motion exercises, motor control exercises (including core stability and Pilates), MDT and the Feldenkrais method (De Campos 2017).

Exercise therapy is compared in the systematic reviews with no exercise therapy including usual care (Chou 2016; Hayden 2005, 2019), or with no exercise therapy and usual care independent of each other (De Campos 2017) and with another conservative treatment (e.g. a combination of information and advice, back classes, manual therapy and psychological therapy (Hayden 2005, 2019) or with self-management, manual therapy or interference (De Campos 2017).

## Effectiveness of exercise therapy for acute and subacute low back pain

For exercise therapy compared to no exercise therapy in patients with acute low back pain, very small differences were found in favour of exercise therapy for pain in the short term (MD 0.59 on a scale of o to 100; 95% Cl –11.51 to 12.69; 3 RCTs, 491 participants) and physical functioning in the short term (MD –2.82 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –15.35 to 9.71; 3 RCTs) (Chou 2016; Hayden 2005). Comparable results were seen for the medium term and long term (Hayden 2005). The evidentiary value for pain and physical functioning in patients with acute low back pain is low (Chou 2016). There was also a small difference for pain in the short term compared to other conservative treatments in favour of exercise therapy (MD –0.31 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl: -0.72 to 0.10; 7 RCTs, 606 participants) (Hayden 2005).

For subacute low back pain there were also small differences between exercise therapy and no exercise therapy regarding pain in the short term (Hayden 2005 reports an MD of -8.0 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -17.25 to 1.25; 1 RCT, 194 participants and Chou 2016 reports an MD of 1.89 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -1.13 to 4.91; 5 studies) and physical functioning in the short term (Chou 2016 reports an MD of 1.07 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -3.18 to 5.32; 4 studies). The evidentiary value of exercise therapy in relation to pain and physical functioning in patients with subacute low back pain is low (Chou 2016). There was also a very small difference between the effect of exercise therapy on pain in the short term compared to other conservative treatments (MD of -1.21 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -4.01 to 1.59; 4 RCTs, 414 participants) (Hayden 2005). This also applied to physical functioning in the short term for patients with subacute low back pain (Hayden 2005). The results are comparable for the medium term and long term (Hayden 2005). Given that the Cochrane review by Hayden from 2012 was published before the GRADE methodology was implemented, no assessment was made of the evidentiary value per outcome measure. Based on the risk of bias (RoB), it was concluded that the quality of the included studies is low as a result of the heterogeneity of the outcome measures, inconsistency and possible publication bias.

# Effectiveness of exercise therapy for chronic low back pain

Based on a meta-analysis with individual patient data in patients with chronic low back pain with or without sciatica, it was determined that there is a clinically relevant difference between the effects of exercise therapy and no treatment or usual care on pain in the short term (MD –10.7 on a scale of o to 100; 95% Cl –14.1 to –7.4; 26 studies, 2,466 participants) in favour of exercise therapy (Hayden 2019). The results of the effects of exercise therapy compared to no exercise therapy on pain in the short term from the literature review of Chou are aligned with the results of the study by Hayden from 2019; exercise therapy is associated with more pain alleviation compared to no exercise therapy (MD 10 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl 1.31 to 19.09; 19 studies) (Chou 2016). The studies on the effects of exercise therapy compared to no treatment or usual care on pain in the short term have shown consistent results for a decade already: for patients with chronic low back pain, the meta-analysis of Hayden from 2012 shows a positive effect of exercise therapy, with a comparable estimated effect, on pain in the short term (MD -10.20 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -19.09 to -1.31; 8 RCTs, 370 participants). Fewer data are available on the effectiveness of exercise therapy compared to no exercise therapy in the long term. There was a small difference found in favour of exercise therapy compared to no treatment/sham/placebo for pain in the long term (MD -3.93 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl: -9.89 to 2.02; 5 RCTs, 126 participants). The estimated effects of exercise therapy compared to no treatment on physical functioning in the short term vary from a reasonable amount in the most recent meta-analysis (MD -10.2 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -13.1 to -7.3; 25 studies, 2,366 participants) of Hayden from 2019 (Hayden 2019) to a small amount (MD 3.00 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl −0.53 to 6.48; 17 studies) in the Conchrane review of Hayden from 2005 (Hayden 2005). This last study shows that the long-term results are comparable (Hayden 2005). Neither the study from 2005 nor the one from 2019 states anything about the evidentiary value according to GRADE. The meta-analysis from 2019 only includes RCTs with a low risk of bias. There is, however, large heterogeneity; the point estimates and confidence intervals vary significantly (l2 91%; p<0.00001), which with a GRADE assessment would result in a down-grading of the evidentiary value</p> due to inconsistency. Given the large sample and the not very large confidence interval, there does not appear to be a reason to down-grade for imprecision. There is also no reason to down-grade for indirectness. The assessment of the evidentiary value should come out to reasonable, which correlates with the assessment of the evidentiary value in other literature reviews (Chou 2016).

52

For the effectiveness of exercise therapy compared to other conservative treatment, conflicting results were found for pain and physical functioning in the short term. The literature review of Hayden from 2005 shows a small difference in favour of exercise therapy (MD for pain –5.93 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –9.65 to –2.21; 15 RCTs, 1,327 participants and MD for physical functioning

-2.37 on a scale of o to 100; 95% Cl -2.00 to -0.74; 13 RCTs, 1,373 participants), while the literature review of Hayden from 2019 shows a small difference in favour of the other conservative treatments (MD for pain 3.7 on a scale of o to 100; 95% Cl 1.3 to 6.0; 26 RCTs, 2,850 participants and MD for physical functioning 1.9 on a scale of o to 100; 95% Cl 0.03 to 3.8; 25 RCTs, 2778 participants).

A small difference was found in favour of exercise therapy compared to other conservative treatment for pain in the long term (MD –7.62 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% CI –14.45 to –0.79; 9 RCTs; 906 participants) and for physical functioning in the long term (MD –4.34 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% CI –6.00 to –0.69; 9 RCTs; 1,026 participants).

# Effectiveness of exercise therapy for acute, subacute and chronic low back pain (no stratification based on chronicity)

The literature review that was conducted within the scope of the NICE guideline is aimed at patients with low back pain with or without sciatica without the most important warning signs and does not stratify based on chronicity (De Campos 2017). The literature review mentions biomechanical exercise therapy, which entails muscle strengthening, stretching, exercises to improve motor control and other forms of exercise therapy, such as MDT and Feldenkrais. A small difference was found in favour of individual biomechanical exercise therapy compared to usual care for pain in the short term (MD 0.74 on a scale of 0 to 10; 95% Cl -1.12 to -0.36; 5 studies; 317 participants; moderate evidentiary value) and a very small difference for pain in the long term (MD 0.08 on a scale of 0 to 10; 95% Cl −1.53 to 1.37; 1 RCT, 99 participants, low evidentiary value) (De Campos 2017). No clinical benefit was found of individual biomechanical exercise therapy compared to usual care for physical functioning in the short term (average score in the control group was 17.74 on the scale of 100, average score in the intervention group was 1.31 SDs lower; 95% Cl -2.75 to -0.15; 5 RCTs, 253 participants, low evidentiary value) or long term (average score in the control group was 18.78 on the scale of 100, average score in the intervention group was 0.32 SDs lower; 95% Cl -0.66 to 0.01; 2 RCTs, 159 participants; low evidentiary value) (De Campos 2017). Regarding individual biomechanical exercise therapy compared to other conservative treatment, the literature review states the following: "Evidence was found of the clinical benefit of individual biomechanical exercises compared to self-management, manipulation of the spine and interference therapy, usually from small individual studies of low or very low quality. The evidence only showed a clinical benefit for biomechanical exercise therapy for pain in the leas in the long term (1 study; low quality; n = 71) and physical functioning in the long term (1 study; very low *quality; n = 71) compared to self-management"* (De Campos 2017). (vert. redactie)

## The effectiveness and evidentiary value of motor control exercise (MCE)

The effectiveness of MCE is described in 12 systematic reviews (Brumitt 2013; Bystrom 2013; Chang 2015; Elbayomy 2018; Gomes-Neto 2017; Luomajoki 2018; Macedo 2016; Niederer 2020; Rackwitz 2006; Saragiotto 2016; Slade 2006; Wang 2012), of which two were selected within the scope of this description (Macedo 2016; Saragiotto 2016). No systematic reviews were found about MCE in patients with low back pain of high or reasonable methodological quality according to the AMSTAR-2 score. The methodological quality of the four selected systematic reviews was

assessed as low. In 2016, two literature reviews were published by The Cochrane Collaboration on the effectiveness of exercise therapy for patients with acute (Macedo 2016) and chronic (Saragiotto 2016) non-specific low back pain.

MCE applies principles of motor learning in order to integrate control and coordination of the spinal muscles during functional activities. This also includes specific stabilisation training of the spine, for example through strength or coordination training of the multifidus muscle and the transverse abdominal muscle (Macedo 2016; Saragiotto 2016).

## Effectiveness and evidentiary value of MCE for acute and subacute low back pain

Only three small RCTs were identified about the effectiveness of MCE for acute low back pain with or without sciatica, which evaluated different comparisons (Macedo 2016). No RCTs were found that compared MCE with no treatment.

Compared to other forms of exercise therapy, a small difference was found in the effectiveness of MCE for pain in the short term (MD 5.74 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -3.34 to 14.82; 2 RCTs, 89 participants, moderate evidentiary value) and in the medium term (MD -1.20 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -18.24 to 15.84; 1 RCT, 33 participants, low evidentiary value). There were also small differences found for physical functioning in the short term (MD -0.84 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -8.72 to 7.04; 2 RCTs, 116 participants, moderate evidentiary value), in the medium term (MD -6.70 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -22.80 to 9.40; 1 RCT; 33 participants, low evidentiary value) and in the long term (MD 5.70 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -1.38 to 12.78; 1 RCT, 83 participants, low evidentiary value).

For acute low back pain, compared to manipulation a small difference was found in the effectiveness of MCE for pain in the short term (MD 9.00 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –1.56 to 19.56; 1 RCT, 58 participants) and for physical functioning (MD 4.00 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –3.38 to 11.38; 1 RCT, 95 participants). This small difference was also observed for physical functioning in the long term (MD 3.70 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl: –4.10 to 11.50; 1 RCT, 95 participants). The evidentiary value was low for all cases.

MCE in combination with medical management (advice to take bed rest, not work and resume daily activities, if possible, in combination with pain medication) results in small effects on pain in the short term (MD -9.30 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -20.41 to 1.81; 1 RCT, 42 participants) and physical functioning (MD -0.90 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -4.77 to 2.97; 1 RCT, 41 participants). However, the evidentiary value is very low.

#### Effectiveness and evidentiary value of MCE for chronic low back pain

One systematic review reported on the effectiveness of MCE in patients with chronic low back pain (Saragiotto 2016). Compared to minimal intervention (placebo physical therapy, education or advice and no treatment), a clinically relevant difference was found for pain in favour of MCE in the short term (MD –10.01 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –15.67 to –4.35; 4 RCTs, 291 participants, moderate evidentiary value), in the medium term (MD –12.61 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –20.53 to –4.69; 4 RCTs; 348 participants, low evidentiary value) and in the long term (MD –12.97 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –18.51 to –7.42; 3 RCTs, 279 participants, moderate evidentiary value) (Saragiotto 2016). This also applies to physical functioning: in the short term (MD –8.63 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –14.78 to –2.47; 5 RCTs, 332 participants, low evidentiary value), in the medium term (MD –5.47 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –9.17 to –1.77; 4 RCTs; 348 participants, moderate evidentiary value) and in the long term (MD –5.96 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –9.81 to –2.11; 3 RCTs, 279 participants, moderate evidentiary value) and in the long term (MD –5.96 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –9.81 to –2.11; 3 RCTs, 279 participants, moderate evidentiary value) and in the long term (MD –5.96 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –9.81 to –2.11; 3 RCTs, 279 participants, moderate evidentiary value) and in the long term (MD –5.96 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –9.81 to –2.11; 3 RCTs, 279 participants, moderate evidentiary value) (Saragiotto 2016).

Compared to other forms of exercise therapy, there is also a small difference in favour of MCE for pain both in the short term (MD –7.53 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –10.54 to –4.52; 13 RCTs, 872 participants, low evidentiary value), in the medium term (MD –2.98 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –6.96 to 0.99; 6 RCTs; 588 participants, high evidentiary value) and in the long term (MD –2.69 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –6.90 to 1.53; 5 RCTs, 643 participants, high evidentiary value). This also applies to the physical functioning outcome measure: in the short term (MD –4.82 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –6.95 to –2.68; 11 RCTs, 794 participants, low evidentiary value), in the medium term (MD –2.88 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –6.92 to 1.15; 10 RCTs; 588 participants, high evidentiary value) and in the long term (MD –0.71 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl –4.87 to 3.45; 4 RCTs, 570 participants, high evidentiary value) (Saragiotto 2016).

Compared to manual therapy, there is a small difference in favour of MCE for pain in the short term (MD -4.36 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -9.52 to 0.81; 3 RCTs, 282 participants, moderate evidentiary value), in the medium term (MD -7.05 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -14.20 to 0.11; 4 RCTs; 485 participants, moderate evidentiary value) and in the long term (MD -3.67 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -9.28 to 1.94; 4 RCTs, 406 participants, high evidentiary value). This also applies to the physical functioning outcome measure: in the short term (MD -2.79 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -6.60 to 1.02; 3 RCTs, 282 participants, moderate evidentiary value), in the medium term (MD -3.28 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -6.97 to 0.40; 4 RCTs; 485 participants, high evidentiary value) and in the long term (MD -3.40 on a scale of 0 to 100; 95% Cl -7.87 to 1.07; 4 RCTs, 406 participants, high evidentiary value) (Saragiotto 2016).

The adverse effects of MCE are minimal, if reported (Saragiotto 2016).

# The effectiveness and evidentiary value of Mechanical Diagnosis and Therapy (MDT) according to McKenzie

#### Effectiveness of MDT for acute and subacute low back pain

The effectiveness of MDT is described in six systematic reviews (Alhakami 2019; Czajka 2018; Dunsford 2011; Lam 2018; Machado 2006; Namnaqani 2019), which are all of very low methodological quality (see appendix C.2–5). Based on the topicality and alignment with the clinical question, the results of two systematic reviews are described in more detail in this guideline (Lam 2018; Machado 2006). The literature review of the Cochrane Collaboration on MDT for non-specific low back pain (Machado 2006) is currently being revised (Machado 2012a, b). The results of the currently valid Cochrane review show a small positive difference of MDT on pain in patients with acute low back pain (MD –4.16 on a scale of o to 100; 95% Cl –7.12 to –1.20; 2 RCTs; 375 participants) as well as on physical functioning (MD –5.22 on a scale of o to 100; 95% Cl –8.28 to –2.16; 2 RCTs; 375 participants) in the short term compared to passive therapy (information folders, bed rest, cooling and massage) for patients with acute low back pain (Machado 2006). When MDT is compared to the advice to remain active, a benefit is found in favour of the advice to remain active for pain (MD 5.02 on a scale of o to 100; 95% Cl –1.19 to 11.22; 2 RCTs, 178 participants) and for physical functioning (MD 3.85 on a scale of o to 100; 95% Cl 0.30 to 7.39; 2 RCTs, 178 participants) in the short term (Machado 2006).

The results of the Cochrane review are limited to patients with acute low back pain. As a result of heterogeneity, the results for patients with chronic low back pain have not been pooled. No RCTs were found that made a comparison with waiting/doing nothing/placebo/sham (Machado 2006). Given that the Cochrane review was published before the GRADE methodology was implemented, no assessment was made of the evidentiary value per outcome measure. Based on the risk-of-bias

assessment and the results, our estimation is that the evidentiary value will at least be downgraded as a result of limitations in the study design and execution, and imprecision, resulting in low evidentiary value.

Arguing against the results is the fact that a generic application of MDT was investigated in many studies, without taking the classification of patients into account. For this reason, the objective of the systematic review by Lam was to determine whether there was a difference between the effectiveness of MDT on pain and physical functioning when this was administered by trained therapists, and the effectiveness of various other types of interventions in patients with acute and chronic low back pain. This is why Lam only included studies with therapists who had received MDT training (Lam 2018).

The results show that exercise therapy according to MDT for patients with acute low back pain leads to a clinically relevant difference for pain in the short term (SMD -0.45; 95% Cl -0.99 to 0.10; 3 RCTs, 194 participants) compared to another intervention (manual therapy and primary care treatment consisting of information and advice and pain medication), with moderate evidentiary value. There was also a very small positive difference with MDT in patients with acute low back pain for physical functioning in the short term (SMD -0.07; 95% Cl -0.34 to 0.20; 4 RCTs, 457 participants), with high evidentiary value (Lam 2018).

# Effectiveness and evidentiary value of MDT for chronic low back pain

For patients with chronic low back pain, MDT leads to a clinically relevant positive difference for pain in the short term (SMD –0.33; 95% CI –0.63 to –0.03; 6 RCTs, 714 participants) compared to another intervention (manual therapy in combination with exercise therapy), with moderate evidentiary value. Finally, exercise therapy according to MDT results in a small difference for physical functioning in the short term (SMD –0.28; 95% CI –0.44 to –0.12; 7 RCTs, 859 participants) compared to another intervention (manual therapy in combination with exercise therapy), with high evidentiary value (Lam 2018). The evidentiary value in the systematic review of Lam was assessed as moderate and high according to GRADE. However, when assessing the evidentiary value, no down–grading took place for risk of bias and imprecision, even though there was a reason to do so (a cut-off value of 5/10 on the PEDro score is used as a criterion for down–grading for risk of bias, with low numbers of patients and with broad confidence intervals). The long–term results of MDT are largely unknown.

#### Considerations

There are a large number of international guidelines for patients with low back pain. Exercise therapy is recommended in 10 of the 14 guidelines for patients with chronic non-specific low back pain in a primary care setting (Oliveira 2018). However, the methodological quality of the guidelines often leaves a lot to be desired (Lin 2018). Exercise therapy is recommended in all cases in the guidelines of high methodological quality (Almeida 2018; Lin 2019; Malfliet 2019), specifically:

- the guideline of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (De Campos 2017);
- the guideline of the Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre (KCE) (Van Wambeke 2017);
- the guideline of the Danish Health Authority (Stochkendahl 2018);
- the guideline of the American College of Physicians (Qaseem 2017b);
- the Canadian guideline of the OPTIMa alliance (Wong 2017);
- the Canadian Chiropractic Guideline (Globe 2016).

To answer the clinical question, other considerations were also included in the literature to recommendation process in addition to the literature. Together they determine the direction and strength of the recommendation. The assessment of considerations and the explanation are provided in appendix C.2.1–3.

# References

- Alhakami AM, Davis S, Qasheesh M, Shaphe A, Chahal A. Effects of McKenzie and stabilization exercises in reducing pain intensity and functional disability in individuals with nonspecific chronic low back pain: a systematic review. J Phys Ther Sci. 2019;31(7):590–7.
- Almeida M, Saragiotto B, Richards B, Maher CG. Primary care management of non-specific low back pain: key messages from recent clinical guidelines. Med J Aust. 2018;208(6):272–5.
- Almeida MO, Yamato TP, Parreira P, Costa LOP, Kamper S, Saragiotto BT. Overall confidence in the results of systematic reviews on exercise therapy for chronic low back pain: a cross-sectional analysis using the Assessing the Methodological Quality of Systematic Reviews (AMSTAR) 2 tool. Braz J Phys Ther. 2020;24(2):103–17.
- Alonso-Coello P, Oxman AD, Moberg J, Brignardello-Petersen R, Akl EA, Davoli M, Treweek S, Mustafa RA, Vandvik PO, Meerpohl J, Guyatt GH, Schunemann HJ, Group GW. GRADE Evidence to Decision (EtD) frameworks: a systematic and transparent approach to making well informed healthcare choices. 2: Clinical practice guidelines. BMJ. 2016a;353:i2089.
- Alonso-Coello P, Schunemann HJ, Moberg J, Brignardello-Petersen R, Akl EA, Davoli M, Treweek S, Mustafa RA, Rada G, Rosenbaum S, Morelli A, Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Group GW. GRADE Evidence to Decision (EtD) frameworks: a systematic and transparent approach to making well informed healthcare choices. 1: Introduction. BMJ. 2016b;353:i2016.
- Andronis L, Kinghorn P, Qiao S, Whitehurst DG, Durrell S, McLeod H. Cost-effectiveness of noninvasive and non-pharmacological interventions for low back pain: a systematic literature review. Appl Health Econ Health Policy. 2017;15(2):173–201.
- Brumitt J, Matheson JW, Meira EP. Core stabilization exercise prescription, part 2: a systematic review of motor control and general (global) exercise rehabilitation approaches for patients with low back pain. Sports Health. 2013;5(6):510–3.
- Bystrom MG, Rasmussen–Barr E, Grooten WJ. Motor control exercises reduces pain and disability in chronic and recurrent low back pain: a meta–analysis. Spine. 2013;38(6):E350–8.
- Chang WD, Lin HY, Lai PT. Core strength training for patients with chronic low back pain. J Phys Ther Sci. 2015;27(3):619–22.
- Chiarotto A, Deyo RA, Terwee CB, Boers M, Buchbinder R, Corbin TP, Costa LO, Foster NE, Grotle M, Koes BW, Kovacs FM, Lin CW, Maher CG, Pearson AM, Peul WC, Schoene ML, Turk DC, van Tulder MW, Ostelo RW. Core outcome domains for clinical trials in non-specific low back pain. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(6):1127–42.
- Chou R, Deyo R, Friedly J, Skelly A, Hashimoto R, Weimer M, Fu R, Dana T, Kraegel P, Griffin J, Grusing S, Brodt E. Noninvasive Treatments for Low Back Pain. Comparative effectiveness review no. 169. (prepared by the pacific northwest evidence-based practice center under contract No. 290–2012–00014–1.). AHRQ Publication No. 16–EHC004–EF. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2016.
- Chou R, Deyo R, Friedly J, Skelly A, Hashimoto R, Weimer M, Fu R, Dana T, Kraegel P, Griffin J, Grusing S, Brodt ED. nonpharmacologic therapies for low back pain: a systematic review for an American College of Physicians clinical practice guideline. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(7):493–505.

- Chou R, Huffman LH, American Pain S, American College of P. Nonpharmacologic therapies for acute and chronic low back pain: a review of the evidence for an American Pain Society/American College of Physicians clinical practice guideline. Ann Intern Med. 2007;147(7):492–504.
- Cuenca–Martinez F, Cortes–Amador S, Espi–Lopez GV. Effectiveness of classic physical therapy proposals for chronic non–specific low back pain: a literature review. Physical therapy research. 2018;21(1):16–22.
- Czajka M, Truszczynska–Baszak A, Kowalczyk M. The effectiveness of McKenzie Method in diagnosis and treatment of low back pain – a literature review. Postepy Rehabilitacji. 2018;32(1):5–11.
- de Campos TF. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management NICE Guideline [NG59]. J Physiother. 2017;63(2):120.
- Dunsford A, Kumar S, Clarke S. Integrating evidence into practice: use of McKenzie-based treatment for mechanical low back pain. J Multidiscip Healthc. 2011;4:393–402.
- Dvorak H, Kujat C, Brumitt J. Effect of therapeutic exercise versus manual therapy on athletes with chronic low back pain. J Sport Rehabil. 2011;20(4):494–504.
- Elbayomy MA, Zaki LA, Koura G. Core strengthening for chronic nonspecific low back pain: systematic review. Biosci Res. 2018;15(4):4506–19.
- Geneen LJ, Moore RA, Clarke C, Martin D, Colvin LA, Smith BH. Physical activity and exercise for chronic pain in adults: an overview of Cochrane Reviews. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2017;4:Cd011279.
- Globe G, Farabaugh RJ, Hawk C, Morris CE, Baker G, Whalen WM, Walters S, Kaeser M, Dehen M, Augat T. Clinical practice guideline: chiropractic care for low back pain. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2016;39(1):1–22.
- Gomes–Neto M, Lopes JM, Conceicao CS, Araujo A, Brasileiro A, Sousa C, Carvalho VO, Arcanjo FL. Stabilization exercise compared to general exercises or manual therapy for the management of low back pain: A systematic review and meta–analysis. Phys Ther Sport. 2017;23:136–42.
- Gordon R, Bloxham S. A Systematic review of the effects of exercise and physical activity on nonspecific chronic low back pain. Healthcare (Basel, Switzerland). 2016;4(2).
- Hayden JA, Cartwright J, van Tulder MW, Malmivaara A. Exercise therapy for chronic low back pain. Cochrane Dat Syst Rev. 2012(4).
- Hayden JA, van Tulder MW, Malmivaara A, Koes BW. Exercise therapy for treatment of non-specific low back pain. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2005(3):CD000335.
- Hayden JA, Wilson MN, Stewart S, Cartwright JL, Smith AO, Riley RD, van Tulder M, Bendix T, Cecchi F, Costa LOP, Dufour N, Ferreira ML, Foster NE, Gudavalli MR, Hartvigsen J, Helmhout P, Kool J, Koumantakis GA, Kovacs FM, Kuukkanen T, Long A, Macedo LG, Machado LAC, Maher CG, Mehling W, Morone G, Peterson T, Rasmussen–Barr E, Ryan CG, Sjogren T, Smeets R, Staal JB, Unsgaard–Tondel M, Wajswelner H, Yeung EW. Exercise treatment effect modifiers in persistent low back pain: an individual participant data meta–analysis of 3514 participants from 27 randomised controlled trials. Br J Sports Med. 2019.
- Hendrick P, Te Wake AM, Tikkisetty AS, Wulff L, Yap C, Milosavljevic S. The effectiveness of walking as an intervention for low back pain: a systematic review. Eur Spine J. 2010;19(10):1613–20.
- Hettinga DM, Jackson A, Moffett JK, May S, Mercer C, Woby SR. A systematic review and synthesis of higher quality evidence of the effectiveness of exercise interventions for non-specific low back pain of at least 6 weeks' duration. Physical Therapy Reviews. 2007;12(3):221–32.
- Hilde G, Bo K. Effect of exercise in the treatment of chronic low back pain: a systematic review, emphasising type and dose of exercise. Physical Therapy Reviews. 1998;3(2):107–17.

- Hill C. Is yoga an effective treatment in the management of patients with chronic low back pain compared with other care modalities a systematic review. J Complement Integr Med. 2013;10.
  - ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain. The ICHOM standard set for low back pain. Boston, USA: International Consortium For Health Outcomes Measurements; 2017 [updated August 24th, 2017]. Version 2.0.3. Available at: https://www.ichom.org/portfolio/low-back-pain/. Accessed 26 May 2020.
  - Ilzelenberg W, Rubinstein SM, Hayden J, Koes BW, van Tulder MW. Exercise therapy for acute nonspecific low-back pain. Cochrane Dat Syst Rev. 2011(10).
  - Kalin S, Rausch–Osthoff AK, Bauer CM. What is the effect of sensory discrimination training on chronic low back pain? A systematic review. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2016;17:143.
  - Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn Reumatoide artritis. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2018. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/ reumatoide-artritis. Accessed 26 May 2020.
  - Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn Lage rugpijn. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2013. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/lagerugpijn. Accessed 26 May 2020.
  - Kool J, de Bie R, Oesch P, Knusel O, van den Brandt P, Bachmann S. Exercise reduces sick leave in patients with non-acute non-specific low back pain: a meta-analysis. J Rehabil Med. 2004;36(2):49-62.
  - La Touche R, Escalante K, Linares MT. Treating non-specific chronic low back pain through the Pilates Method. J Bodyw Mov Ther. 2008;12(4):364-70.
  - Laird RA, Kent P, Keating JL. Modifying patterns of movement in people with low back pain -does it help? A systematic review. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2012;13:169.
  - Lam OT, Strenger DM, Chan-Fee M, Pham PT, Preuss RA, Robbins SM. Effectiveness of the McKenzie method of mechanical diagnosis and therapy for treating low back pain: literature review with meta-analysis. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2018;48(6):476-90.
  - Lawford BJ, Walters J, Ferrar K. Does walking improve disability status, function, or quality of life in adults with chronic low back pain? A systematic review. Clin Rehabil. 2016;30(6):523–36.
  - Lemieux J, Abdollah V, Powelske B, Kawchuk G. Comparing the effectiveness of group-based exercise to other non-pharmacological interventions for chronic low back pain: A systematic review. PLoS One. 2020;15(12):e0244588.
  - Lewis JS, Hewitt JS, Billington L, Cole S, Byng J, Karayiannis S. A randomized clinical trial comparing two physiotherapy interventions for chronic low back pain. Spine. 2005;30(7):711–21.
  - Liddle SD, Baxter GD, Gracey JH. Exercise and chronic low back pain: what works? Pain. 2004;107(1– 2):176–90.
  - Lim EC, Poh RL, Low AY, Wong WP. Effects of Pilates-based exercises on pain and disability in individuals with persistent nonspecific low back pain: a systematic review with meta-analysis. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2011;41(2):70–80.
  - Lin HT, Hung WC, Hung JL, Wu PS, Liaw LJ, Chang JH. Effects of pilates on patients with chronic nonspecific low back pain: a systematic review. J Phys Ther Sci. 2016;28(10):2961–9.
  - Lin I, Wiles L, Waller R, Goucke R, Nagree Y, Gibberd M, Straker L, Maher CG, O'Sullivan PPB. What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. Br J Sports Med. 2019.
  - Lin I, Wiles LK, Waller R, Goucke R, Nagree Y, Gibberd M, Straker L, Maher CG, O'Sullivan PPB. Poor overall quality of clinical practice guidelines for musculoskeletal pain: a systematic review. Br J Sports Med. 2018;52(5):337–43.

- Luomajoki HA, Bonet Beltran MB, Careddu S, Bauer CM. Effectiveness of movement control exercise on patients with non-specific low back pain and movement control impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Musculoskeletal science & practice. 2018;36:1–11.
- Macedo LG, Saragiotto BT, Yamato TP, Costa LO, Menezes Costa LC, Ostelo RW, Maher CG. Motor control exercise for acute non–specific low back pain. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2016;2:Cd012085.
- Macedo LG, Smeets RJ, Maher CG, Latimer J, McAuley JH. Graded activity and graded exposure for persistent nonspecific low back pain: a systematic review. Phys Ther. 2010;90(6):860–79.
- Machado L, Lin CWC, Clare H, van Tulder MW. The McKenzie method for (sub)acute non-specific lowback pain. Cochrane Dat Syst Rev. 2012a(3).
- Machado L, van Tulder MW, Lin CWC, Clare H, Hayden JA. The McKenzie method for chronic nonspecific low-back pain. Cochrane Dat Syst Rev. 2012b(3).
- Machado LA, de Souza M, Ferreira PH, Ferreira ML. The McKenzie method for low back pain: a systematic review of the literature with a meta-analysis approach. Spine. 2006;31(9):E254–62.
- Malfliet A, Ickmans K, Huysmans E, Coppieters I, Willaert W, Bogaert WV, Rheel E, Bilterys T, Wilgen PV, Nijs J. Best evidence rehabilitation for chronic pain part 3: Low back pain. JCM. 2019;8(7).
- McCaskey MA, Schuster–Amft C, Wirth B, Suica Z, de Bruin ED. Effects of proprioceptive exercises on pain and function in chronic neck– and low back pain rehabilitation: a systematic literature review. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2014;15:382.
- Merepeza A. Effects of spinal manipulation versus therapeutic exercise on adults with chronic low back pain: a literature review. J Can Chiropr Assoc. 2014;58(4):456–66.
- Miyamoto GC, Costa LO, Cabral CM. Efficacy of the Pilates method for pain and disability in patients with chronic nonspecific low back pain: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Braz J Phys Ther. 2013;17(6):517-32.
- Miyamoto GC, Lin CC, Cabral CMN, van Dongen JM, van Tulder MW. Cost-effectiveness of exercise therapy in the treatment of non-specific neck pain and low back pain: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med. 2019;53(3):172–81.
- Namnaqani FI, Mashabi AS, Yaseen KM, Alshehri MA. The effectiveness of McKenzie method compared to manual therapy for treating chronic low back pain: a systematic review. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact. 2019;19(4):492–9.
- Niederer D, Mueller J. Sustainability effects of motor control stabilisation exercises on pain and function in chronic nonspecific low back pain patients: A systematic review with meta-analysis and meta-regression. PLoS One. 2020;15(1):e0227423.
- O'Keeffe M, Hayes A, McCreesh K, Purtill H, O'Sullivan K. Are group-based and individual physiotherapy exercise programmes equally effective for musculoskeletal conditions? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med. 2017;51(2):126–32.
- Oliveira CB, Maher CG, Pinto RZ, Traeger AC, Lin CC, Chenot JF, van Tulder M, Koes BW. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of non-specific low back pain in primary care: an updated overview. Eur Spine J. 2018;27(11):2791–803.
- Patti A, Bianco A, Paoli A, Messina G, Montalto MA, Bellafiore M, Battaglia G, Iovane A, Palma A. Effects of Pilates exercise programs in people with chronic low back pain: a systematic review. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015;94(4):e383.
- Pereira LM, Obara K, Dias JM, Menacho MO, Guariglia DA, Schiavoni D, Pereira HM, Cardoso JR. Comparing the Pilates method with no exercise or lumbar stabilization for pain and functionality in patients with chronic low back pain: systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Rehabil. 2012;26(1):10–20.

- Qaseem A, Wilt TJ, McLean RM, Forciea MA, Clinical Guidelines Committee of the American College of Physicians. noninvasive treatments for acute, subacute, and chronic low back pain: a clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(7):514–30.
- Rackwitz B, de Bie R, Limm H, von Garnier K, Ewert T, Stucki G. Segmental stabilizing exercises and low back pain. What is the evidence? A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Clin Rehabil. 2006;20(7):553–67.
- Saragiotto BT, Maher CG, Yamato TP, Costa LO, Menezes Costa LC, Ostelo RW, Macedo LG. Motor control exercise for chronic non-specific low-back pain. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2016(1):Cd012004.
- Schaafsma FG, Whelan K, van der Beek AJ, van der Es-Lambeek LC, Ojajarvi A, Verbeek JH. Physical conditioning as part of a return to work strategy to reduce sickness absence for workers with back pain. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2013(8):CD001822.
- Searle A, Spink M, Ho A, Chuter V. Exercise interventions for the treatment of chronic low back pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Clin Rehabil. 2015;29(12):1155–67.
- Shea BJ, Reeves BC, Wells G, Thuku M, Hamel C, Moran J, Moher D, Tugwell P, Welch V, Kristjansson E, Henry DA. AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. BMJ. 2017;358:j4008.
- Slade SC, Keating JL. Trunk-strengthening exercises for chronic low back pain: a systematic review. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2006;29(2):163–73.
- Stochkendahl MJ, Kjaer P, Hartvigsen J, Kongsted A, Aaboe J, Andersen M, Andersen MO, Fournier G, Hojgaard B, Jensen MB, Jensen LD, Karbo T, Kirkeskov L, Melbye M, Morsel-Carlsen L, Nordsteen J, Palsson TS, Rasti Z, Silbye PF, Steiness MZ, Tarp S, Vaagholt M. National Clinical Guidelines for non-surgical treatment of patients with recent onset low back pain or lumbar radiculopathy. Eur Spine J. 2018;27(1):60–75.
- Surkitt LD, Ford JJ, Hahne AJ, Pizzari T, McMeeken JM. Efficacy of directional preference management for low back pain: a systematic review. Phys Ther. 2012;92(5):652–65.
- van der Giessen RN, Speksnijder CM, Helders PJ. The effectiveness of graded activity in patients with non-specific low-back pain: a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil. 2012;34(13):1070-6.
- van der Roer N, van Tulder M, van Mechelen W, de Vet H. Economic evaluation of an intensive group training protocol compared with usual care physiotherapy in patients with chronic low back pain. Spine. 2008;33(4):445–51.
- van Middelkoop M, Rubinstein SM, Verhagen AP, Ostelo RW, Koes BW, van Tulder MW. Exercise therapy for chronic nonspecific low-back pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2010;24(2):193–204.
- Van Wambeke P, Desomer A, Ailliet L, Berquin A, Demoulin C, Depreitere B, Dewachter J, Dolphens M, Forget P, Fraselle V, Hans G, Hoste D, Mahieu G, Michielsen J, Nielens H, Orban T, Parlevliet T, Simons E, Tobbackx Y, Van Schaeybroeck P, Van Zundert J, Vanderstraeten J, Vlaeyen J, Jonckheer P. Low back pain and radicular pain: assessment and management. Brussel: Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre (KCE); 2017. Available at: https://biblio.ugent.be/publication/8520932/file/8520933. Accessed 26 May 2020.
- Verburg AC, van Dulmen SA, Kiers H, Nijhuis-van der Sanden MWG, van der Wees PJ. Development of a standard set of outcome measures for non-specific low back pain in Dutch primary care physiotherapy practices: a Delphi study. Eur Spine J. 2019.
- Wang XQ, Zheng JJ, Yu ZW, Bi X, Lou SJ, Liu J, Cai B, Hua YH, Wu M, Wei ML, Shen HM, Chen Y, Pan YJ, Xu GH, Chen PJ. A meta-analysis of core stability exercise versus general exercise for chronic low back pain. PLoS One. 2012;7(12):e52082.

Wieland LS, Skoetz N, Pilkington K, Vempati R, D'Adamo CR, Berman BM. Yoga treatment for chronic non-specific low back pain. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2017;1:Cd010671.

- Wong JJ, Cote P, Sutton DA, Randhawa K, Yu H, Varatharajan S, Goldgrub R, Nordin M, Gross DP,
   Shearer HM, Carroll LJ, Stern PJ, Ameis A, Southerst D, Mior S, Stupar M, Varatharajan T, Taylor–
   Vaisey A. Clinical practice guidelines for the noninvasive management of low back pain: a
   systematic review by the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa) Collaboration.
   Eur J Pain. 2017;21(2):201–16.
- Yamato TP, Maher CG, Saragiotto BT, Hancock MJ, Ostelo RW, Cabral CM, Menezes Costa LC, Costa LO. Pilates for low back pain. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2015(7):CD010265.

## Note C.2.2 Type, frequency, intensity and time span of exercise therapy

#### Literature

There are a large number of (inter)national guidelines about low back pain These guidelines are described in a number of overview articles, including an assessment of methodological quality (Almeida 2018; Krenn 2020; Lin 2019; Malfliet 2019). The recommendations of guidelines of high methodological quality about frequency, intensity, type and time span of the exercise therapy are provided below.

The guideline of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (De Campos 2017) recommends exercise therapy in general. The proof between specific types of exercise therapy varied, but the authors of this guideline did not find the evidence to be sufficient in order to formulate a recommendation for the optimal type, the optimal dose or the optimal duration of the exercise therapy. The NICE guideline states that it is important to set up the intervention so that it is likely that the patient with back pain will participate in it and that the intervention encourages self-management. It is deemed important for the exercise therapy to be aligned with the patient, while also taking into account a feasible dosage, so that the patient can keep up the exercise therapy. The guideline of the Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre (KCE) (Van Wambeke 2017) also recommends exercise therapy, but no specific recommendation is given about its dosage. The recommendation is to let the patient's needs, capacities and preferences be decisive for the type of exercise therapy. The guidelines of the Danish Health Authority (Stochkendahl 2018) and the Canadian Chiropractic Guideline (Globe 2016) do not make any statements about the type and dosage of the exercise therapy (Globe 2016; Stochkendahl 2018). Finally, the guideline of the American College of Physicians (Qaseem 2017) recommends exercise therapy in general and motor control exercises, but this guideline also does not state anything about the dosage thereof. The guideline of the North American Spine Society (NASS) 2020 conducted a systematic review on the optimal timing, frequency and time span of the exercise therapy, but this did not yield any studies with which this question could be adequately answered.

# The guideline of the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) for exercise therapy

The current (10th) edition of the ACSM Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription describes four components that are important for prescribing exercise therapy: Frequency, Intensity, Type and Time Span (FITT) (American College of Sports Medicine 2017). The recommendations of the guideline panel on exercise therapy for patients with low back pain per type of exercise therapy are based on this guideline (American College of Sports Medicine 2017, 2018). Scientific research in the past 40 years has demonstrated that physical activity and exercise therapy in combination with other lifestyle-related topics play an important role in the prevention, treatment and rehabilitation of various conditions.

Various domains of health can be defined: emotional health, social health, physical health, mental health and spiritual health. Physical activity and exercise therapy concern the physical domain, but interactions between the various components of the domains are unmistakable. Exercise therapy is only one element that contributes to a person's overall health. Other domains are also important for determining a treatment plan (American College of Sports Medicine 2018). The basis for setting up a good exercise therapy programme is shaped by the knowledge that the professional has of the indications and the contraindications for exercise therapy in a specific population and the correct use of the FITT principles.

The guidelines for the FITT principles for patients with low back pain are similar to the guidelines for healthy people (American College of Sports Medicine 2018). Training responses are typically influenced by the severity and location of the pain, physical fitness and strength, and body positions that are required during exertion. Some people with low back pain do not tolerate certain movements, such as trunk flexion or extension. Additionally, some body positions, such as standing or sitting for a long time, may cause discomfort, thereby preventing the patient from training in an optimal manner.

The ACSM's recommendations for the FITT principles for patients with low back pain are as follows (American College of Sports Medicine 2018):

- Frequency (how often?):  $\ge 5 \text{ d}^* \text{ wk}^{-1}$  moderate exertion or  $\ge 3 \text{ d}^* \text{ wk}^{-1}$  heavy exertion or a combination of moderate and heavy exertion  $\ge 3 \text{ to } 5 \text{ d}^* \text{ wk}^{-1}$ .
- Intensity (how intensively?): moderate to heavy exertion.
- Time:  $\ge$  30 min d \* wk<sup>-1</sup> of consecutive exercise for at least 10 minutes.
- Type (primary): exercise therapy for improving the aerobic endurance in body positions that are tolerated the best.
- Strength training: 2 to 3 d \* wk<sup>-1</sup> (not consecutive); 2 to 4 sets of 8 to 12 repetitions at 60 to 70% of 1RM for most adults; 10 to 15 repetitions at 40 to 50% of 1RM for people who do not have experience with strength training and the elderly.
- Flexibility: 2 to 3 d \* wk<sup>-1</sup>; exercise until you feel stretched or slight discomfort during 10 to 30 seconds for most adults and 30 to 60 seconds for the elderly; 2 to 4 repetitions of each stretch exercise, within the patient's capabilities.
- Specific considerations: an individualised exercise programme aimed at all health-related fitness variables, comorbidity (if present) and preferred body positions can improve the compliance with the programme, the effectiveness and the health-related quality of life and contribute to a more physically active lifestyle.

The other considerations for exercise therapy for patients with low back pain are summarised in the ACSM guideline as follows (American College of Sports Medicine 2018):

- the exercise programme must be individualised, and the objectives must be aimed at all health and fitness needs of people with low back pain;
- there may be comorbidity that helps shape the exercise programme;
- if present, preferred body positions or limited range of motion can determine the positions in which strength and flexibility training is performed;
- exercises that cause pain during or after training sessions must be eliminated and replaced by alternative activities;

С

- new or worsening symptoms justify ending the training and communication with a physician and/or healthcare provider (for implementation of this recommendation, see <u>C.5</u> 'Completion of the treatment' in the current guideline);
- exercises or activities with a major impact (e.g. running) must be avoided or built up gradually with the appropriate care;
- persons with low back pain must learn fundamental movement patterns, such as squatting and lifting something from the ground, and must avoid sitting for long periods.

Neuromotor exercise therapy is not considered in the ACSM guideline's recommendations for the FITT principles for patients with low back pain. Neuromotor exercise therapy is a component of the FITT principles for healthy participants (American College of Sports Medicine 2017), even though the guideline states that the effectiveness of this exercise therapy in adults has not yet been proven (Garber 2011). The ACSM guideline specifies neuromotor training of healthy participants (American College of Sports Medicine 2017): "Neuromotor training involving balance, agility, coordination and gait analysis is recommended for at least two to three days per week for healthy older people and is likely also beneficial for adults in general".

The optimal duration or the optimal number of repetitions of neuromotor training is still largely unknown, but neuromotor exercises of at least 20 to 30 minutes and in total 60 minutes per week may be effective (Garber 2011). Neuromotor training is also known in the international literature as functional training and may overlap with other established types of exercise, such as strength training.

# Considerations

#### Type of exercise therapy

Exercise therapy is recommended for patients with low back pain (see <u>C.2.1</u> 'Exercise therapy <u>interventions</u>'). Research has demonstrated that, among other things, a general exercise programme for improving muscle strength, flexibility and aerobic endurance has a favourable effect on recovery of low back pain (Gordon 2016) and that training for improved aerobic endurance can decrease the pain intensity and improve the physical and psychological functioning of patients with chronic low back pain (Meng 2015). However, there is not a certain type of exercise therapy that is consistently recommended within the international guidelines (Almeida 2018; Lin 2019; Malfliet 2019; Oliveira 2018). The current literature also does not provide a definitive answer as to which type of exercise therapy is indicated for which patient. The guideline panel therefore finds it important to focus the exercise therapy on the patient's needs, preferences and capabilities as determined during the medical history taking and the physical examination. The guideline panel also believes it's important for the therapist to assess, based on clinical expertise, whether the dysfunctions that are ascertained during the diagnostic process are related to the complaints and for the choice of exercise therapy (muscle strength, aerobic endurance, flexibility or a combination thereof) to be based on a logical construct.

# Exercise therapy for improving muscle strength, aerobic endurance and flexibility

In daily practice, the treatable traits for treating the individual patient are assessed during the medical history taking and the physical examination. The important aspects have been specified based on the ICF 'core set' for people with low back pain (Cieza 2004) (see <u>B.1.1 'Medical history</u> taking' and <u>B.1.2 'Physical examination</u>'). The identified health problems concern dysfunctions

with respect to muscle strength, joint mobility, exercise tolerance, muscle endurance, muscle tone and stability of joints. Cross-sectional research, for example, has shown that in persons with chronic low back pain, the muscle strength of the hip abductors (Arab 2010; Cooper 2016; De Sousa 2019; Kendall 2010), lumbar extensors (Kankaanpaa 1998) and flexors of the lumbar spine is often reduced compared to that of healthy participants. Decreased length of the hamstrings has also been associated with low back pain in the scientific literature (Hori 2019; Sadler 2017). Exercise therapy is therefore often aimed at improving these parameters.

### Exercise therapy for improving neuromotor control

Cross-sectional laboratory studies have shown that people with low back pain have decreased control of their deep trunk muscles (e.g. the transverse abdominal muscle and the multifidus muscle), which are partially responsible for maintaining stability of the spine (Hodges 1996). There are also indications that patients with low back pain move the lumbopelvic region earlier during functional movements and with a larger range of motion than people without low back pain (Marich 2017; Scholtes 2009; Sorensen 2016). This may also be a manifestation of decreased stability of the low back. In addition to the established types of exercise therefore, exercise therapy for improving neuromotor control is also often used. In the ACSM guidelines, neuromotor exercise therapy includes balance, coordination and proprioception training. There has been increasing attention given to MCE in recent scientific literature about low back pain (Macedo 2016; Saragiotto 2016). MCE can be viewed as a type of neuromotor exercise therapy. This type of exercise applies principles of motor learning in order to integrate control and coordination of the spinal muscles in functional activities. This also includes specific stabilisation training of the spine, for example through strength or coordination training of the multifidus muscle and the transverse abdominal muscle. C.2.1 'Exercise therapy interventions' discusses the effectiveness of MCE in more detail. The guideline panel believes that neuromotor exercise therapy can be considered if there is disrupted neuromotor control, balance and/or stability of the lumbar spine and if the therapist assesses that there is a connection between this disruption and the complaints. The guideline panel recognises the ACSM's finding regarding the lack of scientific substantiation of the optimal duration or the optimal number of repetitions of the neuromotor training. The guideline panel does not agree with the frequency (at least 2-3 days per week) and time span (at least 20-30 minutes and a total of 60 minutes per week) that the ACSM describes. Instead of a fixed exercise regimen, the guideline panel believes it is more important to coordinate the implementation and expansion of the programme to the patient's capacity, with the accent being on the quality of movement without increased pain. This is in line with the developments in the scientific literature, where better short-term and long-term effects were seen for physical functioning in people who received this type of training than with regular training (Van Dillen 2020).

## **Functional training**

A specific recommendation has been included in the ACSM guidelines for exercise therapy for patients with low back pain (American College of Sports Medicine 2018) about learning the fundamental movement patterns, such as squatting to lift something from the ground and avoiding sitting for long periods of time. With the advice on avoiding sitting for long periods of time, the guideline panel is in line with the Dutch Physical Activity Guidelines.

65

## The Dutch Physical Activity Guidelines (Dutch Health Council 2017)

- Exercise is good; more exercise is better.
- Do at least 150 minutes per week of moderately intensive exercise, such as walking and biking, spread out over several days. Longer, more frequent and/or more intensive exercise has an additional health benefit.
- Perform muscle and bone strengthening activities at least twice per week, combined with balance exercises in the case of elderly patients.
- Avoid sitting still too much.

The guideline panel believes that learning fundamental movement patterns is only indicated if the patient has a dysfunction in this, such a dysfunction is ascertained by the therapist and/or the need for assistance is aimed at this dysfunction. The guideline panel does, however, believe it is important to integrate functional training, specifically (parts of) activities in which the patient is limited, into the exercise therapy, among other things for reason of therapy compliance.

# The influence of comorbidity on exercise therapy

See <u>A.2.1 'Epidemiology, pathophysiology and comorbidity'</u> for frequent comorbidity with low back pain. The guideline panel recognises the ACSM's finding that there may be comorbidity that helps shape the exercise programmes (American College of Sports Medicine 2018). The guideline panel believes that the exercise therapy must be modified if the comorbidity impedes physical functioning.

### Frequency and intensity of the exercise therapy

In systematic reviews about exercise therapy in adults with chronic pain, the most common frequency is at least twice per week and the most common duration of a session is 45 to 60 minutes (Geneen 2017), without differentiating between the various types of exercise therapy. The intensity of the sessions is not quantified in most cases (Geneen 2017), and if it has been quantified, the rationale behind this choice is not explained (Gallois 2017). Recent systematic review emphasises the necessity of doing more research on the dosage of exercise therapy for various subgroups of patients with low back pain (Ojha 2020).

The guideline panel believes that when performing the exercise therapy, the frequency, intensity and time span as stipulated by the ACSM should be strived for. The guideline panel also believes it is important to keep in mind what is feasible for the patient when selecting the dosage of the exercise therapy. For purposes of therapy compliance, it is important for the patient to be able to keep up the exercise therapy.

The ACSM guidelines for scaling up exercise therapy in healthy participants recommend gradually making the exercise therapy more difficult in order to improve aerobic endurance by increasing the duration, frequency or intensity of the exercise programme, or all three (American College of Sports Medicine 2018 American College of Sports Medicine 2017). The degree to which the exercise therapy is made more difficult depends on the patient's health status and physical fitness, the patient's response to the training and the training programme's objectives. The guideline panel agrees with the ACSM guideline.

In the beginning phase of the training programme, it is wise to adopt the start low and go slow principle in order to decrease the risks of cardiovascular events and musculoskeletal injury and to encourage acceptance and therapy compliance. The recommendation is to start with light to

moderate intensity for inactive persons and then increase the training time and duration within the patient's tolerance level (American College of Sports Medicine 2018).

The guideline panel also believes it is important to adhere to a modified version of the 24-hour rule (Egmond 2019) and to inform the patient about the desirable and undesirable training responses. After an exercise or training session, an acceptable (desirable) response is:

no response, or

a response (tolerable pain, fatigue or functional problems) that lasts a maximum of 24 hours and then subsides.

An undesirable response is:

if (night-time) pain, fatigue and loss of function increase after 24 hours.

# Duration of the exercise therapy

The ACSM guideline does not contain specific information about the desired duration of the exercise therapy intervention. The ACSM guideline does describe the recommended quality and quantity of the implementation, with the ultimate goal of achieving and retaining these. With regard to the recommendations for scaling up the exercise therapy, four to six weeks are assumed for the average healthy test subject, and four to eight months for older or severely deconditioned persons (American College of Sports Medicine 2017, 2018).

Systematic review describes a duration of four to six weeks for the examined neuromotor exercise therapy interventions for patients with acute low back pain (Macedo 2016) and a duration of 20 days to 12 weeks for patients with chronic low back pain (Saragiotto 2016). However, the included RCTs often adopt a one-size-fits-all approach with a defined course, with the patient's need for assistance playing no (or only a subordinate) role. A recent article in which a tool is developed for evaluating the quality of exercise therapy programmes that were applied in RCTs emphasises the importance of targeted exercise therapy, among other things, whereby a discrepancy between the complaints or limitations of the patient population and the objective of the exercise therapy can result in suboptimal effects (Hoogeboom 2020). In a series of articles about evidence-based management of chronic low back pain, at least 10 to 12 weeks of strength training is assumed in order to achieve a physiological adjustment in the musculature. (Mayer 2008). Functional benefits in the early stages (o to 6 weeks) of muscle strength training are primarily the result of neurological adaptations such as inter- and intramuscular coordination. In the later stages (6 to 12 weeks) of muscle strength training, the functional benefits are the result of physiological changes, and after 12 weeks there is hypertrophy. The guideline panel ascertains that in daily practice the patient's need for assistance and the treatment goals are guiding when determining the duration of the exercise therapy. A physiological adjustment is not always necessary to reach the treatment goals and answer the patient's need for assistance. What's more, it's not always known whether the physiological adjustment is related to a decrease of complaints. Regarding exercise therapy for improving aerobic endurance, the guideline panel believes it is important to at least strive for a level that is in line with the Dutch Physical Activity Guidelines (Dutch Health Council 2017). These general recommendations are the basis that each individual should comply with. If it is determined during the diagnostic process that the patient with low back pain does not comply with the Dutch Physical Activity Guidelines, information and advice is given about this, in order to encourage overall physical activity (see C.1 'Information and advice and (pain) education').

The guideline panel concludes that the duration of the exercise therapy will differ from patient to patient and finds it important to determine this duration prior to the start of treatment based on consultation between the therapist and patient. This will promote therapy compliance and prevent unnecessary continued treatment. Here one can take into account the severity and duration of the complaints, comorbidity, the presence of (psychosocial) prognostic factors and the possibility of self-management on the part of the patient. The treatment is evaluated every three weeks based on the need for assistance and the treatment goals and is modified or ended, if applicable (see 'C.5 Completion of the treatment').

The guideline panel also believes it is important for the therapist to encourage the patient to continue exercising and moving independently also after the treatment period. The therapist can schedule one or more follow-up sessions for this, for example. The goal of these sessions is to promote therapy compliance, and they can be scheduled at the moment that the scope of the supervised exercise therapy is reduced and independent exercising and physical activity predominate.

# Supervised exercise therapy

The selected literature does not provide a definitive answer about supervision of exercise therapy. The guideline panel believes that exercise therapy can be indicated if there is dysfunction in muscle strength, aerobic endurance, flexibility or neuromotor control, whereby there appears to be a correlation with the onset or persistence of complaints. If a patient is not able to independently perform the exercise therapy, temporary supervision by a physical therapist or exercise therapist can offer a solution. The supervision is scaled back during the treatment period, if permissible and in consultation with the patient. Here it is important for the exercise frequency and intensity not to decrease but rather for the focus to shift to independent exercising and physical activity.

## References

- Almeida M, Saragiotto B, Richards B, Maher CG. Primary care management of non-specific low back pain: key messages from recent clinical guidelines. Med J Aust. 2018;208(6):272–5.
- American College of Sports Medicine. Exercise Testing and Prescription. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer; 2018.
- American College of Sports Medicine. Guidelines for exercise testing and prescription. Lippincott: William and Wilkins; 2017.
- Arab AM, Nourbakhsh MR. The relationship between hip abductor muscle strength and iliotibial band tightness in individuals with low back pain. Chiropr Osteopat. 2010;18:1.
- Cieza A, Stucki G, Weigl M, Disler P, Jackel W, van der Linden S, Kostanjsek N, de Bie R. ICF Core sets for low back pain. J Rehabil Med. 2004(44 Suppl):69–74.
- Cooper NA, Scavo KM, Strickland KJ, Tipayamongkol N, Nicholson JD, Bewyer DC, Sluka KA. Prevalence of gluteus medius weakness in people with chronic low back pain compared to healthy controls. Eur Spine J. 2016;25(4):1258–65.
- de Campos TF. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management NICE Guideline [NG59]. J Physiother. 2017;63(2):120.
- de Sousa CS, de Jesus FLA, Machado MB, Ferreira G, Ayres IGT, de Aquino LM, Fukuda TY, Gomes-Neto M. Lower limb muscle strength in patients with low back pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact. 2019;19(1):69–78.
- Egmond DL, Schuitemaker R. Extremiteiten, manuele therapie in enge en ruime zin. Houten: Bohn Stafleu van Loghum; 2019.

- Gallois M, Davergne T, Ledinot P, Ravaud P, Regnaux JP. Dosage of preventive or therapeutic exercise interventions: review of published randomized controlled trials and survey of authors. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2017;98(12):2558–65 e10.
- Garber CE, Blissmer B, Deschenes MR, Franklin BA, Lamonte MJ, Lee IM, Nieman DC, Swain DP. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(7):1334–59.
- Geneen LJ, Moore RA, Clarke C, Martin D, Colvin LA, Smith BH. Physical activity and exercise for chronic pain in adults: an overview of Cochrane Reviews. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2017;4:Cd011279.
- Gezondheidsraad. Beweegrichtlijnen 2017. Den Haag: Gezondheidsraad; 2017. Available at: https:// www.gezondheidsraad.nl/documenten/adviezen/2017/08/22/beweegrichtlijnen-2017. Accessed 26 May 2020.
- Globe G, Farabaugh RJ, Hawk C, Morris CE, Baker G, Whalen WM, Walters S, Kaeser M, Dehen M, Augat T. Clinical practice guideline: chiropractic care for low back pain. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2016;39(1):1–22.
- Gordon R, Bloxham S. A systematic review of the effects of exercise and physical activity on nonspecific chronic low back pain. Healthcare (Basel, Switzerland). 2016;4(2).
- Hartvigsen J, Hancock MJ, Kongsted A, Louw Q, Ferreira ML, Genevay S, Hoy D, Karppinen J, Pransky G, Sieper J, Smeets RJ, Underwood M, Lancet Low Back Pain Series Working G. What low back pain is and why we need to pay attention. Lancet (London, England). 2018;391(10137):2356–67.
- Hodges PW, Richardson CA. Inefficient muscular stabilization of the lumbar spine associated with low back pain. A motor control evaluation of transversus abdominis. Spine. 1996;21(22):2640–50.
- Hoogeboom TJ, Kousemaker MC, van Meeteren NL, Howe T, Bo K, Tugwell P, Ferreira M, de Bie RA, van den Ende CH, Stevens–Lapsley JE. i–CONTENT tool for assessing therapeutic quality of exercise programs employed in randomised clinical trials. Br J Sports Med. 2020.
- Hori M, Hasegawa H, Takasaki H. Comparisons of hamstring flexibility between individuals with and without low back pain: systematic review with meta-analysis. Physiother Theory Pract. 2019:1-24.
- Kankaanpaa M, Taimela S, Laaksonen D, Hanninen O, Airaksinen O. Back and hip extensor fatigability in chronic low back pain patients and controls. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1998;79(4):412–7.
- Kendall KD, Schmidt C, Ferber R. The relationship between hip-abductor strength and the magnitude of pelvic drop in patients with low back pain. J Sport Rehabil. 2010;19(4):422-35.
- Krenn C, Horvath K, Jeitler K, Zipp C, Siebenhofer–Kroitzsch A, Semlitsch T. Management of nonspecific low back pain in primary care – A systematic overview of recommendations from international evidence–based guidelines. Prim Health Care Res Dev. 2020;21:e64.
- Lin I, Wiles L, Waller R, Goucke R, Nagree Y, Gibberd M, Straker L, Maher CG, O'Sullivan PPB. What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. Br J Sports Med. 2019.
- Macedo LG, Saragiotto BT, Yamato TP, Costa LO, Menezes Costa LC, Ostelo RW, Maher CG. Motor control exercise for acute non-specific low back pain. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2016;2:Cd012085.
- Malfliet A, Ickmans K, Huysmans E, Coppieters I, Willaert W, Bogaert WV, Rheel E, Bilterys T, Wilgen PV, Nijs J. Best evidence rehabilitation for chronic pain part 3: low back pain. JCM. 2019;8(7).

- Marich AV, Hwang CT, Salsich GB, Lang CE, van Dillen LR. Consistency of a lumbar movement pattern across functional activities in people with low back pain. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon). 2017;44:45–51.
- Mayer J, Mooney V, Dagenais S. Evidence–informed management of chronic low back pain with lumbar extensor strengthening exercises. Spine. 2008;8(1):96–113.
- Meng XG, Yue SW. Efficacy of aerobic exercise for treatment of chronic low back pain: a metaanalysis. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2015;94(5):358–65.
- North American Spine Society (NASS). Diagnosis and treatment of low back pain [Online]. 2020. Available at: https://www.spine.org/Research-Clinical-Care/Quality-Improvement/Clinical-Guidelines. Geraadpleegd op 26 mei 2020.
- Ojha H, Masaracchio M, Johnston M, Howard RJ, Egan WE, Kirker K, Davenport TE. Minimal physical therapy utilization compared with higher physical therapy utilization for patients with low back pain: a systematic review. Physiother Theory Pract. 2020;36(11):1179–200.
- Oliveira CB, Maher CG, Pinto RZ, Traeger AC, Lin CC, Chenot JF, van Tulder M, Koes BW. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of non-specific low back pain in primary care: an updated overview. Eur Spine J. 2018;27(11):2791–803.
- Qaseem A, Wilt TJ, McLean RM, Forciea MA, Clinical Guidelines Committee of the American College of Physicians. Noninvasive treatments for acute, subacute, and chronic low back pain: a clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(7):514–30.
- Sadler SG, Spink MJ, Ho A, de Jonge XJ, Chuter VH. Restriction in lateral bending range of motion, lumbar lordosis, and hamstring flexibility predicts the development of low back pain: a systematic review of prospective cohort studies. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2017;18(1):179.
- Saragiotto BT, Maher CG, Yamato TP, Costa LO, Menezes Costa LC, Ostelo RW, Macedo LG. Motor control exercise for chronic non-specific low-back pain. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2016(1):Cd012004.
- Scholtes SA, Gombatto SP, van Dillen LR. Differences in lumbopelvic motion between people with and people without low back pain during two lower limb movement tests. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon). 2009;24(1):7–12.
- Sorensen CJ, Johnson MB, Norton BJ, Callaghan JP, van Dillen LR. Asymmetry of lumbopelvic movement patterns during active hip abduction is a risk factor for low back pain development during standing. Hum Mov Sci. 2016;50:38–46.
- Stochkendahl MJ, Kjaer P, Hartvigsen J, Kongsted A, Aaboe J, Andersen M, Andersen MO, Fournier G, Hojgaard B, Jensen MB, Jensen LD, Karbo T, Kirkeskov L, Melbye M, Morsel-Carlsen L, Nordsteen J, Palsson TS, Rasti Z, Silbye PF, Steiness MZ, Tarp S, Vaagholt M. National Clinical Guidelines for non-surgical treatment of patients with recent onset low back pain or lumbar radiculopathy. Eur Spine J. 2018;27(1):60–75.
- van Dillen LR, Lanier VM, Steger–May K, Wallendorf M, Norton BJ, Civello JM, Czuppon SL, Francois SJ, Roles K, Lang CE. Effect of motor skill training in functional activities vs strength and flexibility exercise on function in people with chronic low back pain: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Neurol. 2020.
- van Wambeke P, Desomer A, Ailliet L, Berquin A, Demoulin C, Depreitere B, Dewachter J, Dolphens M, Forget P, Fraselle V, Hans G, Hoste D, Mahieu G, Michielsen J, Nielens H, Orban T, Parlevliet T, Simons E, Tobbackx Y, van Schaeybroeck P, van Zundert J, Vanderstraeten J, Vlaeyen J, Jonckheer P. Low back pain and radicular pain: assessment and management. Brussel: Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre (KCE); 2017. Available at: https://biblio.ugent.be/publication/8520932/file/8520933. Accessed 26 May 2020.

#### Note C.3 Behaviour-oriented treatment

#### Literature

To answer the clinical question, the following research question was formulated:

Are behaviour-oriented treatments administered by a physical therapist or exercise therapist, possibly in addition to active treatment, recommended for patients with low back pain with or without sciatica for pain alleviation and improved physical functioning and quality of life?

Behaviour-oriented treatments are understood to mean operant conditioning (e.g. graded activity), cognitive behavioural therapy (e.g. exposure exercises) and respondent techniques (e.g. relaxation exercises). In this guideline, techniques stemming from or associated with behavioural therapy are also covered by behavioural therapy treatment. For example, techniques that utilise the relationship between cognitions, emotions and behaviour whose goal is to change how a patient copes with pain, such as Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT), interview techniques (e.g. motivational interviewing) and types of pain education. Pain education is described in C.1 'Information and advice and (pain) education'.

To elaborate on this clinical question, in consultation with the guideline panel and the review panel, evidence-based guidelines of high methodological quality were used that comment on behaviour-oriented and/or cognitive behavioural approaches, specifically:

- the British (multidisciplinary) Guideline on Low Back Pain and Sciatica in Over 16s: Assessment and Management, published by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (De Campos 2017);
- the guideline of the Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre (KCE) (Van Wambeke 2019), published in Flemish, French and English;
- the guideline of the American College of Physicians (Qaseem 2017).

The information from these guidelines has been supplemented by information from systematic reviews which were sometimes also the basis for these guidelines, and with sources from reference lists from these guidelines and sources of these reviews. In addition, a systematic search was conducted on recent systematic reviews (see A.1 'Introduction').

The systematic search was carried out on 14 April 2020 by an information specialist (J.W. Schoones, Leiden University Medical Centre) in PubMed, MEDLINE, Embase, Emcare, Web of Science and the Cochrane Library for the period 1 January 2015 to 14 April 2020. To be able to make pronouncements about the effectiveness of behaviour-oriented treatments that are administered by an exercise therapist or physical therapist, reviews were selected which specifically focus on RCTs and whereby treatment was primarily ( $\geq$  50%) administered by an exercise therapist or physical therapist or other paramedical professional (in a team-based approach, if needed). Only RCTs that were largely ( $\geq$  50%) conducted in a primary care setting or in an outpatient department of a hospital were eligible for inclusion. They also had to contain data about one or more of the following outcome variables: pain intensity, physical functioning, quality of life, cognitive behaviour), work-related outcomes or undesirable effects. Reviews were not suitable if the treatment in the experimental group consisted of information and advice and pain education, because this intervention has been discussed separately in C.1 'Information and advice and (pain) education'.

#### Results from the guidelines

The British (multidisciplinary) Guideline on Low Back Pain and Sciatica in Over 16s: Assessment and Management has been published by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) and focuses on low back pain with or without sciatica (De Campos 2017). The guideline investigated the cost-effectiveness of behaviour-oriented treatments with pain, physical activity, quality of life and psychological distress as the critical outcome measures. Important outcome measures were > 30 improvement of pain or physical activity, undesirable effects and healthcare costs. The guideline included 21 RCTs. The NICE guideline investigated mindfulness (3 RCTs), behavioural treatment (2 RCTs EMG biofeedback, 3 RCTs operant approach), cognitive therapy (3 RCTs), cognitive behavioural treatment (10 RCTs) and Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (o RCTs). Three RCTs investigated exercise therapy in combination with cognitive behavioural treatment (2 RCTs) or behavioural therapy (1 RTC). Three RCTs investigated the cost-effectiveness of cognitive behavioural treatment. The treatments were administered by psychologists or professionals in the healthcare sector, such as general practitioners and physical therapists who had received additional training for this. The behaviour-oriented treatments in the RCTs were rarely investigated as monotherapy, but were generally part of a composite treatment with various elements. Almost all studies included patients both with and without sciatica. The length of the treatments varied from three weeks to one year. Control treatments consisted of sham behaviour-oriented treatments, usual care or waitlist. The guideline states that there is no convincing evidence for offering a specific behaviour-oriented treatment. There are, however, indications that these treatments have added value if they are combined with other forms of treatment, such as exercise therapy.

Furthermore, it can be assumed that cognitive behavioural therapy is cost-effective as part of a multidisciplinary programme or in combination with exercise therapy. There is little evidence for this last conclusion, but it has been considered here that undertreatment of patients with chronic pain and psychosocial stress may lead to greater healthcare utilisation and higher costs. The NICE guideline states that behaviour-oriented treatments by physical therapists and exercise therapists (psychologically informed physiotherapy) should primarily focus on patients with chronic pain and psychosocial stress and not on patients with psychological disorders.

The Belgian Clinical Guideline on Low Back Pain and Radicular Pain describes a multidisciplinary healthcare pathway for people with low back pain with or without radicular pain (Van Wambeke 2019). The guideline largely bases recommendations on the guideline that the NICE has published, but the developers of the guideline also conducted literature review themselves on existing pathways and systematic reviews. The guideline recommends considering cognitive behavioural therapy for treating low back pain (with or without radicular pain), but only as part of multimodal treatment with a supervised exercise programme. The strength of the recommendation was classified as weak and the evidentiary level as moderate to very low.

The guideline of the American College of Physicians (ACP) is intended for people with low back pain with or without radicular pain and symptomatic spinal stenosis (Qaseem 2017). The guideline investigated the effectiveness of, among other things, EMG feedback, behavioural therapy and cognitive behavioural therapy, solution-oriented therapy, coping techniques, imagination, relaxation therapy and mindfulness therapy which were systematically published in randomised studies and systematic reviews. For people with chronic low back pain (duration of complaints > 12 weeks), the following treatments are recommended: mindfulness aimed at stress reduction (moderate evidentiary value), progressive relaxation therapy, EMG feedback, operant therapy and cognitive behavioural therapy (low evidentiary value). No recommendations are formulated for people with complaints lasting less than 12 weeks.
The following table contains an overview of the characteristics of the selected guidelines.

Source	Patient selection	Duration of complaints	Last update	Discipline
British guideline (De Campos 2017)	low back pain with or without sciatica	entire spectrum	15 December 2015	multidisciplinary
Belgian guideline (Van Wambeke 2019)	low back pain with or without sciatica	entire spectrum	18 April 2016	multidisciplinary
American guide-line (Qaseem 2017)	low back pain with or without sciatica	entire spectrum	November 2016	physicians

#### Characteristics of the selected guidelines

# Results from the reviews

The systematic search performed by the guideline panel for the period from 1 January 2015 to 14 April 2021 yielded 2,439 unique hits. After selecting by title and abstract (appendix C.3–2), 444 reviews remained. After examining the titles and summaries, 33 reviews remained, and after the complete examination of the reviews, eight remained (Baez 2018; Barbari 2019; Bostick 2017; Hajihasani 2019; Hall 2018; Mariano 2018; Van Erp 2019; Zhang 2019) (see appendix C.3–1 and C.3–3 for the flowchart and exclusion table of this process).

The references of the selected reviews were screened for potential reviews which were not identified with the systematic search. This did not yield any additional reviews. Three reviews had only selected RCTs where the behaviour-oriented treatments were administered by a physical therapist, one review was only about behaviour-oriented treatments that were not allowed to be administered by a psychologist, and four reviews had various professional caregivers involved. See appendix C.3-7 and appendix C.3-8 for the characteristics of the included studies and an overview of the evidentiary value and effectiveness per outcome measure.

Systematic reviews whereby the physical therapist administered the behaviour-oriented treatment Hall (2018) included five studies in which the effectiveness of cognitive behavioural therapy was investigated in patients with acute, subacute and chronic low back pain. In all studies, the experimental treatment was compared to another form of treatment (physical therapy, education, or advice on self-management and exercises). Treatments were administered in a group setting (2 RCTs), individually (2 RCTs) or individually in combination with group treatment (1 RCT); all treatments took place in a primary care setting. Four studies were eligible for a meta-analysis. Assessment of the evidentiary value was carried out according to the GRADE method. It appeared that cognitive behavioural therapy is more effective than control treatments for pain (SMD -0.21 [95% CI -0.33 to -0.09]) and for physical functioning (SMD -0.19 [95% CI -0.32 to -0.07]) in the long term (> 12 months) with a high evidentiary value. However, the effects were small and not clinically relevant. For quality of life there was no difference compared to control treatments (SMD -0.06 [95% CI -0.18 to 0.07]) in the long term with moderate evidentiary value. Van Erp (2019) included five studies in which the effectiveness of a biopsychosocial approach was investigated in patients with chronic low back pain. In all studies, the experimental treatment was compared to another form of treatment (physical therapy, education and advice or manual therapy plus exercises). Treatments were administered individually (5 RCTs) or individually in combination

with group treatment (2 RCTs); all treatments took place in the primary care setting (7 RCTs). No meta-analysis was conducted. Assessment of the evidentiary value was carried out according to the GRADE method. The authors concluded that a biopsychosocial approach is more effective than only education/advice for pain and physical functioning in the short term (<3 months), medium term (3-12 months) and long term (>12 months) with moderate evidentiary value (n = 3). A biopsychosocial approach did not appear to be more effective than physically active treatments for pain and physical functioning in the short term with a low evidentiary value (n = 4).

Zhang (2019) included 13 studies that investigated the effectiveness of a behaviour-oriented psychological approach that physical therapists used on patients with chronic LRP. Treatments were administered in the primary care setting (9 RCTs) and in the secondary care setting (4 RCTs). The experimental treatment was compared to usual care or waitlist (4 RCTs) and with an active treatment form (9 RCTs). In a meta-analysis that compared the experimental treatment with usual care or waitlist (4 RCTs), the experimental treatment was more effective in clinically relevant terms for pain in the short term (<6 months, SMD -0.33 [95% Cl -0.50 to -0.15]), medium term (6-12 months, SMD -0.33 [95% Cl -0.48 to -0.18]) and long term (>12 months, SMD -0.34 [95% Cl -0.52 to -0.16]). In a second meta-analysis, which compared the experimental treatment with an active treatment (9 RCTs), the experimental treatment was only significantly more effective (but not in clinically relevant terms) for pain in the long term (> 12 months, SMD -0.18 [95% Cl -0.35 to -0.01]).

# Systematic reviews where a physical therapist or other paramedical professional administered the behaviour-oriented treatment in a large part of the studies ( $\geq$ 50%)

Bostick (2017) included 11 studies that investigated the effectiveness of psychologically oriented treatments that 'non-psychologists' administered to patients with acute, subacute and chronic LRP. The researchers concluded that psychological treatments administered by 'non-psychologists' have a slightly positive effect on low back pain and physical functioning.

Baez (2018) included five studies that investigated the effectiveness of cognitive functional or behavioural treatment and/or psychoeducation and/or fear-avoidance-based techniques for decreasing fear-avoidance beliefs and fear of movement in patients with acute, subacute and chronic LRP. Fear-avoidance beliefs are dysfunctional thoughts about pain and fear of pain, and kinesiophobia is an irrational fear of movement or fear of incurring injury again. Cognitivefunctional treatment is aimed at training and integrating functional activities that a patient avoids in daily life. In two of the five RCTs, the researchers found significant and clinically relevant improvements in fear-avoidance beliefs in favour of cognitive behavioural treatments and/or psychoeducation. The researchers concluded that there was little and inconsistent evidence for the effectiveness of patient-oriented cognitive behavioural treatment and/or psychoeducation by rehabilitation specialists for treating fear-avoidance beliefs.

Barbari (2019) included 24 studies in which the effectiveness of communicative and educational strategies was investigated in patients with chronic LRP. The researchers concluded that cognitive behavioural treatment, pain education and graded exposure are the most effective treatments for changing (maladaptive) behaviour and compliance with exercises. Mindfulness-based stress reduction, graded activity and treatments aimed at self-management and coaching are short-lasting or entirely ineffective.

Hajihasani (2019) included 10 studies in which the effectiveness of operant, respondent and cognitive treatment strategies plus physical therapy versus physical therapy was investigated in patients with chronic LRP. The researchers concluded that operant, respondent and cognitive

74

treatment strategies as a supplement to physical therapy may result in reduced pain and improved physical functioning and quality of life, but there were no indications that these approaches resulted in decreased depression.

Mariano (2018) included six studies in which the effectiveness of cognitive-behavioural therapy treatments was investigated in patients with subacute LRP (duration of complaints 7-12 weeks). The researchers found a large variety of practitioners, treatment methods and treatment duration and concluded that the effectiveness of cognitive behavioural treatments have not yet been adequately investigated in patients with SALRP.

The results of the eight reviews should be viewed with some restraint, because they all score a crucially low quality on AMSTAR 2 (Shea 2017) (see appendix C.3–5 and C.3–6 for the characteristics of the included studies and an overview of the evidentiary value and effectiveness per outcome measure).

### Considerations

To answer the clinical question, other considerations were also included in the literature to recommendation process in addition to the literature. Together they determine the direction and strength of the recommendation.

The assessment of considerations and the explanation are provided in appendix C.3-4.

### **Outcome measures**

The effectiveness of behaviour-oriented treatments is assessed in RCTs and systematic reviews to a significant extent based on decreasing pain and improving physical functioning. However, with a unilateral focus on pain and physical functioning, the effectiveness of this form of treatment may be underestimated and the mutual differences between treatment methods remain underneath the surface. With behaviour-oriented treatments, patients often indicate that they do not experience less pain or improved physical functioning, but that, for example, they are able to cope with the pain better, have accepted the situation and have made room for supportive thoughts and undertaking valuable actions. These changes in cognitions and behaviour can then lead to more movement and better therapy compliance, because barriers to moving have been reduced or eliminated.

#### Choice of treatment form

More knowledge as to whether a psychological factor can help a mediating or moderating variable better answer the question 'Which type of behaviour-oriented treatment is recommended for which patient?' (Lee 2015). A mediating variable influences the causal relationship between the treatment and the result. This means that a change of the mediating variable during a treatment influences the result, whereby the variable does or does not interact with the given treatment (Pincus 2011). Although more research is needed, there are indications that variables such as selfeffectiveness, catastrophisation, fear of movement, psychological distress and thoughts about pain are important mediating variables (Lee 2015, 2016). Therapy results are then determined in part by the degree of change of these variables during the treatment. For example, exercise therapy can be effective for reducing pain in people in whom psychological distress decreases at the same time, but the same treatment has less or no effect in people in whom this is not the case. These finding substantiate the theory that various types of behaviour-oriented treatments via the same set of mediating variables lead to the same results and do not differ in effectiveness. This is also an explanation for the fact that various models have been developed for the way in

which psychological factors are connected with each other and influence each other. One of the models is the fear-avoidance model, which explains how catastrophisation can lead to fear-avoidance beliefs, physical dysfunction, depression and decreased (physical and mental) capacity (Vlaeyen 2000).

A psychological factor can also be a moderating variable. A moderating variable specifies for which patient and under which conditions the treatment is effective. The moderating variable is measured at baseline and is specifically linked to the treatment given (Pincus 2011). Results of a systematic review suggest that fear of movement is a moderating variable (Wertli 2014). For example, for patients with short-term complaints (<6 months), there is moderate evidentiary value that treatments for reducing fear of movement in patients with fear of movement are more effective at baseline than treatments that do not pay specific attention to this (Wertli 2014). The same authors found less consistent results with a low evidentiary value for patients with long-term complaints (>6 months). The authors explain this difference with the fact that they expect cognitions and behaviour in patients with longer-lasting complaints to be more difficult to change than in patients with short-lasting complaints. The authors suggest that training programmes with specific attention paid to fear of movement are unnecessary for patients without fear of movement or with low scores for fear of movement.

### Implementation

Implementation of behaviour-oriented treatments may be impeded by a lack of knowledge about the possibilities of behaviour-oriented programmes among some clinicians (Kunstler 2018), the lack of skills to apply these treatment methods and the lack of full acceptance and integration of the biopsychosocial model in therapeutic actions (Kunstler 2018; Louw 2021). The physical therapy and exercise therapy basic training teaches the principles of the time-contingent approach, motivational interviewing and coaching for behavioural change. Nevertheless, the average physical therapist and exercise therapist experience a lack of skills and confidence as a hindrance to successfully offering behaviour-oriented treatments and indicate that additional training is needed (Hutting 2020; Synnott 2015). Keefe (2018) states that it is unclear how therapists should be trained in behaviour-oriented approaches and which competencies a psychosomatic therapist needs to possess.

There are very extensive professional profiles for Dutch psychosomatic physical therapists and exercise therapists. However, it is not possible from a practical viewpoint to train all physical therapists and exercise therapists as psychosomatic therapists. The need for additional training also depends on the setting in which the therapist works. In the secondary and tertiary care setting there is often support from psychosomatic therapists, social workers and psychologists, who can perform a significant part of the behaviour-oriented treatments and can assist and coach therapists. This support is often lacking in the primary care setting. There are also certain types of behaviour-oriented treatment that require considerably more training (e.g. cognitive behavioural therapy) or less training (e.g. Jacobson's progressive muscle relaxation technique). Implementation of behaviour-oriented treatment can also be impeded if the patient's expectations do not correspond to the way the therapist approaches the complaints. The patient may be convinced that the back pain can only be explained based on the biomechanical model and/or strongly believe in the vulnerability of the back and that it needs to be protected. Although such thoughts can be a good reason for pain education and behaviour-oriented treatment, they can be very dominant and prevent the application of a biopsychosocial approach. The practitioner must take into account that patients can react negatively and sometimes even aggressively to the

suggestion that the complaints can be explained based on the biopsychosocial model and treated with a behaviour-oriented treatment. With such defensive reactions, it is important to be open to the patient's emotions and thoughts and to acknowledge these. Through empathetic listening and by asking questions, the patient's trust can be gained and a treatment plan can be developed that is agreeable to both stakeholders (Holt 2018).

### Correlation between pain and the various biological, psychological and social factors

The degree of complexity and dominance of psychosocial factors determine, together with pain, general health status and context, the degree to which cognitive behavioural therapy is administered. To this end, the therapist must examine to what extent psychological factors are connected to other possible causes of pain. Tousignant–Laflamme (2017) and Walton (2018) classify five causes (drivers) of pain: 1) cognitive–emotional (e.g. pain–avoidant or pain–persistent), 2) nociceptive (active or imminent tissue damage, e.g. as a result of very low (physical and mental) capacity or disrupted motor control), 3) nervous system disruptions (e.g. neuropathic pain and pain resulting from central sensitisation), 4) comorbidity and 5) contextual (e.g. limited financial resources and low job satisfaction).

### References

- Ainpradub K, Sitthipornvorakul E, Janwantanakul P, van der Beek AJ. Effect of education on nonspecific neck and low back pain: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Man Ther. 2016;22:31–41.
- Almeida MO, Yamato TP, Parreira P, Costa LOP, Kamper S, Saragiotto BT. Overall confidence in the results of systematic reviews on exercise therapy for chronic low back pain: a cross-sectional analysis using the Assessing the Methodological Quality of Systematic Reviews (AMSTAR) 2 tool. Braz J Phys Ther. 2020;24(2):103–17.
- Alonso-Coello P, Oxman AD, Moberg J, Brignardello-Petersen R, Akl EA, Davoli M, Treweek S, Mustafa RA, Vandvik PO, Meerpohl J, Guyatt GH, Schunemann HJ, Group GW. GRADE Evidence to Decision (EtD) frameworks: a systematic and transparent approach to making well informed healthcare choices. 2: Clinical practice guidelines. BMJ. 2016a;353:i2089.
- Alonso-Coello P, Schunemann HJ, Moberg J, Brignardello-Petersen R, Akl EA, Davoli M, Treweek S, Mustafa RA, Rada G, Rosenbaum S, Morelli A, Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Group GW. GRADE Evidence to Decision (EtD) frameworks: a systematic and transparent approach to making well informed healthcare choices. 1: Introduction. BMJ. 2016b;353:i2016.
- Anheyer D, Haller H, Barth J, Lauche R, Dobos G, Cramer H. Mindfulness-based stress reduction for treating low back pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(11):799–807.
- Baez S, Hoch MC, Hoch JM. Evaluation of cognitive behavioral interventions and psychoeducation implemented by rehabilitation specialists to treat fear–avoidance beliefs in patients with low back pain: a systematic review. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2018;99(11):2287–98.
- Barbari V, Storari L, Ciuro A, Testa M. Effectiveness of communicative and educative strategies in chronic low back pain patients: a systematic review. Patient Educ Couns. 2019.
- Bostick GP. Effectiveness of psychological interventions delivered by non-psychologists on low back pain and disability: a qualitative systematic review. Spine. 2017;17(11):1722-8.
- Bunzli S, Gillham D, Esterman A. Physiotherapy-provided operant conditioning in the management of low back pain disability: A systematic review. [review]. Phys Res Int. 2011;16(1):4–19.

- Chou R, Deyo R, Friedly J, Skelly A, Hashimoto R, Weimer M, Fu R, Dana T, Kraegel P, Griffin J, Grusing S, Brodt ED. Nonpharmacologic therapies for low back pain: a systematic review for an American College of Physicians clinical practice guideline. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(7):493–505.
- de Campos TF. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management NICE Guideline [NG59]. J Physiother. 2017;63(2):120.
- Du S, Hu L, Dong J, Xu G, Chen X, Jin S, Zhang H, Yin H. Self-management program for chronic low back pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Patient Educ Couns. 2017;100(1):37–49.
- Elbers S, Hermsen S, Bloemen M, Renes R, Wittink H. Gedragslenzen: theorie en toepassing. Een nieuw perspectief op gedragsverandering in de fysiotherapie. FysioPraxis. 2018;27(1):6.
- Gardner T, Refshauge K, McAuley J, Hubscher M, Goodall S, Smith L. Combined education and patientled goal setting intervention reduced chronic low back pain disability and intensity at 12 months: a randomised controlled trial. Br J Sports Med. 2019;53(22):1424–31.
- Garg S, Garg D, Turin TC, Chowdhury MF. Web-based interventions for chronic back pain: a systematic review. J Med Int Res. 2016;18(7):e139.
- Garland L, Jones G. Effectiveness of graded exercise & graded exposure for chronic nonspecific low back pain: A rapid review. Pain Rehabil. 2019;2020(48):30–6.
- Hajihasani A, Rouhani M, Salavati M, Hedayati R, Kahlaee AH. The influence of cognitive behavioral therapy on pain, quality of life, and depression in patients receiving physical therapy for chronic low back pain: a systematic review. PM R. 2019;11(2):167–76.
- Hall A, Richmond H, Copsey B, Hansen Z, Williamson E, Jones G, Fordham B, Cooper Z, Lamb S. Physiotherapist-delivered cognitive-behavioural interventions are effective for low back pain, but can they be replicated in clinical practice? A systematic review. Disabil Rehabil. 2018;40(1):1–9.
- Hasenbring MI, Pincus T. Effective reassurance in primary care of low back pain: what messages from clinicians are most beneficial at early stages? Clin J Pain. 2015;31(2):133–6.
- Hazlett-Stevens H, Singer J, Chong A. Mindfulness-based stress reduction and mindfulness-based cognitive therapy with older adults: a qualitative review of randomized controlled outcome research. Clinical Gerontologist. 2019;42(4):347–58.
- Henschke N, Ostelo RW, van Tulder MW, Vlaeyen JW, Morley S, Assendelft WJ, Main CJ. Behavioural treatment for chronic low-back pain. Cochrane database of systematic reviews (Online). 2010;7(pp CD002014), 2010. Date of Publication: 2010.).
- Holden J, Davidson M, O'Halloran PD. Health coaching for low back pain: a systematic review of the literature. Int J Clin Pract. 2014;68(8):950–62.
- Holt N, Mansell G, Hill JC, Pincus T. Testing a model of consultation-based reassurance and back pain outcomes with psychological risk as moderator: a prospective cohort study. Clin J Pain. 2018;34(4):339-48.
- Huber M, van Vliet M, Giezenberg M, Winkens B, Heerkens Y, Dagnelie PC, Knottnerus JA. Towards a 'patient-centred' operationalisation of the new dynamic concept of health: a mixed methods study. BMJ Open. 2016;6(1):e010091.
- Hutting N, Oswald W, Staal JB, Heerkens YF. Self-management support for people with nonspecific low back pain: A qualitative survey among physiotherapists and exercise therapists. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2020;50:102269.
- Keefe FJ, Main CJ, George SZ. Advancing psychologically informed practice for patients with persistent musculoskeletal pain: promise, pitfalls, and solutions. Phys Ther. 2018;98(5):398–407.

- Keogh A, Tully MA, Matthews J, Hurley DA. A review of behaviour change theories and techniques used in group based self-management programmes for chronic low back pain and arthritis. Man Ther. 2015;20(6):727–35.
- Köke AJA, Hilberdink S, Hilberdink WKHA, Reneman MF, Schoffelen T, van Heeringen-de Groot D, Wittink H. KNGF-standaard Beweeginterventie chronische pijn. 2014.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn lage rugpijn. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2013. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/lagerugpijn. Accessed 30 November 2020.
- Kunstler BE, Cook JL, Freene N, Finch CF, Kemp JL, O'Halloran PD, Gaida JE. Physiotherapists use a small number of behaviour change techniques when promoting physical activity: A systematic review comparing experimental and observational studies. J Sci Med Sport. 2018;21(6):609–15.
- Lee H, Hubscher M, Moseley GL, Kamper SJ, Traeger AC, Mansell G, McAuley JH. How does pain lead to disability? A systematic review and meta-analysis of mediation studies in people with back and neck pain. Pain. 2015;156(6):988–97.
- Lee H, Mansell G, McAuley JH, Kamper SJ, Hubscher M, Moseley GL, Wolfenden L, Hodder RK, Williams CM. Causal mechanisms in the clinical course and treatment of back pain. Baillieres Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2016;30(6):1074–83.
- Lin YC, Wan L, Jamison RN. Using integrative medicine in pain management: an evaluation of current evidence. Anesth Analg. 2017;125(6):2081–93.
- Linton SJ. A review of psychological risk factors in back and neck pain. Spine. 2000;25(9):1148–56.
- Lopez-de-Uralde-Villanueva I, Munoz-Garcia D, Gil-Martinez A, Pardo-Montero J, Munoz-Plata R, Angulo-Diaz-Parreno S, Gomez-Martinez M, La Touche R. A Systematic review and metaanalysis on the effectiveness of graded activity and graded exposure for chronic nonspecific low back pain. Pain Med. 2016;17(1):172–88.
- Lorenc A, Feder G, MacPherson H, Little P, Mercer SW, Sharp D. Scoping review of systematic reviews of complementary medicine for musculoskeletal and mental health conditions. BMJ Open. 2018;8(10):e020222.
- Louw A, Sluka KA, Nijs J, Courtney CA, Zimney K. Revisiting the provision of pain neuroscience education: an adjunct intervention for patients but a primary focus of clinician education. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2021;51(2):57–9.
- Macedo LG, Latimer J, Maher CG, Hodges PW, Nicholas M, Tonkin L, McAuley JH, Stafford R. Motor control or graded activity exercises for chronic low back pain? A randomised controlled trial. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders. 2008;9:65, 2008.
- Mariano TY, Urman RD, Hutchison CA, Jamison RN, Edwards RR. Cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) for subacute low back pain: a systematic review. Cur Pain Head Rep. 2018;22(3):15.
- Martinez–Calderon J, Flores–Cortes M, Morales–Asencio JM, Luque–Suarez A. Conservative interventions reduce fear in individuals with chronic low back pain: a systematic review. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2020;101(2):329–58.
- Matheve T, Brumagne S, Timmermans AAA. The effectiveness of technology-supported exercise therapy for low back pain: a systematic review. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2017;96(5):347–56.
- McCracken LM, Vowles KE. Acceptance and commitment therapy and mindfulness for chronic pain: model, process, and progress. Am Psychol. 2014;69(2):178–87.
- Moisset X, Bouhassira D, Avez Couturier J, Alchaar H, Conradi S, Delmotte MH, Lanteri–Minet M, Lefaucheur JP, Mick G, Piano V, Pickering G, Piquet E, Regis C, Salvat E, Attal N. Pharmacological and non–pharmacological treatments for neuropathic pain: systematic review and French recommendations. Rev Neurol. 2020 May;176(5):325–52.

- Nascimento P, Costa LOP, Araujo AC, Poitras S, Bilodeau M. Effectiveness of interventions for nonspecific low back pain in older adults. A systematic review and meta-analysis. Physiotherapy. 2019;105(2):147-62.
- O'Keeffe M, Purtill H, Kennedy N, Conneely M, Hurley J, O'Sullivan P, Dankaerts W, O'Sullivan K. Comparative effectiveness of conservative interventions for nonspecific chronic spinal pain: physical, behavioral/psychologically informed, or combined? a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Pain. 2016;17(7):755–74.
- Oliveira VC, Ferreira PH, Maher CG, Pinto RZ, Refshauge KM, Ferreira ML. Effectiveness of selfmanagement of low back pain: systematic review with meta-analysis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2012;64(11):1739–48.
- Pardos–Gascón EM, Narambuena L, Leal–Costa C, van–der Hofstadt–Román CJ. Differential efficacy between cognitive–behavioral therapy and mindfulness–based therapies for chronic pain: Systematic review. Int J Clin Health Psychol. 2021;21(1):100197.
- Pincus T, Miles C, Froud R, Underwood M, Carnes D, Taylor SJ. Methodological criteria for the assessment of moderators in systematic reviews of randomised controlled trials: a consensus study. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2011;11:14.
- Qaseem A, Wilt TJ, McLean RM, Forciea MA. Noninvasive treatments for acute, subacute, and chronic low back pain: a clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(7):514–30.
- Ramond-Roquin A, Bouton C, Begue C, Petit A, Roquelaure Y, Huez JF. Psychosocial risk factors, interventions, and comorbidity in patients with non-specific low back pain in primary care: need for comprehensive and patient-centered care. Front Med (Lausanne). 2015 Oct 8;2:73.
- Richards MC, Ford JJ, Slater SL, Hahne AJ, Surkitt LD, Davidson M, McMeeken JM. The effectiveness of physiotherapy functional restoration for post-acute low back pain: a systematic review. Man Ther. 2013;18(1):4–25.
- Richmond H, Hall AM, Copsey B, Hansen Z, Williamson E, Hoxey–Thomas N, Cooper Z, Lamb SE. The effectiveness of cognitive behavioural treatment for non–specific low back pain: a systematic review and meta–analysis. PLoS One. 2015;10(8):e0134192.
- Rochfort A, Beirne S, Doran G, Patton P, Gensichen J, Kunnamo I, Smith S, Eriksson T, Collins C. Does patient self-management education of primary care professionals improve patient outcomes: a systematic review. BMC Fam Pract. 2018;19(1):163.
- Shaw WS, Hartvigsen J, Woiszwillo MJ, Linton SJ, Reme SE. Psychological distress in acute low back pain: a review of measurement scales and levels of distress reported in the first 2 months after pain onset. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2016;97(9):1573–87.
- Shea BJ, Reeves BC, Wells G, Thuku M, Hamel C, Moran J, Moher D, Tugwell P, Welch V, Kristjansson E, Henry DA. AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. BMJ. 2017;358:j4008.
- Sielski R, Rief W, Glombiewski JA. Efficacy of biofeedback in chronic back pain: a meta-analysis. Int J Behav Med. 2017;24(1):25-41.
- Stewart M, Loftus S. Sticks and stones: the impact of language in musculoskeletal rehabilitation. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2018;48(7):519–22.
- Synnott A, O'Keeffe M, Bunzli S, Dankaerts W, O'Sullivan P, O'Sullivan K. Physiotherapists may stigmatise or feel unprepared to treat people with low back pain and psychosocial factors that influence recovery: a systematic review. J Physiother. 2015;61(2):68–76.
- Tegner H, Frederiksen P, Esbensen BA, Juhl C. Neurophysiological pain education for patients with chronic low back pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin J Pain. 2018;34(8):778-86.

- Toomey E, Currie–Murphy L, Matthews J, Hurley DA. Implementation fidelity of physiotherapist– delivered group education and exercise interventions to promote self–management in people with osteoarthritis and chronic low back pain: A rapid review Part II (vol 20, pg 287, 2015). Man Ther. 2016;23:32–.
- Toomey E, Currie–Murphy L, Matthews J, Hurley DA. The effectiveness of physiotherapist–delivered group education and exercise interventions to promote self–management for people with osteoarthritis and chronic low back pain: a rapid review part I. Man Ther. 2015;20(2):265–86.
- Tousignant-Laflamme Y, Martel MO, Joshi AB, Cook CE. Rehabilitation management of low back pain - it's time to pull it all together! J Pain Res. 2017;10:2373-85.
- van der Giessen RN, Speksnijder CM, Helders PJ. The effectiveness of graded activity in patients with non-specific low-back pain: a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil. 2012;34(13):1070-6.
- van Erp RM, Huijnen IP, Verbunt JA, Smeets R. Back on Track. Een biopsychosociale behandeling voor chronische lagerugpijn. FysioPraxis. 2018;27(5):3.
- van Erp RMA, Huijnen IPJ, Jakobs MLG, Kleijnen J, Smeets R. Effectiveness of primary care interventions using a biopsychosocial approach in chronic low back pain: a systematic review. Pain Pract. 2019;19(2):224–41.
- Van Wambeke P, Desomer A, Jonckheer P, Depreitere B. The Belgian national guideline on low back pain and radicular pain: key roles for rehabilitation, assessment of rehabilitation potential and the PRM specialist. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2019;23.
- Veenhof C, van Hasselt TJ, Koke AJ, Dekker J, Bijlsma JW, van den Ende CH. Active involvement and long-term goals influence long-term adherence to behavioural graded activity in patients with osteoarthritis: a qualitative study. Aust J Physiother. 2006;52(4):273–8.
- Vereniging van oefentherapeuten Cesar en Mensendieck (VvOCM). Oefentherapeutisch diagnostiek en interventie model (ODIM). Beweegreden. Utrecht: VvOCM; 2015.
- Vitoula K, Venneri A, Varrassi G, Paladini A, Sykioti P, Adewusi J, Zis P. Behavioral therapy approaches for the management of low back pain: an up-to-date systematic review. Pain Ther. 2018;7(1):1–12.
- Vlaeyen JWS, Linton SJ. Fear-avoidance and its consequences in chronic musculoskeletal pain: a state of the art. Pain. 2000;85(3):317–32.
- Walton DM, Elliott JM. A new clinical model for facilitating the development of pattern recognition skills in clinical pain assessment. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2018;36:17–24.
- Wertli MM, Rasmussen–Barr E, Held U, Weiser S, Bachmann LM, Brunner F. Fear–avoidance beliefs–a moderator of treatment efficacy in patients with low back pain: a systematic review. Spine. 2014;14(11):2658–78.
- Wood L, Hendrick PA. A systematic review and meta-analysis of pain neuroscience education for chronic low back pain: Short-and long-term outcomes of pain and disability. Eur J Pain. 2019;23(2):234-49.
- Zhang Q, Jiang S, Young L, Li F. The effectiveness of group-based physiotherapy-led behavioral psycho-logical interventions on adults with chronic low back pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2019;98(3):215–25.
- Zou L, Zhang Y, Yang L, Loprinzi PD, Yeung AS, Kong J, Chen KW, Song W, Xiao T, Li H. Are mindful exer-cises safe and beneficial for treating chronic lower back pain? a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. JCM. 2019;8(5).

### Note C.4.1 Mobilisations and manipulations

### Literature

To answer the clinical question, a systematic literature analysis was carried out for the following research question (PICO):

What are the desirable and undesirable effects (0) of manipulation and/or mobilisation as a supplement to exercise therapy (I) versus exercise therapy possibly in combination with another control intervention without manipulation and/or mobilisation (C) in patients with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (P)?

What are the desirable and undesirable effects (0) of manipulation and/or mobilisation (I) versus a control intervention without manipulation and/or mobilisation (C) in patients with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (P)?

What are the desirable and undesirable effects (0) of manipulation (I) versus mobilisation (C) in patients with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (P)?

### Search

The literature review was conducted in a hierarchical manner; the search first focused on existing systematic reviews, possibly as part of an evidence-based guideline. Based on this search, the following sources were identified: a guideline of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (De Campos 2017), the guideline of the Danish Health Authority (Stochkendahl 2018), a systematic review as a preliminary publication of a Cochrane review on chronic low back pain (Rubinstein 2019) and a Cochrane review on acute and subacute low back pain that is in its final phase (de Zoete). See the following table.

Source	Patient selection	Duration of complaints	Last update
British guideline (NICE)	low back pain with or without sciatica	entire spectrum	15 December 2015
Danish guideline	low back pain with or without sciatica	<12 weeks	low back pain March 2016 sciatica December 2014
systematic review of chronic pain (Cochrane preliminary publication)	low back pain with or without sciatica (excluding studies with solely patients with sciatica)	>3 months	4 May 2018
systematic review of acute/ subacute pain (in the final phase at the time of this guideline's development)	low back pain with or without sciatica (excluding studies with solely patients with sciatica)	0 to 12 weeks	4 May 2018

## Selected guidelines and systematic reviews

The literature review of the two systematic reviews was from a more recent date than that of the two guidelines but had excluded studies with solely patients with sciatica. These studies had been included in the British and Danish guidelines, due to which these guidelines were better aligned with our search. Ultimately, we decided to use the two reviews as basic principles for selecting articles and implement an update of the search starting on 1 January 2018. Finally, the NICE guideline and the Danish guideline were screened for additional literature with specific attention paid to studies where solely patients with sciatica were selected.

The articles from the two systematic reviews and the two guidelines were tested according to the predefined inclusion criteria. See the following table.

Type of studies	Randomised controlled study published in English or Dutch
Type of patients	Adults with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (see <u>A.1 'Introduction'</u> )
Type of intervention	<ul> <li>PICO 1: mobilisation and/or manipulation as a supplement to exercise therapy (with exercise therapy being an important part of the treatment [&gt;50% of the treatment time])</li> <li>PICO 2: mobilisation and/or manipulation</li> <li>PICO 3: mobilisation versus manipulation</li> <li>Mobilisation and manipulation are understood to mean passive hands-on treatment techniques on the spine. Mobilisation is a low-speed movement technique with minor or major movement results within the patient's range of motion and within the patient's control. Manipulation is a movement technique whereby local force is applied with high speed and low amplitude on a specific lumbar segment on or just before the passive or physiological end position of the joint.</li> </ul>
Type of comparison	<ul> <li>PIC0 1: Control intervention consisting of exercise therapy, possibly in combination with another control intervention pursuant to the current guideline without manipulation and/or mobilisation</li> <li>PIC0 2: Control intervention: a) intervention pursuant to the current guideline; b) sham mobilisation or manipulation; c) placebo treatment; d) no treatment (do nothing/wait list)</li> <li>Interventions pursuant to this guideline are: information and advice and (pain) education, exercise therapy, cognitive behavioural treatment, manipulation/ mobilisation, massage, dry needling, kinesiotaping, interference and TENS.</li> <li>Interventions that are not pursuant to this guideline include supervision by a general practitioner, operations, epidural, facet blockage/injections, acupuncture, kinesiology and pain medication, among others.</li> <li>Exclusion: mobilisation and/or manipulation combined with interventions that are not pursuant to the current guideline, mobilisation and/or manipulation combined with another intervention, due to which the value of the mobilisation and/or manipulation cle.g. spinal mobilisation and/or manipulation combined with specific techniques (e.g. spinal mobilisation with leg movement), the control intervention consists of mobilisation and/or manipulation, the data of the patients with low back pain cannot be separately extracted, are missing from follow-up measurements, practitioners do not have (para)medical training (e.g. napropaths and bone setters), strong bias in the research (e.g. only patients who respond well to mobilisation and/or manipulation were selected), the data cannot be derived from the article and the author does not respond to a request to deliver these and specific patient populations with low back pain (e.g. after pregnancy).</li> </ul>

### Selection criteria for the search on literature about manipulation and mobilisation

Type of outcome	<b>Crucial:</b> Pain intensity. Measurement instruments for pain include the Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) and the Numeric Pain Rating Scale (NPRS). Physical functioning. Measurement instruments for physical functioning in patients with low back pain include the Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire (RMDQ),
	Oswestry Disability Index (ODI) and Quebec Back Pain Disability Scale (QBPDS) and physical functioning on a VAS.
	<b>Important:</b> Quality of life. Measurement instruments for quality of life include the SF- 36, EuroQol, and general experienced quality of life on a VAS.
	Work-related outcomes. Measurement instruments may be aimed at the degree of return to paid work or change in work productivity, for example.
	Undesirable effects. All negative effects that might be related to the intervention. This may include increased pain and/or limitations in physical functioning, or pain and/or limitations in physical functioning of a type other than the kind for which one initially sought help, occurring immediately after the intervention. The effects can be short-term, but also serious or even life-threatening, or can result in hospitalisation.
Type of timeline	Short (≤4 months) and/or long (>4 months) term. In the event of multiple measurement points, the measurement point that is closest to this time indication is included.

### Selection of studies from systematic reviews and guidelines

The systematic review of patients with chronic low back pain (Rubinstein 2019) entailed 47 RCTs, of which 31 fulfilled our inclusion criteria (Balthazard 2012; Bialosky 2014; Bronfort 2011; Castro-Sánchez 2016; Cecchi 2010; Cook 2013; Dougherty 2014; Ferreira 2007; Ghroubi 2007; Gibson 1985; Goldby 2006; Hidalgo 2015; Hondras 2009; Hsieh 2002; Koes 1992; Krekoukias 2017; Paatelma 2008; Petersen 2011; Pope 1994, Postacchini 1988; Rasmussen-Barr 2003; Rasmussen 2008; Sarker 2016; Senna 2011; Team 2004; Ulger 2017; Vismara 2012; Waagen 1986; Walker 2013; Waqqar 2016; Xia 2016). The systematic review of patients with acute] and subacute low back pain (De Zoete, not published) entailed 31 RCTs, of which 17 fulfilled our inclusion criteria (Brennan 2006; Cherkin 1998; Childs 2004; Cleland 2009; Glover 1974; Hadler 1987; Hallegraeff 2009; Hoehler 1981; Hurley 2004; Hussain 2013; MacDonald 1990; Postacchini 1988; Schenk 2012; Seferlis 1998; Shah 2016; Skargren 1997; Wreje 1992). One article was included in both studies (Postacchini 1988), so that the total number of selected articles from the two reviews was 47 articles.

The search in the NICE guideline yielded four additional articles (Bronfort 2014; Morton 1999; Santilli 2006; Triano 1995), and a more indepth analysis of the Danish guideline yielded zero additional articles.

On 4 June 2020, an information specialist (J.W. Schoones, Leiden University Medical Centre) conducted a systematic search in PubMed, MEDLINE, Embase, Emcare, Web of Science and the Cochrane Library for the period 1 January 2018 to 4 June 2020 (see appendix C.4.1–6 for the search rationale). The update of the systematic search produced 462 unique hits. After screening of the title and the abstract based on the inclusion criteria, 449 articles were excluded. The complete article was screened for 13 articles, and six studies turned out to fulfil our criteria (Alt 2020; De Oliveira Meirelles 2020; Ford 2019; Grande–Alonso 2019; Sarker 2019; Schulz 2019). See appendix C.4.1–1 for the flowchart of the inclusion process.

The total number of studies in this literature analysis therefore amounts to 57. See appendix C.4.1–3 for the flowchart of the inclusion process. The studies that were excluded from the updated search and the two systematic reviews are listed in appendix C.4.1–2.

### Characteristics of the included studies

The 57 included studies included a total of 8,646 patients with low back pain, with a median number of patients per study of 109 (IQR 58–199). Most studies included patients of middle age (35–60 years), with and without sciatica. Four studies included only patients with low back pain without sciatica (Dougherty 2014; Ghroubi 2007; Sarker 2019; Shah 2016) and two studies only patients with sciatica (Bronfort 2014; Santilli 2006). In total, 37 studies included only or primarily patients with chronic low back pain, 19 studies included only or primarily patients with acute or subacute pain and one study included patients with acute, subacute and chronic low back pain (Postacchini 1988). The practitioners in the studies were physical therapists or manual therapists (24 studies), chiropractors (16 studies), osteopaths (6 studies), physicians (3 studies) or practitioners with a different background (3 studies). In 5 studies the practitioner's background was unclear.

### Individual study quality (RoB)

The quality of the design and execution of the individual studies (risk of bias, RoB) was assessed with the help of the Cochrane Risk-of-Bias tool (Higgins 2011). The assessments were taken over from the Cochrane reviews; the studies that did not appear in the two reviews were assessed by AA. An overview of the study quality assessment (RoB) per study is provided in appendix C.4.1-4.

# Effectiveness and evidentiary value of mobilisation and/or manipulation plus exercise therapy versus exercise therapy (plus another intervention)

The effect of mobilisation and/or manipulation plus exercise therapy on pain and physical limitations in the short term was compared in 11 RCTs (Balthazard 2012; Bronfort 2014; Childs 2004; Grande–Alonso 2019; MacDonald 1990; Morton 1999; Petersen 2011; Rasmussen 2008; Schulz 2019; Team 2004; Vismara 2012) with exercise therapy alone or with the effect of exercise therapy plus another intervention aligned with the guideline, and in the long term in seven RCTs (Balthazard 2012; Bronfort 2014; Childs 2004; Petersen 2011; Rasmussen 2008; Schulz 2019; Team 2004; Childs 2004; Petersen 2011; Rasmussen 2008; Schulz 2019; Team 2004). An overview of the results in the short term and long term that could be pooled is depicted in the following tables. See appendix C.4.1–7, figures 1 through 4 for the forest plots of the crucial and important outcomes.

GRADE evidence profile of the studies on mobilisation and/or manipulation plus exercise therapy versus exercise therapy (plus another intervention) in the short term ( $\leq 4$  months)

RCT's	Quality asse	ssment (dowi	n-grading)	Sumr	nary of	f results	Eviden-	Effects		
(n)	Study design and execution (RoB)	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patie ( <i>n</i> )	nts	Effect size (95% Cl)	tiary value	(crucial or im- portant)
						I	C			
Pain (N	IPRS [0-100] a	and VAS [o-10	o])							
9	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>2</sup>	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	776	739	MD -6.66 (-11.04; -2.29)	low	crucial
Physic	al functioning	g (ODI, RMDQ)								
10	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>2</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	863	830	SMD -0.15 (-0.36; 0.05)	very low	crucial
Quality	y of life (SF–36	5; PCS 0-100)								·
3	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	407	447	MD 0.08 (-0.93; 1.09)	moder- ate	impor- tant

×

85

1	1

Qualit	y of life (SF-36	5, MCS 0-100)								
3	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	407	447	MD 0.75 (-0.27; 1.76)	moder- ate	impor- tant
Qualit	y of life (Euro	Qol, VAS o-100	<b>)</b>							
2	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>2</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	191	232	MD 3.81 (-3.44; 11.05)	very low	impor- tant
Work-	related outco	mes (number	of patients w	vith work rest	rictions (not	furthe	r opera	tionalised))*		
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	severe⁵	not deter- mined	32 / 47	35 / 65	RR 1.26 (0.94; 1.70)	very low	impor- tant
Undes	irable effects									
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; *n* = number; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RMDQ = Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; SMD = standardized mean difference; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Downgraded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity (CIs do not overlap, I2> 60% and/or tau2 p <0.10). <sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to the varied and imprecise descriptions of the measurement methods. <sup>4</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because the 95% CI exceeds no effect and a clinically relevant effect (broad confidence interval). <sup>5</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <300.

Note: Outcomes are in favour of the intervention mobilisation/manipulation with a decrease in pain and physical functioning and with an increase in quality of life and with an RR >1.00.

\* Patients (n) with work-related outcomes: the number of patients that could work again compared to the number of patients that could not work at baseline due to low back pain.

# GRADE evidence profile of the studies on mobilisation and/or manipulation plus exercise therapy versus exercise therapy (plus another intervention) in the long term (> 4 months)

RCT's	Quality asse	ssment (dow	n-grading)			Sumr	nary of	results	Eviden- tiary value	Effects
(n)	Study design and	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patie ( <i>n</i> )	nts	Effect size (95% Cl)		(crucial or im-
	execution (RoB)					I	C			portant)
Pain (N	NPRS [0-100] a	and VAS [0-10	o])							
6	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	711	671	MD -0.33 (-2.32; 1.66)	moder- ate	crucial
Physic	al functioning	g (ODI, RMDQ)								
6	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>2</sup>	not severe	severe4	not deter- mined	765	719	SMD -0.18 (-0.38; 0.03)	very low	crucial
Quality	y of life (SF-36	5; PCS 0-100)								
3	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	397	450	MD -0.03 (-1.22; 1.16)	moder- ate	impor- tant
Quality	y of life (SF-36	5, MCS 0-100)								
3	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	397	450	MD 1.40 (0.30; 2.51)	moder- ate	impor- tant
Quality	y of life (Euro	Qol, VAS o-100	<b>b)</b>							
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	severe⁵	not deter- mined	154	167	MD -3.84 (-8.51; 0.83)	low	impor- tant

 $\checkmark$ 

С

#### Work-related outcomes (number of patients with work restrictions (not further operationalised))\*

		-	•		-		•					
2	severe¹	severe <sup>2</sup>	severe <sup>3</sup>	severe⁵	not deter- mined	80 / 99	76 <i> </i> 106	RR 1.12 (0.94; 1.33)	very low	impor- tant		
Undesi	Jndesirable effects											
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A			

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; *n* = number; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RMDQ = Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; SMD = standardized mean difference; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity (CIs do not overlap, I2> 60% and/or tau2 p <0.10). <sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to the varied and imprecise descriptions of the measurement methods. <sup>4</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because the 95% CI exceeds no effect and a clinically relevant effect (broad confidence interval). <sup>5</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <300 with dichotomous outcome measures.

Note: Outcomes are in favour of the intervention mobilisation/manipulation with a decrease in pain and physical functioning and with an increase in quality of life and with an RR >1.00.

\* Patients (n) with work-related outcomes: the number of patients that could work again compared to the number of patients that could not work at baseline due to low back pain

# Effectiveness and evidentiary value of mobilisation and/or manipulation versus another intervention

The effect of mobilisation and/or manipulation on pain and physical limitations in the short term was compared with another intervention aligned with the guideline in 21 RCTs (Brennan 2006; Bronfort 2011; Cecchi 2010; Cherkin 1998; De Oliveira Meirelles 2020; Dougherty 2014; Ferreira 2007; Ford 2019; Hsieh 2002; Hurley 2004; Krekoukias 2017; Paatelma 2008; Rasmussen–Barr 2003; Sarker 2016; Schenk 2012; Shah 2016; Skargren 1997; Team 2004; Triano 1995; Ulger 2017; Waqqar 2016), and in the long term in 12 RCTs (Brennan 2006; Bronfort 2011; Cecchi 2010; Dougherty 2014; Ferreira 2007; Ford 2019; Hsieh 2002; Hurley 2004; Paatelma 2008; Rasmussen–Barr 2003; Skargren 1997; Team 2004). An overview of the results in the short term and long term that could be pooled is depicted in the following tables. See appendix C.4.1–7 for the forest plots of the crucial and important outcomes (figures 5 through 8).

# GRADE evidence profile of the studies on mobilisation and/or manipulation versus another intervention in the short term ( $\leq 4$ months)

RCT's	Quality assessment (down-grading)					Summary of results			Eviden-	Effects
(n)	Study design and execution (RoB)	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patie ( <i>n</i> ) I	nts C	Effect size (95% Cl)	tiary value	(crucial or im- portant)
			-							

#### Pain (NPRS [0-100] and VAS [0-100])

25	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>3</sup>	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	1391	1552	MD -5.75 (-10.62; -0.89)	low	crucial		
Physical functioning (ODI, RMDQ)												
20	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>3</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	1352	1616	SMD -0.18 (-0.36; -0.01)	low	crucial		

С

Qual	ity of life (SF-	-36; PCS 0-100	)							
2	very severe²	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	357	375	MD -0.24 (-1.30; 0.83)	low	impor- tant
Qual	ity of life (SF-	-36, MCS 0-10	o)							
2	very severe²	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	357	375	MD 2.17 (1.05; 3.29)	low	impor- tant
Qual	ity of life (Eu	roQol, VAS o-1	00)							
5	very severe²	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	342	308	MD 2.51 (-0.12; 5.13)	low	impor- tant
Worl	-related out	comes (numb	er of patients	with work re	estrictions (not	furthe	r opera	ationalised))*		
2	very severe²	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	severe⁵	not deter- mined	41 / 94	56 / 105	RR 0.94 (0.71; 1.27)	very low	impor- tant
Und	esirable effec	ts								
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; *n* = number; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RMDQ = Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; SMD = standardized mean difference; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 2 levels due to severe RoB on other categories, whereby studies with many participants outweigh studies with few participants.

<sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity (CIs do not overlap, I2> 60% and/or tau2 *p* <0.10). <sup>4</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to the varied and imprecise descriptions of the measurement methods. <sup>5</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <300 with dichotomous outcome measures and <400 with continuous outcome measures.

Note: Outcomes are in favour of the intervention mobilisation/manipulation with a decrease in pain and physical functioning and with an increase in quality of life and with an RR >1.00.

\* Patients (n) with work-related outcomes: the number of patients that could work again compared to the number of patients that could not work at baseline due to low back pain.

# GRADE evidence profile of the studies on mobilisation and/or manipulation versus another intervention in the long term (> 4 months)

RCT's (n)	Quality asse	ssment (dow	n-grading)		Sumr	nary o	f results	Eviden-	Effects (crucial or im- portant)	
	Study design and	Inconsist– ency	Indirect– ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patients ( <i>n</i> )		Effect size (95% CI)		tiary value
	execution (RoB)					I	C			
Pain (I	NPRS [0-100] a	and VAS [o-10	o])	•						
11	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>3</sup>	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	950	1119	MD -2.40 (-5.72; 0.92)	low	crucial

# Physical functioning (ODI, RMDQ)

12	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>3</sup>	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	1000	1218	SMD -0.10 (-0.22; 0.02)	low	crucial			
Quality of life (SF-36; PCS o-100)													
2	not severe	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	344	373	373 MD -0.61 (-1.88; 0.67)	low	impor- tant			

 $\checkmark$ 

× 2	
×.	

Qual	ity of life (SF-	36, MCS 0-100	)							
2	very severe²	not severe	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	344	373	MD 1.11 (-0.28; 2.51)	low	impor- tant
Qual	ity of life (Eu	oQol, VAS o-1	00)							
4	very severe²	severe <sup>3</sup>	not severe	not severe	not deter- mined	276	245	MD -1.76 (-4.92; 1.41)	very low	impor- tant
Worl	-related out	comes (numbe	er of patients	with work re	estrictions (not	furthe	r opera	ationalised))*		
2	very severe²	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	severe⁵	not deter- mined	48 / 94	59 / 105	RR 1.03 (0.79; 1.35)	very low	impor- tant
Und	esirable effec	ts								
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; *n* = number; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RMDQ = Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; SMD = standardized mean difference; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 2 levels due to severe RoB on other categories, whereby studies with many participants outweigh studies with few participants.

<sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity (Cls do not overlap, l2> 60% and/or tau2 *p* <0.10). <sup>4</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to the varied and imprecise descriptions of the measurement methods. <sup>5</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <300 with dichotomous outcome measures and <400 with continuous outcome measures.

**Note:** Outcomes are in favour of the intervention mobilisation/manipulation with a decrease in pain and physical functioning and with an increase in quality of life and with an RR >1.00.

\* Patients (*n*) with work-related outcomes: the number of patients that could work again compared to the number of patients that could not work at baseline due to low back pain.

Effectiveness and evidentiary value of mobilisation and/or manipulation versus sham mobilisation and/or manipulation

The effect of mobilisation and/or manipulation on pain and physical limitations in the short term was compared with sham mobilisation and/or manipulation in 8 RCTs (Bialosky 2014; Ghroubi 2007; Hidalgo 2015; Krekoukias 2017; Santilli 2006; Senna 2011; Triano 1995; Waagen 1986), and in the long term in two RCTs (Santilli 2006; Senna 2011).

An overview of the results in the short term and long term that could be pooled is depicted in the following tables. See appendix C.4.1–7 for the forest plots of the crucial and important outcomes (figures 9 through 11).

GRADE evidence profile of the studies on mobilisation and/or manipulation versus sham mobilisation and/or manipulation in the short term (≤4 months)

RCT's	Quality asse	ssment (dowr	n-grading)		Sumn	nary of	results	Eviden-	Effects	
(n)	Study design and execution (RoB)	Inconsist- ency	Indirect– ness	Impreci- sion	Publica– tion bias	Patier ( <i>n</i> ) I	nts C	Effect size (95% Cl)	tiary value	(crucial or im- portant)

Pain (NPRS [0-100] and VAS [0-100])

8	severe¹	severe <sup>3</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	231	262	MD -10.22 (-25.34; 4.90)	very low	crucial		
Physical functioning (ODI, RMDQ)												
5	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>3</sup>	not severe	severe⁵	not deter- mined	134	173	SMD -0.77 (-1.59; 0.04)	very low	crucial		

89

Quali	ty of life (SF-	36; PCS 0-100	)							
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Quali	ty of life (SF-	36, MCS 0-10	o)							
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Kwali	iteit van leve	n (EuroQol, V/	AS 0-100)				_ <b>_</b>	<u>+</u>		
1	very severe²	not severe	not severe	severe⁵	not deter- mined	26	37	SMD 0.35 (-0.16; 0.85)	very low	impor- tant
Work	-related out	comes (numb	er of patients	s with work re	estrictions (not	furthe	r opera	ationalised))*		
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Unde	sirable effec	ts								
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; *n* = number; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RMDQ = Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; SMD = standardized mean difference; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 2 levels due to severe RoB on other categories, whereby studies with many participants outweigh studies with few participants.

<sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity (CIs do not overlap, 12> 60% and/or tau2 *p* <0.10). <sup>4</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because the 95% CI exceeds no effect and a clinically relevant effect (broad confidence interval). <sup>5</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <300 with dichotomous outcome measures and <400 with continuous outcome measures.

Note: Outcomes are in favour of the intervention mobilisation/manipulation with a decrease in pain and physical functioning and with an increase in quality of life and with an RR >1.00.

\* Patients (n) with work-related outcomes: the number of patients that could work again compared to the number of patients that could not work at baseline due to low back pain.

# GRADE evidence profile of the studies on mobilisation and/or manipulation versus sham mobilisation and/or manipulation in the long term (> 4 months)

RCT's	Quality asse	ssment (dow	n-grading)		Sumr	nary o	f results	Eviden-	Effects	
(n)	Study design and	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patie ( <i>n</i> )	nts	Effect size (95% CI)	tiary value	(crucial or im– portant)
	execution (RoB)					I	C			
Pain (N	NPRS [0-100] a	and VAS [0-10	o])							
2	very severe²	severe <sup>3</sup>	not severe	severe4	not deter- mined	74	85	MD -3.93 (-15.84; 7.99)	very Iow	crucial
Physic	al functioning	g (ODI, RMDQ)								
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	severe4	not deter- mined	26	37	SMD -0.25 (-0.76; 0.25)	low	crucial
Quality	y of life (SF-36	5; PCS 0-100)								
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant

 $\checkmark$ 

С

Quality	y of life (SF-36	5, MCS 0-100)								
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Quality	y of life (Euro	Qol, VAS o-100	<b>b</b> )							
1	very severe²	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	26	37	SMD -0.25 (-0.76; 0.25)	very low	impor- tant
Work-	related outco	mes (number	of patients w	ith work rest	rictions (not	furthei	opera	tionalised))*		
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Undes	irable effects									
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; *n* = number; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RMDQ = Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; SMD = standardized mean difference; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 2 levels due to severe RoB on other categories, whereby studies with many participants outweigh studies with few participants.

<sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity (CIs do not overlap, I2> 60% and/or tau2 *p* <0.10). 4 Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <300 with dichotomous outcome measures and <400 with continuous outcome measures.

**Note:** Outcomes are in favour of the intervention mobilisation/manipulation with a decrease in pain and physical functioning and with an increase in quality of life and with an RR >1.00.

\* Patients (n) with work-related outcomes: the number of patients that could work again compared to the number of patients that could not work at baseline due to low back pain.

## Effectiveness and evidentiary value of mobilisation and/or manipulation versus placebo

The effect of mobilisation and/or manipulation on pain and physical limitations in the short term was compared to placebo in two RCTs (Gibson 1985; Walker 2013). No RCTs were found that studied the effect on pain and/or physical functioning in the long term.

An overview of the results in the short term that could be pooled is depicted in the following table. See appendix C.4.1–7 for the forest plots of the crucial and important outcomes (figures 12 through 14).

# GRADE evidence profile of the studies on mobilisation and/or manipulation versus placebo in the short term (<4 months)

RCT's	Quality asse	ssment (dowi	n-grading)		Sumn	nary of	results	Eviden-	Effects	
(n)	Study design and execution (RoB)	Inconsist- ency	Indirect– ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patie ( <i>n</i> ) I	nts C	Effect size (95% CI)	tiary value	(crucial or im- portant)

### Pain (NPRS [0-100] and VAS [0-100])

2	severe <sup>1</sup>	not	not	severe4	not deter-	111	123	MD -1.96	low	crucial
		severe	severe		mined			(-7.46; 3.53)		

## Physical functioning (ODI, RMDQ)

1	severe1	not severe	not severe	severe4	not deter- mined	91	92	SMD -0.33 (-0.62; -0.04)	low	crucial
								<b>( )</b>		

1	~	,

Qualit	y of life (SF–36	5, PCS 0-100)								
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Qualit	y of life (SF-36	5, MCS 0-100)								
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Qualit	y of life (Euro	Qol, VAS o-100	<b>b)</b>							•
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Work-	related outco	mes (number	of patients w	vith work rest	rictions (not	furthei	r opera	tionalised))*		
1	very severe²	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	4   6	11 / 17	RR 1.03 (0.53; 2.01)	very low	impor- tant
Undes	irable effects	·		·	·					
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; *n* = number; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RMDQ = Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; SMD = standardized mean difference; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 2 levels due to severe RoB on other categories, whereby studies with many participants outweigh studies with few participants.

<sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to the varied and imprecise descriptions of the measurement methods. <sup>4</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <300 with dichotomous outcome measures and <400 with continuous outcome measures.

**Note:** Outcomes are in favour of the intervention mobilisation/manipulation with a decrease in pain and physical functioning and with an increase in quality of life and with an RR >1.00.

\* Patients (*n*) with work-related outcomes: the number of patients that could work again compared to the number of patients that could not work at baseline due to low back pain.

## Effectiveness and evidentiary value of mobilisation and/or manipulation versus no treatment

The effect of mobilisation and/or manipulation on pain and physical limitations in the short term was compared to no treatment in two RCTs (Bialosky 2014; Xia 2016). No RCTs were found that studied the effect on pain and/or physical functioning in the long term.

An overview of the results in the short term that could be pooled is depicted in the following table. See appendix C.4.1-7 for the forest plots of the crucial and important outcomes (figures 15 through 16).

# GRADE evidence profile of the studies on mobilisation and/or manipulation versus no treatment in the short term ( $\leq 4$ months)

RCT's	Quality asse	ssment (dowi	n-grading)			Sumn	nary of	results	Eviden-	Effects (crucial
(n)	Study design and execution (RoB)	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patie ( <i>n</i> ) I	nts C	Effect size (95% CI)	tiary value	(crucial or im- portant)

## Pain (NPRS [0-100] and VAS [0-100])

2	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>2</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	156	70	MD -8.42 (-20.90; 4.05)	very low	crucial
---	---------------------	---------------------	---------------	---------------------	---------------------	-----	----	----------------------------	-------------	---------

С

Physic	al functioning	g (ODI, RMDQ)								
2	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	143	70	SMD -0.70 (-1.02; -0.39)	low	crucial
Qualit	y of life (SF-36	5, PCS 0-100)						` 		
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	129	42	MD 4.95 (3.20; 6.71)	low	impor- tant
Qualit	y of life (SF-36	5, MCS 0-100)								
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	129	42	MD 0.35 (-1.57; 2.27)	low	impor- tant
Qualit	y of life (Euro	Qol, VAS o-100	<b>)</b>							
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Work-	related outco	mes (number	of patients w	ith work rest	rictions (not	furthei	r opera	tionalised))*		
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Undes	irable effects									
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RMDQ = Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; SMD = standardized mean difference; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity (Cls do not overlap, l2> 60% and/or tau2 p <0.10). <sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <300 with dichotomous outcome measures and <400 with continuous outcome measures.

**Note:** Outcomes are in favour of the intervention mobilisation/manipulation with a decrease in pain and physical functioning and with an increase in quality of life and with an RR >1.00.

\* Patients (n) with work-related outcomes: the number of patients that could work again compared to the number of patients that could not work at baseline due to low back pain.

## Effectiveness and evidentiary value of manipulation versus mobilisation

The effect of manipulation on pain and physical limitations in the short term was compared to mobilisation in 6 RCTs (Castro–Sánchez 2016; Cleland 2009; Cook 2013; Hadler 1987; Hondras 2009; Xia 2016) and in the long term in two RCTs (Cleland 2009; Hondras 2009).

An overview of the results in the short term and long term that could be pooled is depicted in the following tables. See appendix C.4.1–7 for the forest plots of the crucial and important outcomes (figures 17 through 20).

### GRADE evidence profile of the studies on manipulation versus mobilisation in the short term ( $\leq 4$ months)

RCT's (n)	Quality assessment (down-grading)					Sumi	Summary of results			Effects
	Study design and execution (RoB)	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patie ( <i>n</i> ) I	ents C	Effect size (95% Cl)	tiary value	(crucial or im- portant)

### Pain (NPRS [0-100] and VAS [0-100])

5	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>2</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	320	327	MD -4.46 (-11.86; 2.94)	very low	crucial

С

Physic	al functionin	g (ODI, RMDQ)								
6	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>2</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	352	357	SMD -0.33 (-0.96; 0.30)	very low	crucial
Qualit	y of life (SF-3	6, PCS 0-100)								
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	63	66	MD -0.30 (-2.60; 2.00)	low	impor- tant
Qualit	y of life (SF-3	5, MCS 0-100)								
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	63	66	MD -1.90 (-4.40; 0.60)	low	impor- tant
Qualit	y of life (Euro	Qol, VAS o-100	) )							
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	severe4	not deter- mined	31	31	MD 2.20 (-6.79; 11.19)	low	impor- tant
Work-	related outco	mes (number	of patients w	vith work rest	trictions (not	furthe	r opera	itionalised))*		
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Undes	irable effects									
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; *n* = number; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RMDQ = Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; SMD = standardized mean difference; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Downgraded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity (CIs do not overlap, I2> 60% and/or tau2 *p* <0.10). <sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because the 95% CI exceeds no effect and one clinically relevant effect (broad confidence interval). <sup>4</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <300 with dichotomous outcome measures and <400 with continuous outcome measures.

Note: Outcomes are in favour of the intervention mobilisation/manipulation with a decrease in pain and physical functioning and with an increase in quality of life and with an RR >1.00.

\* Patients (n) with work-related outcomes: the number of patients that could work again compared to the number of patients that could not work at baseline due to low back pain.

RCT's	Quality asse	ssment (dow	n-grading)			Sumr	nary o	f results	Eviden-	Effects
(n)	Study design and	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patie ( <i>n</i> )	nts	Effect size (95% Cl)	tiary value	(crucial or im-
	execution (RoB)					I	C			portunity
Pain (I	NPRS [0-100] a	and VAS [o-10	o])							
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	65	66	MD -4.45 (-8.64; -0.26)	low	crucial
Physic	al functioning	g (ODI, RMDQ)			-			1		
2	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>2</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	154	152	SMD -0.49 (-1.24; 0.26)	very low	crucial
Qualit	y of life (SF-36	5; PCS 0-100)								
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant

## GRADE evidence profile of the studies on manipulation versus mobilisation in the long term (> 4 months)

 $\checkmark$ 

94

С

Quality	y of life (SF-36	5, MCS 0-100)								
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Qualit	y of life (Euro	Qol, VAS o-100	<b>b</b> )							
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Work-	related outco	mes (number	of patients w	ith work rest	rictions (not	furthe	r opera	tionalised))*		
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	impor- tant
Undes	irable effects									
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; *n* = number; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RMDQ = Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; SMD = standardized mean difference; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity (Cls do not overlap, 12> 60% and/or tau2 *p* <0.10). <sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <300 with dichotomous outcome measures and <400 with continuous outcome measures.

**Note:** Outcomes are in favour of the intervention mobilisation/manipulation with a decrease in pain and physical functioning and with an increase in quality of life and with an RR >1.00.

\* Patients (n) with work-related outcomes: the number of patients that could work again compared to the number of patients that could not work at baseline due to low back pain.

## Considerations

To answer the clinical question, other considerations were also included in the literature to recommendation process in addition to the literature. Together they determine the direction and strength of the recommendation. The assessment of considerations and the explanation are provided in appendix C.4.1–5.

### References

- Alonso-Coello P, Oxman AD, Moberg J, Brignardello-Petersen R, Akl EA, Davoli M, Treweek S, Mustafa RA, Vandvik PO, Meerpohl J, Guyatt GH, Schunemann HJ, Group GW. GRADE evidence to decision (EtD) frameworks: a systematic and transparent approach to making well informed healthcare choices. 2: Clinical practice guidelines. BMJ. 2016a;353:i2089.
- Alonso-Coello P, Schunemann HJ, Moberg J, Brignardello-Petersen R, Akl EA, Davoli M, Treweek S, Mustafa RA, Rada G, Rosenbaum S, Morelli A, Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Group GW. GRADE Evidence to Decision (EtD) frameworks: a systematic and transparent approach to making well informed healthcare choices. 1: Introduction. BMJ. 2016b;353:i2016.
- Alt A, Malcherek N, Geisler S, Thietje R. The sustainable effectiveness to avoid chronification in non-specific, non-chronic back pain. Deutsche Zeitschrift fur Sportmedizin. 2020;71(4):97–102.
- Andronis L, Kinghorn P, Qiao S, Whitehurst DG, Durrell S, McLeod H. Cost-effectiveness of noninvasive and non-pharmacological interventions for low back pain: a systematic literature review. Appl Health Econ Health Policy. 2017;15(2):173–201.
- Aspinall SL, Jacques A, Leboeuf-Yde C, Etherington SJ, Walker BF. No difference in pressure pain threshold and temporal summation after lumbar spinal manipulation compared to sham: A randomised controlled trial in adults with low back pain. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2019;43:18–25.

- Balthazard P, de Goumoens P, Rivier G, Demeulenaere P, Ballabeni P, Dériaz O. Manual therapy followed by specific active exercises versus a placebo followed by specific active exercises on the improvement of functional disability in patients with chronic non specific low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2012;13:162.
- Bergquist–Ullman M, Larsson U. Acute low back pain in industry. A controlled prospective study with special reference to therapy and confounding factors. Acta Orthop Scand. 1977(170):1–117.
- Bialosky JE, Beneciuk JM, Bishop MD, Coronado RA, Penza CW, Simon CB, George SZ. Unraveling the mechanisms of manual therapy: modeling an approach. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2018;48(1):8–18.
- Bialosky JE, George SZ, Horn ME, Price DD, Staud R, Robinson ME. Spinal manipulative therapyspecific changes in pain sensitivity in individuals with low back pain (NCT01168999). J Pain. 2014;15(2):136–48.
- Blanchette MA, Stochkendahl MJ, Borges da Silva R, Boruff J, Harrison P, Bussières A. Effectiveness and economic evaluation of chiropractic care for the treatment of low back pain: a systematic review of pragmatic studies. PLoS One. 2016;11(8):e0160037.
- Brennan GP, Fritz JM, Hunter SJ, Thackeray A, Delitto A, Erhard RE. Identifying subgroups of patients with acute/subacute 'nonspecific' low back pain: results of a randomized clinical trial. Spine. 2006;31(6):623–31.
- Bronfort G, Evans R, Nelson B, Aker PD, Goldsmith CH, Vernon H. A randomized clinical trial of exercise and spinal manipulation for patients with chronic neck pain. Spine. 2001;26(7):788–97; discussion 98–9.
- Bronfort G, Goldsmith CH, Nelson CF, Boline PD, Anderson AV. Trunk exercise combined with spinal manipulative or NSAID therapy for chronic low back pain: a randomized, observer-blinded clinical trial. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 1996;19(9):570–82.
- Bronfort G, Hondras MA, Schulz CA, Evans RL, Long CR, Grimm R. Spinal manipulation and home exercise with advice for subacute and chronic back-related leg pain: a trial with adaptive allocation. Ann Intern Med. 2014;161(6):381–91.
- Bronfort G, Maiers MJ, Evans RL, Schulz CA, Bracha Y, Svendsen KH, Grimm RH, Jr., Owens EF, Jr., Garvey TA, Transfeldt EE. Supervised exercise, spinal manipulation, and home exercise for chronic low back pain: a randomized clinical trial. Spine. 2011;11(7):585–98.
- Bronfort G. Chiropractic versus general medical treatment of low back pain: A small scale controlled clinical trial. J Chiropract Med. 1989;2:145–50.
- Castro-Sánchez AM, Lara-Palomo IC, Matarán-Peñarrocha GA, Fernández-de-Las-Peñas C, Saavedra-Hernández M, Cleland J, Aguilar-Ferrándiz ME. Short-term effectiveness of spinal manipulative therapy versus functional technique in patients with chronic nonspecific low back pain: a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. Spine. 2016;16(3):302–12.
- Cecchi F, Molino–Lova R, Chiti M, Pasquini G, Paperini A, Conti AA, Macchi C. Spinal manipulation compared with back school and with individually delivered physiotherapy for the treatment of chronic low back pain: a randomized trial with one-year follow-up. Clin Rehabil. 2010;24(1):26–36.
- Cherkin DC, Deyo RA, Battié M, Street J, Barlow W. A comparison of physical therapy, chiropractic manipulation, and provision of an educational booklet for the treatment of patients with low back pain. N Engl J Med. 1998;339(15):1021–9.
- Childs JD, Fritz JM, Flynn TW, Irrgang JJ, Johnson KK, Majkowski GR, Delitto A. A clinical prediction rule to identify patients with low back pain most likely to benefit from spinal manipulation: a validation study. Ann Intern Med. 2004;141(12):920–8.

96

- Cholewicki J, Breen A, Popovich JM, Jr., Reeves NP, Sahrmann SA, van Dillen LR, Vleeming A, Hodges PW. Can biomechanics research lead to more effective treatment of low back pain? a point-counterpoint debate. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2019;49(6):425–36.
- Chown M, Whittamore L, Rush M, Allan S, Stott D, Archer M. A prospective study of patients with chronic back pain randomised to group exercise, physiotherapy or osteopathy. Physiotherapy. 2008;94(1):21–8.
- Cleland JA, Fritz JM, Kulig K, Davenport TE, Eberhart S, Magel J, Childs JD. Comparison of the effectiveness of three manual physical therapy techniques in a subgroup of patients with low back pain who satisfy a clinical prediction rule: a randomized clinical trial. Spine. 2009;34(25):2720–9.
- Cook C, Learman K, Showalter C, Kabbaz V, O'Halloran B. Early use of thrust manipulation versus non-thrust manipulation: a randomized clinical trial. Man Ther. 2013;18(3):191–8.
- Cramer GD, Humphreys CR, Hondras MA, McGregor M, Triano JJ. The Hmax/Mmax ratio as an outcome measure for acute low back pain. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 1993;16(1):7–13.
- Cruser d A, Maurer D, Hensel K, Brown SK, White K, Stoll ST. A randomized, controlled trial of osteopathic manipulative treatment for acute low back pain in active duty military personnel. J Man Manip Ther. 2012;20(1):5–15.
- Dagenais S, Gay RE, Tricco AC, Freeman MD, Mayer JM. NASS contemporary concepts in spine care: spinal manipulation therapy for acute low back pain. Spine. 2010;10(10):918–40.
- de Campos TF. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management NICE Guideline [NG59]. J Physiother. 2017;63(2):120.
- de Oliveira Meirelles F, de Oliveira Muniz Cunha JC, da Silva EB. Osteopathic manipulation treatment versus therapeutic exercises in patients with chronic nonspecific low back pain: A randomized, controlled and double-blind study. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil. 2020;33(3):367-77.
- de Zoete A, Verbeeck A, de Boer MR, Assendelft WJJ, van Tulder MW, Rubinstein SM. Spinal manipulative therapy for acute and subacute low back pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. Unpublished.
- Dougherty PE, Karuza J, Savino D, Katz P. Evaluation of a modified clinical prediction rule for use with spinal manipulative therapy in patients with chronic low back pain: a randomized clinical trial. Chiropr Man Therap. 2014;22(1):41.
- Evans DP, Burke MS, Lloyd KN, Roberts EE, Roberts GM. Lumbar spinal manipulation on trial. Part I–-clinical assessment. Rheumatol Rehabil. 1978;17(1):46–53.
- Farrell JP, Twomey LT. Acute low back pain. Comparison of two conservative treatment approaches. Med J Aust. 1982;1(4):160-4.
- Ferreira ML, Ferreira PH, Latimer J, Herbert RD, Hodges PW, Jennings MD, Maher CG, Refshauge KM. Comparison of general exercise, motor control exercise and spinal manipulative therapy for chronic low back pain: A randomized trial. Pain. 2007;131(1-2):31-7.
- Ford JJ, Slater SL, Richards MC, Surkitt LD, Chan AYP, Taylor NF, Hahne AJ. Individualised manual therapy plus guideline-based advice vs advice alone for people with clinical features of lumbar zygapophyseal joint pain: a randomised controlled trial. Physiotherapy. 2019;105(1):53–64.
- Ghroubi S, Elleuch H, Baklouti S, Elleuch MH. [Chronic low back pain and vertebral manipulation]. Ann Readapt Med Phys. 2007;50(7):570–6.
- Gibson T, Grahame R, Harkness J, Woo P, Blagrave P, Hills R. Controlled comparison of shortwave diathermy treatment with osteopathic treatment in non-specific low back pain. Lancet (London, England). 1985;1(8440):1258–61.
- Glover JR, Morris JG, Khosla T. Back pain: a randomized clinical trial of rotational manipulation of the trunk. Br J Ind Med. 1974;31(1):59–64.

- Goertz CM, Long CR, Hondras MA, Petri R, Delgado R, Lawrence DJ, Owens EF, Meeker WC. Adding chiropractic manipulative therapy to standard medical care for patients with acute low back pain: results of a pragmatic randomized comparative effectiveness study. Spine. 2013;38(8):627–34.
- Goertz CM, Long CR, Vining RD, Pohlman KA, Walter J, Coulter I. Effect of usual medical care plus chiropractic care vs usual medical care alone on pain and disability among us service members with low back pain: a comparative effectiveness clinical trial. JAMA Netw Open. 2018;1(1):e180105.
- Goldby LJ, Moore AP, Doust J, Trew ME. A randomized controlled trial investigating the efficiency of musculoskeletal physiotherapy on chronic low back disorder. Spine. 2006;31(10):1083–93.
- Grande–Alonso M, Suso–Marti L, Cuenca–Martinez F, Pardo–Montero J, Gil–Martinez A, La Touche R. Physiotherapy based on a biobehavioral approach with or without orthopedic manual physical therapy in the treatment of nonspecific chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. Pain Med. 2019;20(12):2571–87.
- Gudavalli MR, Cambron JA, McGregor M, Jedlicka J, Keenum M, Ghanayem AJ, Patwardhan AG. A randomized clinical trial and subgroup analysis to compare flexion-distraction with active exercise for chronic low back pain. Eur Spine J. 2006;15(7):1070–82.
- Haas M, Vavrek D, Peterson D, Polissar N, Neradilek MB. Dose-response and efficacy of spinal manipulation for care of chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. Spine. 2014;14(7):1106–16.
- Hadler NM, Curtis P, Gillings DB, Stinnett S. A benefit of spinal manipulation as adjunctive therapy for acute low-back pain: a stratified controlled trial. Spine. 1987;12(7):702–6.
- Hallegraeff JM, de Greef M, Winters JC, Lucas C. Manipulative therapy and clinical prediction criteria in treatment of acute nonspecific low back pain. [Erratum appears in Percept Mot Skills. 2009 Jun;108(3):981 Note: Hallegraeff, H J M [corrected to Hallegraeff, J M]]. Percept Mot Skills. 2009;108(1):196–208.
- Hancock MJ, Maher CG, Latimer J, McLachlan AJ, Cooper CW, Day RO, Spindler MF, McAuley JH. Assessment of diclofenac or spinal manipulative therapy, or both, in addition to recommended first-line treatment for acute low back pain: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet (London, England). 2007;370(9599):1638–43.
- Harper B, Jagger K, Aron A, Steinbeck L, Stecco A. A commentary review of the cost effectiveness of manual therapies for neck and low back pain. J Bodyw Mov Ther. 2017;21(3):684–91.
- Hemmilä HM, Keinänen–Kiukaanniemi SM, Levoska S, Puska P. Long-term effectiveness of bonesetting, light exercise therapy, and physiotherapy for prolonged back pain: a randomized controlled trial. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2002;25(2):99–104.
- Hidalgo B, Pitance L, Hall T, Detrembleur C, Nielens H. Short-term effects of Mulligan mobilization with movement on pain, disability, and kinematic spinal movements in patients with nonspecific low back pain: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2015;38(6):365-74.
- Higgins JPT, Green S. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011 [updated March 2011]. Version 5.1.0: Available at: www.cochrane-handbook. org. Accessed 30 November 2020.
- Hoehler FK, Tobis JS, Buerger AA. Spinal manipulation for low back pain. JAMA. 1981;245(18):1835–8. Hoiriis KT, Pfleger B, McDuffie FC, Cotsonis G, Elsangak O, Hinson R, Verzosa GT. A randomized
  - clinical trial comparing chiropractic adjustments to muscle relaxants for subacute low back pain. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2004;27(6):388–98.

- Hondras MA, Long CR, Cao Y, Rowell RM, Meeker WC. A randomized controlled trial comparing 2 types of spinal manipulation and minimal conservative medical care for adults 55 years and older with subacute or chronic low back pain. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2009;32(5):330–43.
- Hsieh CY, Adams AH, Tobis J, Hong CZ, Danielson C, Platt K, Hoehler F, Reinsch S, Rubel A. Effectiveness of four conservative treatments for subacute low back pain: a randomized clinical trial. Spine. 2002;27(11):1142–8.
- Hurley DA, McDonough SM, Dempster M, Moore AP, Baxter GD. A randomized clinical trial of manipulative therapy and interferential therapy for acute low back pain. Spine. 2004;29(20):2207–16.
- Hurwitz EL, Morgenstern H, Harber P, Kominski GF, Belin TR, Yu F, Adams AH. A randomized trial of medical care with and without physical therapy and chiropractic care with and without physical modalities for patients with low back pain: 6-month follow-up outcomes from the UCLA low back pain study. Spine. 2002;27(20):2193-204.
- Hussain I, Shah SIR, Amjad I. Efficacy of spinal manual therapy in non–specific acute low back pain. RMJ. 2013;38(4):3.
- Indrakanti SS, Weber MH, Takemoto SK, Hu SS, Polly D, Berven SH. Value-based care in the management of spinal disorders: a systematic review of cost-utility analysis. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2012;470(4):1106-23.
- Koes BW, Bouter LM, van Mameren H, Essers AH, Verstegen GM, Hofhuizen DM, Houben JP, Knipschild PG. The effectiveness of manual therapy, physiotherapy, and treatment by the general practitioner for nonspecific back and neck complaints. A randomized clinical trial. Spine. 1992;17(1):28–35.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF) / Nederlandse Vereniging voor Manuele Therapie (NVMT). Beroepscompetentieprofiel manueeltherapeut. Amersfoort; KNGF/NVMT; 2014.
- Krekoukias G, Gelalis ID, Xenakis T, Gioftsos G, Dimitriadis Z, Sakellari V. Spinal mobilization vs conventional physiotherapy in the management of chronic low back pain due to spinal disk degeneration: a randomized controlled trial. J Man Manip Ther. 2017;25(2):66–73.
- Lewis J, O'Sullivan P. Is it time to reframe how we care for people with non-traumatic musculoskeletal pain? Br J Sports Med. 2018;52(24):1543–4.
- Licciardone JC, Minotti DE, Gatchel RJ, Kearns CM, Singh KP. Osteopathic manual treatment and ultrasound therapy for chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Fam Med. 2013;11(2):122–9.
- Licciardone JC, Stoll ST, Fulda KG, Russo DP, Siu J, Winn W, Swift J, Jr. Osteopathic manipulative treatment for chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. Spine. 2003;28(13):1355–62.
- MacDonald RS, Bell CM. An open controlled assessment of osteopathic manipulation in nonspecific low-back pain. Spine. 1990;15(5):364-70.
- Maissan F, Pool J, Stutterheim E, Wittink H, Ostelo R. Clinical reasoning in unimodal interventions in patients with non-specific neck pain in daily physiotherapy practice, a Delphi study. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2018;37:8-16.
- Meade TW, Dyer S, Browne W, Townsend J, Frank AO. Low back pain of mechanical origin: randomised comparison of chiropractic and hospital outpatient treatment. BMJ. 1990;300(6737):1431–7.
- Michaleff ZA, Lin CW, Maher CG, van Tulder MW. Spinal manipulation epidemiology: systematic review of cost effectiveness studies. J Electromyogr Kinesiol. 2012;22(5):655–62.
- Mintken PE, Rodeghero J, Cleland JA. Manual therapists Have you lost that loving feeling?! J Man Manip Ther. 2018;26(2):53–4.

Mohseni–Bandpei MA, Critchley J, Staunton T, Richardson B. A prospective randomised controlled trial of spinal manipulation and ultrasound in the treatment of chronic low back pain. Physiotherapy. 2006;92(1):34–42.

Morton JE. Manipulation in the Treatment of Acute Low Back Pain. J Man Manip Ther. 1999;7(4):8.

- Muller R, Giles LG. Long-term follow-up of a randomized clinical trial assessing the efficacy of medication, acupuncture, and spinal manipulation for chronic mechanical spinal pain syndromes. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2005;28(1):3–11.
- Nejati P, Safarcherati A, Karimi F. Effectiveness of Exercise Therapy and Manipulation on Sacroiliac Joint Dysfunction: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Pain Physician. 2019;22(1):53–61.
- Paatelma M, Kilpikoski S, Simonen R, Heinonen A, Alen M, Videman T. Orthopaedic manual therapy, McKenzie method or advice only for low back pain in working adults: a randomized controlled trial with one year follow-up. J Rehabil Med. 2008;40(10):858–63.
- Petersen T, Larsen K, Nordsteen J, Olsen S, Fournier G, Jacobsen S. The McKenzie method compared with manipulation when used adjunctive to information and advice in low back pain patients presenting with centralization or peripheralization: a randomized controlled trial. Spine. 2011;36(24):1999–2010.
- Pope MH, Phillips RB, Haugh LD, Hsieh CY, MacDonald L, Haldeman S. A prospective randomized three-week trial of spinal manipulation, transcutaneous muscle stimulation, massage and corset in the treatment of subacute low back pain. Spine. 1994;19(22):2571–7.
- Postacchini F, Facchini M, Palieri P. Efficacy of various forms of conservative treatment in low back pain. Neuro-Orthopedics. 1988:8.
- Rasmussen GG. Manipulation in treatment of low back pain: a randomized clinical trial. Medizin. 1979;1:8–10.
- Rasmussen J, Laetgaard J, Lindecrona AL, Qvistgaard E, Bliddal H. Manipulation does not add to the effect of extension exercises in chronic low-back pain (LBP). A randomized, controlled, double blind study. Joint Bone Spine. 2008;75(6):708–13.
- Rasmussen-Barr E, Nilsson-Wikmar L, Arvidsson I. Stabilizing training compared with manual treatment in sub-acute and chronic low-back pain. Man Ther. 2003;8(4):233-41.
- Rubinstein SM, de Zoete A, van Middelkoop M, Assendelft WJJ, de Boer MR, van Tulder MW. Benefits and harms of spinal manipulative therapy for the treatment of chronic low back pain: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ. 2019;364:1689.
- Rubinstein SM, van Middelkoop M, Assendelft WJ, de Boer MR, van Tulder MW. Spinal manipulative therapy for chronic low-back pain. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2011(2):Cdoo8112.
- Samir SM, Zaky LA, Soliman MO. Mulligan versus Maitland mobilizations in patients with chronic low back dysfunction. 2016;9(6):92–9.
- Santilli V, Beghi E, Finucci S. Chiropractic manipulation in the treatment of acute back pain and sciatica with disc protrusion: a randomized double-blind clinical trial of active and simulated spinal manipulations. Spine. 2006;6(2):131–7.
- Sarker KK, Mohanty U, Sethi J. Effect of spinal manipulation on postural instability in patients wiht non specific low back pain. Int J Pharma Bio Sci. 2016;7(3):8.
- Sarker KK, Sethi J, Mohanty U. Effect of spinal manipulation on pain sensitivity, postural sway, and health-related quality of life among patients with non-specific chronic low back pain: A randomised control trial. Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research. 2019;13(2):YC01-YC5.
- Satpute K, Hall T, Bisen R, Lokhande P. The effect of spinal mobilization with leg movement in patients with lumbar radiculopathy-a double-blind randomized controlled trial. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2019;100(5):828–36.

- Schaafstra A, Spinnewijn W, Bons S, Borg M, Koes B, Ostelo R, Spijker–Huiges A, Burgers J, Bouma M, Verburg A. NHG–standaard lumbosacraal radiculair syndroom (tweede herziening). Huisarts Wet. 2015;58(6):308–20.
- Schenk R, Dionne C, Simon C, Johnson R. Effectiveness of mechanical diagnosis and therapy in patients with back pain who meet a clinical prediction rule for spinal manipulation. J Man Manip Ther. 2012;20(1):43–9.
- Schneider M, Haas M, Glick R, Stevans J, Landsittel D. Comparison of spinal manipulation methods and usual medical care for acute and subacute low back pain: a randomized clinical trial. Spine. 2015;40(4):209–17.
- Schulz C, Evans R, Maiers M, Schulz K, Leininger B, Bronfort G. Spinal manipulative therapy and exercise for older adults with chronic low back pain: a randomized clinical trial. Chiropr Man Therap. 2019;27:21.
- Seferlis T, Németh G, Carlsson AM, Gillström P. Conservative treatment in patients sick-listed for acute low-back pain: a prospective randomised study with 12 months' follow-up. Eur Spine J. 1998;7(6):461-70.
- Senna MK, Machaly SA. Does maintained spinal manipulation therapy for chronic nonspecific low back pain result in better long-term outcome? Spine. 2011;36(18):1427–37.
- Shah SG, Kage V. Effect of seven sessions of posterior-to-anterior spinal mobilisation versus prone pressups in non-specific low back pain – randomized clinical trial. J Clin Diagn Res. 2016;10(3):Yc10–3.
- Skargren El, Oberg BE, Carlsson PG, Gade M. Cost and effectiveness analysis of chiropractic and physiotherapy treatment for low back and neck pain. Six-month follow-up. Spine. 1997;22(18):2167-77.
- Skillgate E, Vingard E, Alfredsson L. Naprapathic manual therapy or evidence-based care for back and neck pain: a randomized, controlled trial. Clin J Pain. 2007;23(5):431–9.
- Stochkendahl MJ, Kjaer P, Hartvigsen J, Kongsted A, Aaboe J, Andersen M, Andersen MO, Fournier G, Hojgaard B, Jensen MB, Jensen LD, Karbo T, Kirkeskov L, Melbye M, Morsel-Carlsen L, Nordsteen J, Palsson TS, Rasti Z, Silbye PF, Steiness MZ, Tarp S, Vaagholt M. National clinical guidelines for non-surgical treatment of patients with recent onset low back pain or lumbar radiculopathy. Eur Spine J. 2018;27(1):60–75.
- Sutlive TG, Mabry LM, Easterling EJ, Durbin JD, Hanson SL, Wainner RS, Childs JD. Comparison of short-term response to two spinal manipulation techniques for patients with low back pain in a military beneficiary population. Mil Med. 2009;174(7):750–6.
- Team UBT. United Kingdom back pain exercise and manipulation (UK BEAM) randomised trial: cost effectiveness of physical treatments for back pain in primary care. BMJ. 2004;329(7479):1381–5.
- Teychenne M, Lamb KE, Main L, Miller C, Hahne A, Ford J, Rosenbaum S, Belavy D. General strength and conditioning versus motor control with manual therapy for improving depressive symptoms in chronic low back pain: A randomised feasibility trial. PLoS One. 2019;14(8):e0220442.
- Thorn BE, Eyer JC, Van Dyke BP, Torres CA, Burns JW, Kim M, Newman AK, Campbell LC, Anderson B, Block PR, Bobrow BJ, Brooks R, Burton TT, Cheavens JS, DeMonte CM, DeMonte WD, Edwards CS, Jeong M, Mulla MM, Penn T, Smith LJ, Tucker DH. Literacy–adapted cognitive behavioral therapy versus education for chronic pain at low–income clinics: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Int Med. 2018;168(7):471–80.
- Triano JJ, McGregor M, Hondras MA, Brennan PC. Manipulative therapy versus education programs in chronic low back pain. Spine. 1995;20(8):948–55.
- Tsertsvadze A, Clar C, Court R, Clarke A, Mistry H, Sutcliffe P. Cost-effectiveness of manual therapy for the management of musculoskeletal conditions: a systematic review and narrative synthesis of evidence from randomized controlled trials. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2014;37(6):343–62.

- Ulger 0, Demirel A, Oz M, Tamer S. The effect of manual therapy and exercise in patients with chronic low back pain: Double blind randomized controlled trial. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil. 2017;30(6):1303–9.
- Verma Y, Goyal M, Narkeesh. Pain, range of motion and back strength in chronic mechanical low back pain before & after lumbar mobilisation. Int J Physioth Res. 2013;3:48–57.
- Vismara L, Cimolin V, Menegoni F, Zaina F, Galli M, Negrini S, Villa V, Capodaglio P. Osteopathic manipulative treatment in obese patients with chronic low back pain: a pilot study. Man Ther. 2012;17(5):451–5.
- von Heymann WJ, Schloemer P, Timm J, Muehlbauer B. Spinal high-velocity low amplitude manipulation in acute nonspecific low back pain: a double-blinded randomized controlled trial in comparison with diclofenac and placebo. Spine. 2013;38(7):540–8.
- Waagen GN, Haldeman S, Cook G, Lopez D, DeBoer KF. Short term trial of chiropractic adjustments for the relief of chronic low back pain. Manual Medicine. 1986;2:5.
- Walker BF, Hebert JJ, Stomski NJ, Losco B, French SD. Short-term usual chiropractic care for spinal pain: a randomized controlled trial. Spine. 2013;38(24):2071–8.
- Waqqar S, Shakil-Ur-Rehman S, Ahmad S. McKenzie treatment versus mulligan sustained natural apophyseal glides for chronic mechanical low back pain. Pak J Med Sci. 2016;32(2):476–9.
- Wilkey A, Gregory M, Byfield D, McCarthy PW. A comparison between chiropractic management and pain clinic management for chronic low–back pain in a national health service outpatient clinic. J Altern Complement Med. 2008;14(5):465–73.
- Wreje U, Nordgren B, Aberg H. Treatment of pelvic joint dysfunction in primary care a controlled study. Scand J Prim Health Care. 1992;10(4):310–5.
- Xia T, Long CR, Gudavalli MR, Wilder DG, Vining RD, Rowell RM, Reed WR, DeVocht JW, Goertz CM, Owens EF, Jr., Meeker WC. Similar effects of thrust and nonthrust spinal manipulation found in adults with subacute and chronic low back pain: a controlled trial with adaptive allocation. Spine. 2016;41(12):E702–9.
- Zafereo J, Wang–Price S, Roddey T, Brizzolara K. Regional manual therapy and motor control exercise for chronic low back pain: a randomized clinical trial. J Man Manipul Ther. 2018;26(4):193–202.
- Zaproudina N, Hietikko T, Hänninen OO, Airaksinen O. Effectiveness of traditional bone setting in treating chronic low back pain: a randomised pilot trial. Complement Ther Med. 2009;17(1):23–8.

## Note C.4.2 Massage

### Literature

To answer the clinical question, a systematic literature analysis was carried out for the following research question (PICO):

What are the desirable and undesirable effects (0) of massage as a supplement to exercise therapy (I) versus exercise therapy alone (C) in patients with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (P)?

Exercise therapy can be applied either alone or in combination with information and advice.

Based on the literature, the guideline panel selected 'pain' and 'physical functioning' as crucial outcome measures (Chiarotto 2015; ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain 2017; Verburg 2019).

Undesirable effects are all negative effects that may be related to the intervention (e.g. increased pain and/or limitations in physical functioning, or pain and/or limitations in physical functioning of a type other than the kind for which one initially sought help, occurring immediately after the intervention).

### Search

The literature review was conducted in a hierarchical manner; the search first focused on existing systematic reviews, possibly as part of an evidence-based guideline (see <u>A.1 'Introduction'</u>). Based on this search, a literature review of the Cochrane Library about massage for low back pain was identified (Furlan 2015). Although massage is often used as a supplement to other interventions in physical therapy, this review compares the singular effect of massage with passive and active therapies. Studies whereby massage is combined with other interventions, such as exercise therapy, were excluded in this study. The review concerns an update of the literature review by the same authors from 2008 (Furlan 2008), which did include studies on the added value of massage on other therapies. In order to answer the clinical question about massage, the literature of both reviews was screened for our inclusion criteria, and the search of these systematic reviews was subsequently updated.

### Selection of studies in the literature review of the Cochrane Library

For the literature review of the Cochrane Library (Furlan 2015), searches were conducted in MEDLINE, Embase, CENTRAL, CINAHL, LILACS, Index to Chiropractic Literature and Proquest Dissertation Abstracts up to August 2014. Reference lists were also screened. Screening of the table with characteristics of the excluded studies did not yield any articles which investigated the added value of massage on exercise therapy.

Furlan 2008 describes five studies that compare the added value of massage for other therapies with the other therapy alone (Franke 2000; Geisser 2005; Poole 2007; Preyde 2000; Yip 2004). These five studies were tested according to our predefined inclusion criteria. See the following table.

Type of studies	Systematic review (possibly as a part of a guideline), published in English or Dutch
Type of patients	Adults with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (see <u>A.1 'Introduction'</u> )
Type of intervention	Massage as a supplement to exercise therapy, possibly combined with information and advice
Type of comparison	Exercise therapy, possibly combined with information and advice Exclusion: massage techniques aimed at energy pathways, such as acupressure, tuina, traditional Chinese massage, reiki, etc.
Type of outcome	At least one of the following outcome measures: Desirable: Crucial: pain, physical functioning Undesirable: all negative effects that might be related to the intervention
Type of timeline	Short ( $\leq$ 4 months) and/or long (>4 months) term. In the event of multiple measurement points, the measurement point that is closest to this time indication is used.

#### Selection criteria for the search on literature about the value of massage

103

One of the studies fulfilled the inclusion criteria and was analysed (Preyde 2000). The articles that were excluded based on the complete text and the reason of the exclusion are listed in appendix C.4.2–2.

On 25 January 2021, an information specialist (J.W. Schoones, Leiden University Medical Centre) conducted a systematic search in PubMed, MEDLINE, Embase, Emcare, Web of Science and the Cochrane Library for updating of the Cochrane review from 2015 (see appendix C.4.2–6 for the search rationale). This search produced 320 unique hits. After screening of the title and the abstract based on our inclusion criteria, 292 articles were excluded. The complete article was screened for 28 articles; ultimately, the search yielded two additional studies, one RCT (Bellido-Fernandez 2018) and one systematic review (Kizhakkeveettil 2014). The studies included in the systematic review by Kizhakkeveettil were assessed based on the inclusion criteria of our clinical question. This did not yield any additional inclusions. The total number of analysed studies therefore amounts to two. See appendix C.4.2-1 for the flowchart of the inclusion process. In line with the Cochrane review, we defined massage as 'soft-tissue manipulation applied manually or with a mechanical device'. Massage can be applied to any part of the body, only on the lumbar region or over the entire body. We used the taxonomy of massage treatments for musculoskeletal pain that was developed by Sherman in 2006 (Sherman 2006). The taxonomy was conceptualised as a classification system with three levels (treatment goals, styles and techniques) and four categories (relaxation massage, clinical massage, education about movement patterns and energy management). For the achievement of treatment goals, Sherman defined styles, with a set of techniques for each style. Of the 36 techniques in total, many can be incorporated in several styles (see appendix C.4.2-8 for the taxonomy used). When answering the clinical question about massage, we excluded the articles about techniques focused on energy pathways.

### Characteristics of the included studies

The characteristics of the included studies are provided in appendix C.4.2–3. The search yielded two RCTs (Bellido–Fernandez 2018; Preyde 2000) and one systematic review (Kizhakkeveettil 2014). The two RCTs about exercise therapy and massage included a total of 131 patients with low back pain. The average age of the patients varied between 33 and 48 years, and the percentage of women was 49% to 85%. One study indicated the average duration of the complaints, specifically 12.5 weeks; in the other study the minimal duration of the complaints was 12 weeks. Neither study reported data about the percentage of patients with sciatica into the legs.

#### Individual study quality (RoB)

The design and execution of the individual studies (risk of bias, RoB) was assessed by NS with the help of the Cochrane Risk-of-Bias tool (Higgins 2011). An overview of the study quality assessment (RoB) per study is provided in appendix C.4.2-4.

### Effectiveness and evidentiary value of exercise therapy and massage versus exercise therapy

The effect of exercise therapy and massage compared to exercise therapy alone is described in two RCTs (Bellido-Fernandez 2018; Preyde 2000). One RCT did not report any standard deviation, and it was not possible to calculate this based on other data (Bellido-Fernandez 2018). An overview of the results of the study by Preyde 2000 in the short term is depicted in the following table. See appendix C.4.2-8 (figures 1 and 2) for the forest plots of the outcomes on pain and physical functioning in the short term.

No RCTs were found that measured the effect on pain and/or physical functioning in the long term.

# GRADE evidence profile of the studies on exercise therapy and massage versus exercise therapy alone in the short term (≤4 months)

RCT's (n)	Quality asse	ssment (dow	n-grading)		Sum	mary c	of results	Eviden- tiary value		
	Study design and execution (RoB)	Inconsist- Indire ency ness	Indirect- ness	ct- Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patients ( <i>n</i> )			Effect size (95% Cl)	
						I	C			
Pain (	/AS 0-100)		-						- ·	
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>2</sup>	not deter- mined	25	22	MD 18.20 (10.03; 26.37)	low	crucial
Physic	al functioning	g (0-24)								
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not	not	severe <sup>2</sup>	not deter-	25	22	MD 4.17	low	crucial

# Undosirable offects

| 0 | N/A |  |
|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|--|

mined

(2.02; 6.3)

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale. <sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <400.

Note: A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

## Considerations

severe

severe

To answer the clinical question, other considerations were also included in the literature to recommendation process in addition to the literature. Together they determine the direction and strength of the recommendation. The assessment of considerations and the explanation are provided in appendix C.4.2–5.

#### References

- Alonso-Coello P, Oxman AD, Moberg J, Brignardello-Petersen R, Akl EA, Davoli M, Treweek S, Mustafa RA, Vandvik PO, Meerpohl J, Guyatt GH, Schunemann HJ, Group GW. GRADE Evidence to Decision (EtD) frameworks: a systematic and transparent approach to making well informed healthcare choices. 2: Clinical practice guidelines. BMJ. 2016a;353:i2089.
- Alonso-Coello P, Schunemann HJ, Moberg J, Brignardello-Petersen R, Akl EA, Davoli M, Treweek S, Mustafa RA, Rada G, Rosenbaum S, Morelli A, Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Group GW. GRADE Evidence to Decision (EtD) frameworks: a systematic and transparent approach to making well informed healthcare choices. 1: Introduction. BMJ. 2016b;353:i2016.
- Banerjee S, Walter M. CADTH Rapid response reports. aerobic exercise for chronic non-cancer back pain: a review of clinical effectiveness 2019. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. Available at https://www.cadth.ca/aerobic-exercise-chronic-noncancer-back-pain-review-clinical-effectiveness. Accessed 30 November 2020.

- Bellido-Fernandez L, Jimenez-Rejano JJ, Chillon-Martinez R, Gomez-Benitez MA, De-La-Casa-Almeida M, Rebollo-Salas M. Effectiveness of massage therapy and abdominal hypopressive gymnastics in nonspecific chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled pilot study. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2018;2018:3684194.
- Bervoets DC, Luijsterburg PA, Alessie JJ, Buijs MJ, Verhagen AP. Massage therapy has short-term benefits for people with common musculoskeletal disorders compared to no treatment: a systematic review. J Physiother. 2015;61(3):106–16.
- Boguszewski D, Krupinski M, Białoszewski D. Assessment of the effect of swedish massage and acupressure in rehabilitation of patients with low back pain. preliminary report. Ortop Traumatol Rehabil. 2017;19(6):513–21.
- Buttagat V, Techakhot P, Wiriya W, Mueller M, Areeudomwong P. Effectiveness of traditional Thai self-massage combined with stretching exercises for the treatment of patients with chronic non-specific low back pain: A single-blinded randomized controlled trial. J Bodyw Mov Ther. 2020;24(1):19–24.
- Celenay ST, Kaya DO, Ucurum SG. Adding connective tissue manipulation to physiotherapy for chronic low back pain improves pain, mobility, and well-being: a randomized controlled trial. J Exerc Rehabil. 2019;15(2):308–15.
- Cherkin DC, Eisenberg D, Sherman KJ, Barlow W, Kaptchuk TJ, Street J, Deyo RA. Randomized trial comparing traditional Chinese medical acupuncture, therapeutic massage, and self-care education for chronic low back pain. Arch Intern Med. 2001;161(8):1081–8.
- Cherkin DC, Sherman KJ, Deyo RA, Shekelle PG. A review of the evidence for the effectiveness, safety, and cost of acupuncture, massage therapy, and spinal manipulation for back pain. Ann Intern Med. 2003;138(11):898–906.
- Chiarotto A, Deyo RA, Terwee CB, Boers M, Buchbinder R, Corbin TP, Costa LO, Foster NE, Grotle M, Koes BW, Kovacs FM, Lin CW, Maher CG, Pearson AM, Peul WC, Schoene ML, Turk DC, van Tulder MW, Ostelo RW. Core outcome domains for clinical trials in non-specific low back pain. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(6):1127–42.
- Chou R, Deyo R, Friedly J, Skelly A, Hashimoto R, Weimer M, Fu R, Dana T, Kraegel P, Griffin J, Grusing S, Brodt E. AHRQ comparative effectiveness reviews. noninvasive treatments for low back pain. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2016a.
- Chou R, Deyo R, Friedly J, Skelly A, Hashimoto R, Weimer M, Fu R, Dana T, Kraegel P, Griffin J, Grusing S, Brodt E. Noninvasive treatments for low back pain. comparative effectiveness review no. 169. (Prepared by the Pacific Northwest Evidence-based Practice Center under Contract No. 290–2012–00014–1.). AHRQ Publication No. 16–EHC004–EF. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2016b.
- Chou R, Deyo R, Friedly J, Skelly A, Hashimoto R, Weimer M, Fu R, Dana T, Kraegel P, Griffin J, Grusing S, Brodt ED. Nonpharmacologic therapies for low back pain: a systematic review for an American College of Physicians clinical practice guideline. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(7):493–505.
- Chou R, Wagner J, Ahmed AY, Blazina I, Brodt E, Buckley DI, Cheney TP, Choo E, Dana T, Gordon D, Khandelwal S, Kantner S, McDonagh MS, Sedgley C, Skelly AC. AHRQ comparative effectiveness reviews. Treatments for acute pain: a systematic review. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2020.
- de Campos TF. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management NICE Guideline [NG59]. J Physiother. 2017;63(2):120.
- Ernst E. Massage therapy for low back pain: a systematic review. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1999;17(1):65–9.

- Franke A, Gebauer S, Franke K, Brockow T. [Acupuncture massage vs Swedish massage and individual exercise vs group exercise in low back pain sufferers a randomized controlled clinical trial in a 2 x 2 factorial design]. Forsch Komplementarmed Klass Naturheilkd. 2000;7(6):286–93.
- Furlan AD, Giraldo M, Baskwill A, Irvin E, Imamura M. Massage for low-back pain. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2015(9):CD001929.
- Furlan AD, Imamura M, Dryden T, Irvin E. Massage for low-back pain. Cochrane Dat Syst Rev. 2008(4):CD001929.
- Geisser ME, Wiggert EA, Haig AJ, Colwell MO. A randomized, controlled trial of manual therapy and specific adjuvant exercise for chronic low back pain. Clin J Pain. 2005;21(6):463–70.
- Hahne AJ, Ford JJ, Surkitt LD, Richards MC, Chan AYP, Slater SL, Taylor NF. Individualized physical therapy is cost–effective compared with guideline–based advice for people with low back disorders. Spine. 2017;42(3):E169–E76.
- Harper B, Jagger K, Aron A, Steinbeck L, Stecco A. A commentary review of the cost effectiveness of manual therapies for neck and low back pain. J Bodyw Mov Ther. 2017;21(3):684–91.
- Harper B, Steinbeck L, Aron A. Fascial manipulation vs. standard physical therapy practice for low back pain diagnoses: A pragmatic study. J Bodyw Mov Ther. 2019;23(1):115–21.
- Herman PM, Lavelle TA, Sorbero ME, Hurwitz EL, Coulter ID. Are nonpharmacologic interventions for chronic low back pain more cost effective than usual care? Proof of concept results from a Markov model. Spine. 2019;44(20):1456–64.
- Higgins JPT, Green S. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011 [updated March 2011]. Version 5.1.0: Available at: www.cochrane-handbook. org. Accessed 30 November 2020.
- Hu XY, Chen NN, Chai QY, Yang GY, Trevelyan E, Lorenc A, Liu JP, Robinson N. Integrative treatment for low back pain: an exploratory systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Chinese J Integr Med. 2015;26.
- ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain. The ICHOM Standard Set for Low Back Pain. Boston, United States of America: International Consortium For Health Outcomes Measurements; 2017 [updated August 24th, 2017]. Version 2.0.3: Available at: https://www. ichom.org/portfolio/low-back-pain/. Accessed 30 November 2020.
- Imamura M, Furlan AD, Dryden T, Irvin E. Evidence–informed management of chronic low back pain with massage. Spine. 2008;8(1):121–33.
- Keifel F, Beyer L, Winkelmann C. Effectiveness of classic massage therapy for chronic back pain and functional disorders of the musculoskeletal system A secondary analysis. Man Med. 2020;58(6):321–6.
- Kim SK, Min A, Jeon C, Kim T, Cho S, Lee SC, Lee CK. Clinical outcomes and cost-effectiveness of massage chair therapy versus basic physiotherapy in lower back pain patients: A randomized controlled trial. Medicine (Baltimore). 2020;99(12):e19514.
- Kizhakkeveettil A, Rose K, Kadar GE. Integrative therapies for low back pain that include complementary and alternative medicine care: a systematic review. Glob Adv Health Med. 2014;3(5):49–64.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn Lage rugpijn. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2013. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/lagerugpijn. Accessed 30 November 2020.
- Laimi K, Mäkilä A, Bärlund E, Katajapuu N, Oksanen A, Seikkula V, Karppinen J, Saltychev M. Effectiveness of myofascial release in treatment of chronic musculoskeletal pain: a systematic review. Clin Rehabil. 2018;32(4):440–50.

- Lin YC, Wan L, Jamison RN. Using Integrative Medicine in Pain Management: An Evaluation of Current Evidence. Anesth Analg. 2017;125(6):2081–93.
- Miake-Lye IM, Mak S, Lee J, Luger T, Taylor SL, Shanman R, Beroes-Severin JM, Shekelle PG. Massage for Pain: An Evidence Map. J Altern Complement Med. 2019;25(5):475-502.
- Murthy V, Sibbritt DW, Adams J. An integrative review of complementary and alternative medicine use for back pain: A focus on prevalence, reasons for use, influential factors, self-perceived effectiveness, and communication. Spine J. 2015;15(8):1870–83.
- Ng JY, Mohiuddin U, Azizudin AM. Clinical practice guidelines for the treatment and management of low back pain: A systematic review of quantity and quality. Musculoskel Sc Pract. 2021;51:102295.
- Ng JY, Mohiuddin U. Quality of complementary and alternative medicine recommendations in low back pain guidelines: a systematic review. Eur Spine J. 2020;29(8):1833–44.
- NHG-Werkgroep Standaard Aspecifieke lagerugpijn. NHG-standaard aspecifieke lagerugpijn (tweede herziening). Huisarts Wet. 2017;60(2):78-84.
- Ozsoy G, Ilcin N, Ozsoy I, Gurpinar B, Buyukturan O, Buyukturan B, Kararti C, Sas S. The effects of myofascial release technique combined with core stabilization exercise in elderly with non-specific low back pain: a randomized controlled, single-blind study. Clin Interv Aging. 2019;14:1729-40.
- Paanalahti K, Holm LW, Nordin M, Asker M, Lyander J, Skillgate E. Adverse events after manual therapy among patients seeking care for neck and/or back pain: a randomized controlled trial. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2014;15:77.
- Poole H, Glenn S, Murphy P. A randomised controlled study of reflexology for the management of chronic low back pain. Eur J Pain. 2007;11(8):878–87.
- Preyde M. Effectiveness of massage therapy for subacute low-back pain: a randomized controlled trial. CMAJ. 2000;162(13):1815–20.
- Saha FJ, Bruning A, Barcelona C, Bussing A, Langhorst J, Dobos G, Lauche R, Cramer H. Integrative medicine for chronic pain. Medicine (United States). 2016;95(27).
- Sherman KJ, Dixon MW, Thompson D, Cherkin DC. Development of a taxonomy to describe massage treatments for musculoskeletal pain. BMC Complement Altern Med. 2006;6:24.
- Skelly AC, Chou R, Dettori JR, Turner JA, Friedly JL, Rundell SD, Fu R, Brodt ED, Wasson N, Winter C, Ferguson AJR. AHRQ comparative effectiveness reviews. Noninvasive nonpharmacological treatment for chronic pain: a systematic Review. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2018.
- Skelly AC, Chou R, Dettori JR, Turner JA, Friedly JL, Rundell SD, Fu R, Brodt ED, Wasson N, Kantner S, Ferguson AJR. AHRQ Comparative Effectiveness Reviews. Noninvasive nonpharmacological treatment for chronic pain: a systematic review update. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2020.
- Sundberg T, Cramer H, Sibbritt D, Adams J, Lauche R. Prevalence, patterns, and predictors of massage practitioner utilization: Results of a US nationally representative survey. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2017;32:31–7.
- Thompson T, Dias S, Poulter D, Weldon S, Marsh L, Rossato C, Shin JI, Firth J, Veronese N, Dragioti E, Stubbs B, Solmi M, Maher CG, Cipriani A, Ioannidis JPA. Efficacy and acceptability of pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions for non-specific chronic low back pain: a protocol for a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Syst Rev. 2020;9(1):130.
- Trampas A, Mpeneka A, Malliou V, Godolias G, Vlachakis P. Immediate Effects of Core-Stability Exercises and Clinical Massage on Dynamic-Balance Performance of Patients With Chronic Specific Low Back Pain. J Sport Rehabil. 2015;24(4):373–83.
- Trofa DP, Obana KK, Herndon CL, Noticewala MS, Parisien RL, Popkin CA, Ahmad CS. The evidence for common nonsurgical modalities in sports medicine, part 1: kinesio tape, sports massage therapy, and acupuncture. J Am Acad Orthop Surg Glob Res Rev. 2020;4(1):8.
- Verburg AC, van Dulmen SA, Kiers H, Nijhuis-van der Sanden MWG, van der Wees PJ. Development of a standard set of outcome measures for non-specific low back pain in Dutch primary care physiotherapy practices: a Delphi study. Eur Spine J. 2019.
- Yin P, Gao N, Wu J, Litscher G, Xu S. Adverse events of massage therapy in pain-related conditions: a systematic review. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2014;2014:480956.
- Yip YB, Tse SH. The effectiveness of relaxation acupoint stimulation and acupressure with aromatic lavender essential oil for non-specific low back pain in Hong Kong: a randomised controlled trial. Complement Ther Med. 2004;12(1):28–37.
- Zhang Y, Tang S, Chen G, Liu Y. Chinese massage combined with core stability exercises for nonspecific low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. Complement Ther Med. 2015;23(1):1–6.

### Note C.4.3 Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) and interference

#### Literature

To answer the clinical question, a systematic literature analysis was carried out on the following research questions (PICO):

- What are the desirable and undesirable effects (0) of TENS and interference (I) versus no TENS or interference (C) in patients with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (P)?
- We understand 'no TENS or interference' to mean: 1) doing nothing/waiting, 2) placebo/sham, 3) another intervention within the guideline (including information and advice, (pain) education, CGT).
- What are the desirable and undesirable effects (0) of TENS and interference as a supplement to exercise therapy (I) versus exercise therapy alone (C) in patients with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (P)?

Based on the literature, the guideline panel selected 'pain' and 'physical functioning' as crucial outcome measures (Chiarotto 2015; ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain 2017; Verburg 2019). Undesirable effects are all negative effects that may be related to the intervention (e.g. increased pain and/or limitations in physical functioning, or pain and/or limitations in physical functioning of a type other than the kind for which one initially sought help, occurring immediately after the intervention).

#### Search

The literature review was conducted in a hierarchical manner; the search first focused on existing systematic reviews, possibly as part of an evidence-based guideline (see <u>A.1 'Introduction'</u>). Based on this search, a guideline of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) on the non-invasive treatments of low back pain and sciatica was identified (De Campos 2017). Because the NICE guideline is aimed at patients with the entire spectrum of back pain (from acute to chronic, with or without sciatica), and this is aligned with the delineation of our guideline (see section <u>A.1 'Introduction'</u>), in answering the clinical question about TENS we opted to use the NICE guideline as a basic principle and to implement an update of the search.

The NICE guideline is of high methodological quality (Lin 2018) and contains a clinical question of which TENS is a part, in accordance with that in our guideline: "What is the clinical and cost effectiveness of electrotherapy (non-invasive interventions) in the management of non-specific low back pain and sciatica?"

To answer this question, NICE searched in MEDLINE, Embase and the Cochrane Library up to 15 December 2015, after which 18 studies were included. These studies were tested according to our predefined inclusion criteria. See the following table.

Type of studies	randomised controlled study published in English or Dutch
Type of patients	adults with low back pain with or without sciatica, without important warning signs (see <u>A.1 'Introduction'</u> ) <b>Exclusion:</b> generalised chronic pain
Type of intervention	PICO 1: TENS or interference PICO 2: TENS or interference as a supplement to exercise therapy Exclusion: percutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, peripheral nerve stimulation, neuromuscular muscle stimulation
Type of comparison	<ul> <li>PIC0 1: do nothing/waiting/waitlist placebo/sham another intervention pursuant to the guideline (including information and advice, (pain) education, CGT).</li> <li>PIC0 2: exercise therapy</li> <li>Exclusion: a different type of TENS or interference, intervention consisting of a simple application of TENS, a control group consisting of an invasive intervention (opera- tions, epidural, facet blockade/injections) or pain medication</li> </ul>
Type of outcome	At least one of the following outcome measures: Desirable: Crucial: pain, physical functioning Undesirable: all negative effects that might be related to the intervention
Type of timeline	Short ( $\leq$ 4 months) and/or long (>4 months) term. In the event of multiple measurement points, the measurement point that is closest to this time indication is used.

### Selection criteria for the search on literature about TENS and interference

Nine of the 18 studies fulfilled the inclusion criteria and were analysed, of which two studies described the effectiveness of interference (Facci 2011; Hurley 2004) and seven studies were about TENS (Buchmuller 2012; Deyo 1990; Itoh 2009; Kofotolis 2008; Lehmann 1986; Marchand 1993; Topuz 2004). The articles that were excluded based on the complete text and the reason for the exclusion are listed in appendix C.4.3–2.

On 29 April 2020, an information specialist (J.W. Schoones, Leiden University Medical Centre) conducted a systematic search in PubMed, MEDLINE, Embase, Emcare, Web of Science and the Cochrane Library for updating of the NICE guideline (see appendix C.4.3–6 for the search rationale). The update of the systematic search of the NICE guideline produced 466 unique hits. After screening of the title and the abstract based on the inclusion criteria, 194 articles were excluded. The complete article was screened for 44 articles; ultimately, the search for updating the NICE guideline yielded eight additional studies, of which four were about interference and four about

С

TENS (Albornoz–Cabello 2017; Correa 2016; Elserty 2016; Franca 2019; Jamison 2019; Rajfur 2017; Tantawy 2020; Yurdakul 2019). The total number of studies in this literature analysis therefore amounts to 17. See appendix C.4.3–1 for the flowchart of the inclusion process.

#### Characteristics of the included studies

#### TENS

The characteristics of the included studies are provided in appendix C.4.3–3. The 11 included studies about TENS included a total of 652 patients with low back pain. The average age of the patients varied between 35 and 53 years, and the percentage of women varied from 31% to 100%. The average duration of the complaints was 1.5 to 13 years. Four studies did not report the duration of the complaints, but these studies also indicated that they included patients with chronic (> 3 months) low back pain. Four studies included a combination of patients with and without sciatica, whereby the percentage of patients with sciatica into the legs varied from 12% to 59% (Buchmuller 2012; Deyo 1990; Facci 2011). One study did not report any data about the percentage of patients with sciatica into the legs (Lehmann 1986). Four studies included patients without sciatica (Elserty 2016; Itoh 2009; Kofotolis 2008; Rajfur 2017) and in another four studies it was unknown whether there was sciatica into the legs (Jamison 2019; Marchand 1993; Topuz 2004; Yurdakul 2019). One study included only patients with sciatica into the legs (Franca 2019).

#### Interference

The characteristics of the six included RCTs are provided in appendix C.4.3–3. The studies included a total of 569 patients with low back pain, whose average age varied from 34.5 to 51.2 years, and the percentage of women was 57.5 to 83%. Five RCTs included patients with chronic (> 3 months) low back pain; in one RCT the average duration of the complaints was eight weeks (Hurley 2004). Two RCTs included both patients with and without sciatica, with the share of patients with sciatica into the legs being 24.6% in one RCT; this was not reported in the other RCT. One RCT included patients without sciatica, and in three RCTs it was unknown whether patients had sciatica into the legs.

#### Individual study quality (RoB)

The design and execution of the individual studies (risk of bias, RoB) was assessed by JMDM and NS with the help of the Cochrane Risk-of-Bias tool (Higgins 2011). The opinion of the various items was discussed, after which consensus was achieved. An overview of the study quality assessment (RoB) per study is provided in appendix C.4.3-4.

#### The effectiveness and evidentiary value of TENS versus doing noting/waiting/waitlist

The effectiveness and evidentiary value of TENS compared to doing noting/waiting/waitlist is described in four RCTs (Facci 2011; Itoh 2009; Marchand 1993; Yurdakul 2019). The results of one RCT could not be pooled because no standard deviation was reported, and it was not possible to calculate this based on other data (Marchand 1993).

An overview of the results in the short term that could be pooled is depicted in the following table. See appendix C.4.3–7 (figures 1 and 2) for the forest plots of the outcomes on pain and physical functioning in the short term.

RCT's	Quality asse	ssment (dow	n-grading)			Sum	mary o	f results	Eviden-	
(n)	Study design and	Inconsist– ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patients ( <i>n</i> )		Effect size (95% Cl)	tiary value	
	execution (RoB)					I	C			
Pain (	/AS 0-100)				- ·					
3	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>2</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	79	80	MD 23.16 (3.78; 50.10)	very low	crucial
Physic	al functioning	g	1					1		
3	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe²	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	79	80	SMD 0.70 (0.04; 1.44)	very low	crucial
Undes	irable effects	•						1		1
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

#### GRADE evidence profile of the studies on TENS versus doing noting/waiting/waitlist in the short term (<4 months)

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale. <sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity. 3 Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <400.

**Note:** A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

No RCTs were found that measured the effect on pain and/or physical functioning in the long term.

#### Effectiveness and evidentiary value of TENS versus placebo/sham

The effect of TENS compared to placebo/sham is described in six RCTs (Buchmuller 2012; Deyo 1990; Kofotolis 2008; Lehmann 1986 Marchand 1993; Topuz 2004). The results of three RCTs could not be pooled because no standard deviation was reported, and it was not possible to calculate this based on other data (Buchmuller 2012; Lehmann 1986; Marchand 1993).

An overview of the results in the short term that could be pooled is depicted in the following table. See appendix C.4.3–7 (figures 3 and 4) for the forest plots of the outcomes on pain and physical functioning in the short term.

GRADE evidence profile of the studies on TENS versus doing noting/waiting/waitlist in the short term (<4 months)

RCT's	Quality asse	ssment (dow	n-grading)			Sumr	nary of	results	Eviden-	
(n)	Study design and	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patie ( <i>n</i> )	nts	Effect size (95% CI)	tiary value	
	execution (RoB)					I	C			
			•		÷					

Pain (VAS 0-100)

2	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>3</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	103	98	MD 7.17 (2.78; 17.11)	very low	crucial
---	---------------------	---------------------	---------------	---------------------	---------------------	-----	----	--------------------------	-------------	---------

 $\sim$ 

-	٢.

Physic	al functioning	g (ODI 0-100)								
2	very severe²	severe <sup>3</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	38	38	MD 2.21 (6.36; 10.78)	very low	crucial
Undesi	rable effects									
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; ROB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale. <sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 2 levels because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and performance bias. <sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity. <sup>4</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <400.

Note: A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

No RCTs were found that measured the effect on pain and/or physical functioning in the long term.

**Effectiveness and evidentiary value of TENS versus another intervention within the guideline** The effect of TENS compared to another intervention within the guideline (in this case usual care or exercise therapy) is described in three RCTs (Franca 2019; Jamison 2019; Kofotolis 2008). An overview of the results in the short term is depicted in the following table. See appendix C.4.3-7 (figures 5 and 6) for the forest plots of the outcomes on pain and physical functioning in the short term.

# GRADE evidence profile of the studies on TENS versus another intervention within the guideline in the short term ( $\leq 4$ months)

RCT's	Quality asse	ssment (dow	n-grading)			Sumi	nary o	f results	Eviden-	
(n)	Study design and execution (RoB)	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patie ( <i>n</i> ) I	nts C	Effect size (95% Cl)	tiary value	

Pain (VAS o-100)

3	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>3</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	72	74	MD 8.09 (29.11; 12.93)	very low	crucial
Physic	al functioning	g (ODI 0-100)								
2	very severe²	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	43	43	MD 14.28 (17.12; 11.44)	very low	crucial
Undes	irable effects									
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MCS = Mental Component Score; MD = mean difference; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; PCS = Physical Component Score; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; SF-36 = 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

 $\sim$ 

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Downgraded by 2 levels because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and performance bias. <sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity. 4 Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <400.

**Note:** A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group

No RCTs were found that measured the effect on pain and/or physical functioning in the long term. Franca's RCT is the only study within this literature review that included exclusively patients with low back pain with sciatica into the legs. Given that the heterogeneity of the results cannot be explained by this, no sensitivity analysis was conducted for patients with low back pain with sciatica into the legs.

# Effectiveness and evidentiary value of TENS as a supplement to exercise therapy versus exercise therapy alone

The effect of TENS as a supplement to exercise therapy compared to exercise therapy alone is described in three RCTs (Elserty 2016; Kofotolis 2008; Rajfur 2017).

An overview of the results in the short term that could be pooled is depicted in the following table. See appendix C.4.3–7 (figures 7 and 8) for the forest plots of the outcomes on pain and physical functioning in the short term.

Note: All three RCTs included patients with low back pain without sciatica into the legs.

# GRADE evidence profile of the studies on TENS as a supplement to exercise therapy versus exercise therapy alone in the short term ( $\leq 4$ months)

RCT's	Quality asse	ssment (dowi	n-grading)			Sumn	nary of	results	Eviden-	
(n)	Study design and execution (RoB)	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica– tion bias	Patie ( <i>n</i> ) I	nts C	Effect size (95% CI)	tiary value	

Pain (VAS o-100)

3	very severe¹	severe <sup>2</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	73	59	MD 11.06 (6.45; 28.57)	very low	crucial
Physic	cal functionin	g (ODI 0-100)								
3	very severe¹	severe <sup>2</sup>	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	50	51	MD 1.44 (11.09; 13.98)	very low	crucial
Undes	sirable effects									

0	N/A									

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MD = mean difference; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; N/A= not applicable; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RR = risk ratio; RoB = risk of bias; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 2 levels because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity. <sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <400.

**Note:** A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

No RCTs were found that measured the effect on pain and/or physical functioning in the long term.

#### Effectiveness and evidentiary value of interference versus doing noting/waiting/waitlist

The effect of interference compared to doing noting/waiting/waitlist is described in one RCT (Facci 2011).

An overview of the results in the short term is depicted in the following table. See appendix C.4.3–7 (figures 9 and 10) for the forest plots of the outcomes on pain and physical functioning in the short term.

#### GRADE evidence profile of interference versus doing noting/waiting/waitlist (<4 months)

RCT's ( <i>n</i> )	Quality assessment (down-grading)						nary of	results	Eviden-
(n)	Study design and execution (RoB)	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci– sion	Publica- tion bias	Patie ( <i>n</i> ) I	nts C	Effect size (95% Cl)	value

## Pain (VAS 0-100)

1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not	not	severe <sup>2</sup>	not deter-	50	50	MD 44.10	low	crucial
		severe	severe		mined			(34.20; 54.00)		

### Physical functioning (RMDQ, 0-24)

3	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	50	50	MD 7.51 (5.50; 9.52 hoger)	low	crucial

#### **Undesirable effects**

o N/A
---

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MD = mean difference; N/A= not applicable; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <400.

**Note:** A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

No RCTs were found that measured the effect on pain and/or physical functioning in the long term.

## Effectiveness and evidentiary value of interference versus placebo/sham

The effect of interference compared to placebo/sham is described in two RCTs (Correa 2016; Tantawy 2020).

An overview of the results in the short term is depicted in the following table. See appendix C.4.3-7 (figures 11 and 12) for the forest plots of the outcomes on pain and physical functioning in the short term.

RCT's (n)	Quality asse	ssment (dow	n-grading)	Summary of results			Eviden-			
	Study design and execution (RoB)	Inconsist- II ency n	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patients ( <i>n</i> )		Effect size (95% CI)	tiary value	
						I	C			
Pain (	VAS 0-100)	1	1	1			-		<b>I</b>	
2	severe <sup>1</sup>	severe <sup>3</sup>	not severe	very severe⁵	not deter- mined	127	80	MD 11.66 (8.12; 31.43)	very low	crucial
Physic	al functioning	g (RMDQ, o-2/	+)						<b>I</b>	
1	very severe²	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	97	49	MD 1.15 (1.56; 3.86)	very low	crucial
Undes	irable effects									
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

#### GRADE evidence profile of the studies on interference versus placebo/sham in the short term (<4 months)

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MD = mean difference; N/A= not applicable; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Downgraded by 2 levels because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and performance bias. <sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to unexplained heterogeneity. <sup>4</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <400. <sup>5</sup> Down-graded by 2 levels due to a very small sample size and the 95% CI (almost) exceeds a clinically relevant effect in favour of the control groups and a clinically relevant effect in favour of the intervention group (broad confidence interval).

**Note:** A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

No RCTs were found that measured the effect on pain and/or physical functioning in the long term.

**Effectiveness and evidentiary value of interference versus another intervention within the guideline** The effect of interference compared to another intervention within the guideline is described in three RCTs (Albornoz–Cabello 2017; Hurley 2004; Rajfur 2017).

An overview of the results in the short term and the long term is depicted in the following tables. See appendix C.4.3–7 for the forest plots of the outcomes on pain and physical functioning in the short term (figures 13 and 14) and the long term (figures 15 and 16).

# GRADE evidence profile of the studies on interference versus another intervention within the guideline in the short term ( $\leq 4$ months)

RCT's (n)	Quality asse	ssment (dowi	n-grading)	Summary of results			Eviden-			
	Study design and	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patients ( <i>n</i> )		Effect size (95% Cl)	tiary value	
	execution (RoB)					I	С			

Pain (VAS o-100)

1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not	not	severe <sup>2</sup>	not deter-	44	20	MD 15.50	low	crucial
		Severe	Severe		mmeu			(0.13, 24.07)		

 $\sim$ 

#### Physical functioning (RMDO, 0-24)

1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	very severe³	not deter- mined	44	20	MD 3.58 (4.56; 11.72)	very low	crucial		
Undesi	Undesirable effects											
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A			

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MD = mean difference; N/A= not applicable; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Downgraded by 1 level due to a sample size of <400. 3 Down-graded by 2 levels due to a very small sample size and the 95% CI (almost) exceeds a clinically relevant effect in favour of the control groups and a clinically relevant effect in favour of the intervention group (broad confidence interval).

Note: A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

# GRADE evidence profile of the studies on interference versus another intervention within the guideline in the long term (> 4 months)

RCT's (n)	Quality asse	ssment (dow	n-grading)	Sum	mary o	f results	Eviden-			
	Study design and	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patie ( <i>n</i> )	ents	Effect size (95% CI)	tiary value	
	execution (RoB)					I	C			
Pain (	VAS 0-100)		·							
1	severe <sup>1</sup>	not severe	not severe	very severe <sup>4</sup>	not deter- mined	55	52	MD 8.30 (1.06; 17.66)	very low	crucial
Physic	al functionin	g (RMDQ, o-21	r)	-					<b>I</b>	
1	very severe²	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>3</sup>	not deter- mined	55	52	MD 1.85 (0.08; 3.62 higher)	very low	crucial
Undes	irable effects	·		·	·					
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MD = mean difference; N/A= not applicable; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; RMDQ = 'Roland Morris Disability Questionnaire'; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 1 level because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and/or performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Downgraded by 2 levels because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and performance bias. <sup>3</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size of <400. 4 Down-graded by 2 levels due to a very small sample size and the 95% Cl exceeds no effect and a small effect and a small effect in favour of the control group to a large effect in favour of the intervention group (broad confidence interval). Note: A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

# Effectiveness and evidentiary value of interference as a supplement to exercise therapy versus exercise therapy

The effect of interference as a supplement to exercise therapy versus exercise therapy is described in one RCT (Rajfur 2017). An overview of the results in the short term is depicted in the following table. See appendix C.4.3-7 (figures 17 and 18) for the forest plots of the outcomes on pain and physical functioning in the short term. No RCTs were found that measured the effect on pain and/ or physical functioning in the long term.

# GRADE evidence profile of the studies on interference as a supplement to exercise therapy versus exercise therapy (<4 months)

RCT's (n)	Quality assessment (down-grading)						nary o	f results	Eviden-	
	Study design and	Inconsist- ency	Indirect- ness	Impreci- sion	Publica- tion bias	Patients ( <i>n</i> )		Effect size (95% CI)	tiary value	
	execution (RoB)					1	С			
Pain (V	/AS 0-100)									
1	very severe¹	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>2</sup>	not deter- mined	21	21	MD 31.40 (28.16; 34.64)	very low	crucial
Physic	al functioning	g (ODI 0-100)		1	1			1		
1	very severe¹	not severe	not severe	severe <sup>2</sup>	not deter- mined	21	21	MD 27.92 (23.88; 31.96)	very low	crucial
Undesi	irable effects									
0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

95% CI = 95% confidence interval; C = control group; I = intervention group; MD = mean difference; N/A= not applicable; NPRS = Numeric Pain Rating Scale; RCTs = randomized controlled trials; ODI = Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Index; RoB = risk of bias; RR = risk ratio; VAS = Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>1</sup> Down-graded by 2 levels because more than 50% of participants comes from studies with a selection and performance bias. <sup>2</sup> Down-graded by 1 level due to a sample size <400.

Note: A higher score corresponds to less pain and a higher level of physical functioning. A positive MD represents an advantage for the intervention group.

#### Considerations

To answer the clinical question, other considerations were also included in the literature to recommendation process in addition to the literature. Together they determine the direction and strength of the recommendation. The assessment of considerations and the explanation are provided in appendix C.4.3–5.

#### References

Albornoz-Cabello M, Maya-Martin J, Dominguez-Maldonado G, Espejo-Antunez L, Heredia-Rizo AM. Effect of interferential current therapy on pain perception and disability level in subjects with chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. Clin Rehabil. 2017;31(2):242-9.

Buchmuller A, Navez M, Milletre-Bernardin M, Pouplin S, Presles E, Lanteri-Minet M, Tardy B, Laurent B, Camdessanche JP, Lombotens Trial G. Value of TENS for relief of chronic low back pain with or without radicular pain. Eur J Pain. 2012;16(5):656–65.

- Cheing GL, Hui-Chan CW. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation: nonparallel antinociceptive effects on chronic clinical pain and acute experimental pain. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1999;80(3):305–12.
- Chiarotto A, Deyo RA, Terwee CB, Boers M, Buchbinder R, Corbin TP, Costa LO, Foster NE, Grotle M, Koes BW, Kovacs FM, Lin CW, Maher CG, Pearson AM, Peul WC, Schoene ML, Turk DC, van Tulder MW, Ostelo RW. Core outcome domains for clinical trials in non-specific low back pain. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(6):1127–42.
- Correa JB, Costa LO, Oliveira NT, Lima WP, Sluka KA, Liebano RE. Effects of the carrier frequency of interferential current on pain modulation and central hypersensitivity in people with chronic nonspecific low back pain: A randomized placebo–controlled trial. Eur J Pain. 2016;20(10):1653–66.
- de Campos TF. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management NICE Guideline [NG59]. J Physiother. 2017;63(2):120.
- Deyo RA, Walsh NE, Martin DC, Schoenfeld LS, Ramamurthy S. A controlled trial of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) and exercise for chronic low back pain. N Engl J Med. 1990;322(23):1627–34.
- Durmus D, Durmaz Y, Canturk F. Effects of therapeutic ultrasound and electrical stimulation program on pain, trunk muscle strength, disability, walking performance, quality of life, and depression in patients with low back pain: a randomized-controlled trial. Rheumatol Int. 2010;30(7):901–10.
- Elserty N, Kattabei O, Elhafez H. Effect of fixed versus adjusted transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation amplitude on chronic mechanical low back pain. J Altern Complement Med. 2016;22(7):557–62.
- Facci LM, Nowotny JP, Tormem F, Trevisani VF. Effects of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) and interferential currents (IFC) in patients with nonspecific chronic low back pain: randomized clinical trial. Sao Paulo Med J. 2011;129(4):206–16.
- Franca FJR, Callegari B, Ramos LAV, Burke TN, Magalhaes MO, Comachio J, CarvalhoSilva A, Almeida GPL, Marques AP. Motor control training compared with transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation in patients with disc herniation with associated radiculopathy: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2019;98(3):207–14.
- Gibson W, Wand BM, Meads C, Catley MJ, O'Connell NE. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) for chronic pain an overview of Cochrane Reviews. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2019;2:CD011890.
- Higgins JPT, Green S. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011 [updated March 2011]. Version 5.1.0: Available at: www.cochrane-handbook. org. Accessed 30 November 2020.
- Hsieh RL, Lee WC. One-shot percutaneous electrical nerve stimulation vs. transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation for low back pain: comparison of therapeutic effects. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2002;81(11):838–43.
- Hurley DA, McDonough SM, Dempster M, Moore AP, Baxter GD. A randomized clinical trial of manipulative therapy and interferential therapy for acute low back pain. Spine. 2004;29(20):2207–16.
- Hurley DA, Minder PM, McDonough SM, Walsh DM, Moore AP, Baxter DG. Interferential therapy electrode placement technique in acute low back pain: a preliminary investigation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2001;82(4):485–93.

- ICHOM Working Group Members for Low Back Pain. The ICHOM Standard Set for Low Back Pain. Boston, United States of America: International Consortium For Health Outcomes Measurements; 2017 [updated August 24th, 2017]. Version 2.0.3: Available at: https://www.ichom.org/portfolio/lowback-pain/. Accessed 30 November 2020.
- Itoh K, Itoh S, Katsumi Y, Kitakoji H. A pilot study on using acupuncture and transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation to treat chronic non-specific low back pain. Complement Ther Clin Pract. 2009;15(1):22–5.
- Jamison RN, Wan L, Edwards RR, Mei A, Ross EL. Outcome of a high-frequency transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulator (hfTENS) device for low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. Pain Pract. 2019;19(5):466–75.
- Jarzem PF, Harvey EJ, Arcaro N, Kaczorowski J. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation [TENS] for short-term treatment of low back pain-randomized double blind crossover study of sham versus conventional TENS. J Musculoskeletal Pain. 2005;13(2):11–7.
- Kofotolis ND, Vlachopoulos SP, Kellis E. Sequentially allocated clinical trial of rhythmic stabilization exercises and TENS in women with chronic low back pain. Clin Rehabil. 2008;22(2):99–111.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn Reumatoide artritis. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2018. Beschikbaar via: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/ reumatoide-artritis. Accessed 30 November 2020.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn lage rugpijn. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2013. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/lagerugpijn. Accessed 30 November 2020.
- Krammer A, Horton S, Tumilty S. Pulsed electromagnetic energy as an adjunct to physiotherapy for the treatment of acute low back pain: a randomised controlled trial. New Zealand J Physiother. 2015;43(1):16–22.
- Lehmann TR, Russell DW, Spratt KF, Colby H, Liu YK, Fairchild ML, Christensen S. Efficacy of electroacupuncture and TENS in the rehabilitation of chronic low back pain patients. Pain. 1986;26(3):277–90.
- Lin I, Wiles LK, Waller R, Goucke R, Nagree Y, Gibberd M, Straker L, Maher CG, O'Sullivan PPB. Poor overall quality of clinical practice guidelines for musculoskeletal pain: a systematic review. Br J Sports Med. 2018;52(5):337–43.
- Marchand S, Charest J, Li J, Chenard JR, Lavignolle B, Laurencelle L. Is TENS purely a placebo effect? A controlled study on chronic low back pain. Pain. 1993;54(1):99–106.
- Melzack R, Vetere P, Finch L. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation for low back pain. A comparison of TENS and massage for pain and range of motion. Phys Ther. 1983;63(4):489–93.
- Pope MH, Phillips RB, Haugh LD, Hsieh CY, MacDonald L, Haldeman S. A prospective randomized three-week trial of spinal manipulation, transcutaneous muscle stimulation, massage and corset in the treatment of subacute low back pain. Spine. 1994;19(22):2571–7.
- Rajfur J, Pasternok M, Rajfur K, Walewicz K, Fras B, Bolach B, Dymarek R, Rosinczuk J, Halski T, Taradaj J. Efficacy of selected electrical therapies on chronic low back pain: a comparative clinical pilot study. Med Sci Monit. 2017;23:85–100.
- Staal JB, Hlobil H, Twisk JW, Smid T, Koke AJ, van Mechelen W. Graded activity for low back pain in occupational health care: a randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med. 2004;140(2):77–84.
- Tantawy SA, Kamel DM, Abdelbasset WK, Nambi G. A randomized controlled trial investigating the impact of interferential therapy on pain, range of motion and quality of life in patients with chronic non-specific low back pain. Archives of the Balkan Medical Union. 2020;55(1):47–54.

Thompson JW, Bower S, Tyrer SP. A double blind randomised controlled clinical trial on the effect of transcutaneous spinal electroanalgesia (TSE) on low back pain. Eur J Pain. 2008;12(3):371–7.

- Topuz O, Ozfidan E, Ozgen M, Ardic F. Efficacy of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation and percutaneous neuromodulation therapy in chronic low back pain. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil. 2004;17(3-4):127-33.
- Verburg AC, van Dulmen SA, Kiers H, Nijhuis-van der Sanden MWG, van der Wees PJ. Development of a standard set of outcome measures for non-specific low back pain in Dutch primary care physiotherapy practices: a Delphi study. Eur Spine J. 2019.
- Yurdakul OV, Beydogan E, Yilmaz Yalcinkaya E. Effects of physical therapy agents on pain, disability, quality of life, and lumbar paravertebral muscle stiffness via elastography in patients with chronic low back pain. Turk J Phys Med Rehabil. 2019;65(1):30–9.

#### Note C.5 Completion of the treatment

## Literature

See <u>A.1 'Introduction'</u> for information on the systematic search for evidence-based guidelines and systematic reviews.

#### References

- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). Beroepsprofiel fysiotherapeut. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2021.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn fysiotherapeutische dossiervoering 2019. Amersfoort: KNGF: 2019.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn lage rugpijn. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2013. Available at: https://www.kngf.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/lagerugpijn. Accessed 30 November 2020.
- Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie (KNGF). KNGF-richtlijn COPD. Amersfoort: KNGF; 2020. Available at: https://www.kngf2.nl/kennisplatform/richtlijnen/copd-2020. Accessed 30 November 2020.
- Nederlands Huisartsen Genootschap (NHG). Richtlijn Informatie-uitwisseling tussen arts en paramedicus (Richtlijn HASP-paramedicus). Utrecht: NHG; 2020.
- NHG-Werkgroep Standaard Aspecifieke lagerugpijn. NHG-standaard aspecifieke lagerugpijn (tweede herziening). Huisarts Wet. 2017;60(2):78-84.
- Vereniging van Oefentherapeuten Cesar en Mensendieck. Richtlijn Verslaglegging. Utrecht: VvOCM; 2019.

### Colophon

© 2021 Royal Dutch Society for Physical Therapy (Koninklijk Nederlands Genootschap voor Fysiotherapie – KNGF)

Final editing: Tertius – Redactie en organisatie, Houten Creative concept and design: C10 Ontwerp, The Hague

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be copied, stored in an automated database, or publicly disclosed – in any form or in any manner (digitally, mechanically, by photocopying, recording or any other manner) – without prior written consent from the KNGF.

The KNGF aims to create the conditions in which high-quality physiotherapeutic care can be provided that is accessible to the entire Dutch population, whilst recognising the professional expertise of the physical therapist.

The KNGF represents the professional, social and economic interests of over 17,000 registered physical therapists.



# The physical therapists of the Netherlands

Dutch Society for Physical Therapy Association of Cesar and Mensendieck Exercise Therapists